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CAUTIONARY NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forff ward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities
laws, which statements are subju ect to subsu tantial risks and uncertainties and are based on estimates and assumptions. All
statements, other than statements of historical facts, including statements concerning our plans, objectives, goals, strategies,
future events, futff urt e revenues or performance, financing needs, plans or intentions relating to products and markets, and
business trends and other information referff red to under the sections entitled “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Business” are forff ward-looking statements. In some cases, you
can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “objective,” “intend,” “should,” “could,”
“can,” “would,” “expect,” “believe,” “design,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “plan,” “develop”, or the negative of these
terms, and similar expressions intended to identify fff orff ward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not historical
facts, and refleff ct our current views with respect to future events. Given the significant uncertainties, you should not place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements.

There are a number of risks, uncertainties and other facff tors that could cause our actuat l results to differ materially fromff
the forff ward-looking statements expressed or implied in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such risks, uncertainties and other
factors include, among others, the following:

• the timing of the initiation, progress, and expected results of our nonclinical studit es, our clinical trials, and our
research and development programs;

• our ability to enroll patients in our clinical trials;

• the costs related to our nonclinical studit es, our clinical trials and our research and development programs, and the
impact of inflationary pressures on such costs;

• our ability to retain the continued service of our key executives and to identify,ff hire, and retain additional qualifieff d
profesff sionals;

• our ability to advance product candidates into, and successfulff ly complete, nonclinical studit es and clinical trials;

• the timing or likelihood of regulatory frr ilinff gs and appra ovals;

• the commercialization of our producd t candidates, if approved;

• our ability and the potential to successfulff ly manufacff ture and supply our product candidates forff clinical trials and forff
commercial use, if approved;

• the pricing, coverage, and reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved;

• the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, and product candidates;

• the scope of protection we are able to establa ish and maintain for intellectuat l property rights covering our technology
platforms, including our ARC® product candidate and other product candidates, and the defense of such intellectuat l
property rights;

• our potential need to obtain additional licenses of third-party technology that may not be availabla e to us or are
availabla e only on commercially unreasonabla e terms, and which may cause us to operate our business in a more costly
or otherwise adverse manner that was not anticipated;

• our ability to enter into strategic arrangements and/or collabora ations and to realize the potential benefitsff of such
arrangements;

• our ability to contract with third-party suppliers and manufacff turers and their ability to perform adequately;

• our estimates regarding the market opportunity for our product candidates, if approved;

• our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements, and needs forff additional finff ancing and our ability to obtain
additional capital;

• our financial performance; and

• developments relating to our competitors and our industry,rr including competing product candidates and therapies

There may be other factff ors that may cause our actuat l results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements
expressed or implied in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including factors disclosed in “Risk Factors” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” You should evaluate all forward-looking
statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in the context of these risks and uncertainties.



We caution you that the risks, uncertainties, and other factors referff red to abovea and elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K may not contain all of the risks, uncertainties and other factff ors that may affeff ct our future results and operations.
Moreover, new risks will emerge from time to time. It is not possible forff our management to predict all risks. In addition, we
cannot assure you that we will realize the results, benefitsff or developments that we expect or anticipate or, even if subsu tantially
realized, that they will result in the consequences or affeff ct us or our business in the way expected.

Any forff ward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date hereof and not
of any futff urt e date, and we expressly disclaim any intent to update any forff ward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.



Part I.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context requires otherwise, referff ences to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Shattuct k
Labsa ,” “Shattuck,” or the “company” refer to Shattuct k Labs, Inc. Additionally, referff ences to our “Board” referff to the board of
directors of Shattuck Labsa , Inc.
Item 1. Business

Overview

We are an innovative clinical-stage biotechnology company pioneering the development of duad l-sided fusff ion proteins as
an entirely new class of biologic medicine. We have created a novel appra oach to immune modulation by designing biologics
with structurt al characteristics that may not be achievabla e by existing therapea utic modalities, including monoclonal or bispecific
antibodies. Our ARC® platform was designed to simultaneously inhibit checkpoik nt molecules and activate costimulatoryrr
molecules with a single therapea utic as a potential treatment for cancer. We also have at varyirr ng stages of preclinical
development, dual-sided fusff ion proteins, distinct from our Agonist Redirected Checkpoikk nt (“ARC”) platforff m, that have
therapeutic potential in autoimmune and inflaff mmatory drr iseases, among other therapea utic areas.

Our lead product candidate, SL-172154, is designed to simultaneously inhibit the CD47/SIRPα macrophage checkpoikk nt
interaction and activate the CD40 costimulatory receptor to induce an antitumor immune response. Coupling CD40 activation
with CD47 inhibition differentiates SL-172154 from all other clinical-stage CD47/SIRPα inhibitors in development, and in our
published preclinical studies, SL-172154 resulted in superior antitumor immunity as compared to certain CD47/SIRPα
inhibitors. We are pursuing a broad clinical development strategy in both solid and hematologic tumt ors, with multiple ongoing
clinical trials. SL-172154 is in an ongoing Phase 1B clinical trial forff the treatment of patients with ovarian cancer. We are lalso
ev lalua itingg SL-172154 iin an ongoiongoi gng hPhase 1B cliliniic lal triial fl forff hthe treatment of pa itients wi hith certain hematologic malignancies,
including acute myeloid leukemia (“AML”), and higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes (“HR-MDS”). We believe our clinical
development plan may provide both firff st-in-class and best-in-class development opportunities forff SL-172154.

We believe that data shared to date in human cancer patients demonstrate that the unique protein engineering and
physical properties of the ARC platforff m have led to a diffeff rentiated profile in terms of safetff y and on-target immune activation,
demonstrated by unique pharmacodynamic findings, as compared to monoclonal or bispecific antibodies. Further, clinical data
generated with our ARC platforff m has guided our preclinical research effoff rts to furff ther expand our pipeline, and we are
advancing certain potential product candidates through preclinical development. We expect to nominate one or more additional
product candidates to our clinical pipeline in the future, potentially for indications outside of oncology, by selecting product
candidates where there is an expectation of monotherapya effiff cacy and where our scientificff and protein engineering expertise has
led to a product candidate with advantages over current treatment modalities.

In Februarr ry 2024, we announced a strategic collaboration and license agreement (the “Ono Agreement”) with Ono
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Ono”) in which we will lead research and preclinical development of certain compounds selected by
Ono froff m our pipeline of bifuncff tional fusff ion proteins to a pair of prespecified targets forff potential treatment of autoimmune and
inflammatory diseases.

Our Pipeline

Our lead produd ct candidate, SL-172154, is designed to simultaneously inhibit the CD47/SIRPα macrophage checkpoikk nt
interaction and activate the CD40 costimulatory receptor to induce an antitumor immune response. Coupling the costimulatoryrr
effeff ct of CD40 activation with CD47 inhibition diffeff rentiates SL-172154 from other CD47/SIRPα inhibitors in clinical
development. In clinical studit es, we believe that SL-172154 has furff ther differentiated froff m other CD47/SIRPα inhibitors both
in terms of safetff y and tolerabia lity and has demonstrated pharmacodynamic evidence of potent CD40 activation in human cancer
patients.

We are conducting a Phase 1A/B clinical trial in patients with AML and HR-MDS. We completed the Phase 1A dose-
escalation portion of this clinical trial in 2023 and are currently enrolling patients in the Phase 1B expansion cohorts evaluating
SL-172154 in combination with azacitidine in froff ntline HR-MDS or froff ntline TP53 mutant (“TP53m”) AML. In AML patients
without TP53 mutations (“TP53 wild type”, or “TP53wt”), we intend to studyt SL-172154 in combination with azacitidine and
venetoclax. In December 2023, we shared initial data froff m both the HR-MDS and TP53m AML Phase 1B combination cohorts.
In the froff ntline HR-MDS cohort, as of the data cutoff dff ate of December 1, 2023, out of 14 evaluabla e patients, five patients
achieved a complete response (“CR”) and four patients achieved a marrow complete response (“mCR”). In the frontline TP53m
AML cohort, as of the data cutoff date of December 1, 2023, out of 11 evaluable patients, two patients achieved a CR, and
another patient achieved a complete response with incomplete hematologic recovery (“CRi”) and was taken to allogeneic
hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (“allo-HSCT”). As of the cutoff dff ate of December 1, 2023, SL-172154 had an
acceptabla e safetff y and tolerabia lity profileff at 3 mg/kg in combination with azacitidine. Afteff r completing enrollment in the initial
Phase 1B combination expansion cohorts in HR-MDS or TP53m AML patients in 2023, and on the basis of the encouraging
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initial data, we are furff ther expanding both cohorts to generate additional data and to inform our subsu equent clinical trial plans.
We expect to announce additional data froff m the HR-MDS and TP53m AML Phase 1B combination cohorts mid-year 2024.

We are also co dnduc iti gng a Phhase 1B lcliiniic lal triiall evalluatiingg SL-172154 iin pa itients wi hith lplatiinum-re isistant ova irian can rcer
(“PROC”) T. his Phase 1B clinical trial contains two combination expansion cohorts combining SL-172154 with either
pegylated liposomal doxorubir cin (“PLD”), or mirvetuximab sa oravtansine (“mirvetuximab”a or, “Elahere”).

In Nove bmber 3202 w, e announced initial data from our ongoing Phase 1B clinical trial expansion cohort evaluating
SL-172154 in combination with PLD. As of the data cutoff dff ate of October 31, 2023, we had 11 patients evaluable for
response, and we observed one confirff med partial response (“PR”) and two unconfirff med PRs. As of the data cutoff of October
31, 2023, SL-172154 had an acceptabla e safetff y and tolerabia lity profile at 3 mg/kg in combination with PLD.

We expect to announce additional data from the Phase 1B cohort in combination with PLD mid-year 2024 and initial
data from the Phase 1B cohort in combination with mirvetuxit mab ma id-year 2024.

The folff lowing tabla e highlights our clinical-stage pipeline:

In addition to our clinical-stage ARC product candidate, we possess a deep pipeline of preclinical immuno-oncology
compounds. As an example, SL-9258 is designed to inhibit the interaction between TIGIT and its known ligands, including
PVR, PVRL2, PVRL3, and NECTIN-4, while simultaneously activating HVEM and LTβ receptors with two preformed LIGHT
trimers. With the addition of HVEM and LTβ receptor activation, we believe this compound is a highly diffeff rentiated TIGIT
inhibitor. Utilizing a proprietary animal model of PD-1 acquired resistance, SL-9258 demonstrated differentiation fromff
antibody-mediated TIGIT blockade in its ability to overcome checkpoik nt inhibitor acquired resistance.

Our ARC Platform

Our proprietary ARC platforff m has the potential to create therapea utics that can dramatically change the way we treat
cancer and other diseases. We developed the ARC platforff m to address the need for a single therapea utic that consolidates
multiple immune funff ctions. Compounds developed froff m our ARC platforff m simultaneously block immune checkpoikk nt receptors
and activate costimulatory mrr olecules in the tumt or necrosis factor (“TNF”) superfamily.

The funcff tional domains of ARC compounds are derived from native human proteins, rather than antibody binding
domains. This enabla es the rapid generation of new construcr ts, given that the starting template forff distinct ARC compounds is
the human genome. Thereforff e, an ARC compound can be taken froff m the conception stage to a manufactff urt ed purifieff d protein in
approximately six weeks, whereas it can take approximately six months to reach the same stage for an antibody therapeutic
candidate. This rapid reduction in discovery processing time has allowed us to generate more than 400 unique, duad l-sided
fusion proteins.

Strutt cture of ao n ARC Compound

Our proprietary ARC platforff m is designed to overcome the limitations of existing bivalent antibodies. ARC compounds
consolidate checkpoik nt blockade and immune costimulation within a single therapea utic. Additionally, ARC compounds possess
a strucr ture that matches the native strucrr ture of the target receptors and colocalizes both mechanisms of activity within the
immune synapsa e to promote a coordinated immune response. We designed the ARC platforff m as a modular scaffoff ld wherein
three principal components are fused together, comprising a human Type 1 extracellular domain protein, an optimized,
proprietary Fc domain, and a human Type 2 extracellular domain protein. As shown in Figure 1 below, one end of the ARC
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Platform Program Domain 1 Domain 2 Indications Combination
Agents Discovery Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

ARC SL-172154 SIRPα CD40L

PROC Liposomal
Doxorubicin

PROC Mirvetuximab
Soravtansine

TP53m AML Azacitidine

HR-MDS Azacitidine

TP53wt AML1 Azacitidine
+ VenetVV oclax

Domains Stage of Development

1. TP53wt AML cohort has not been initiated
PROC = Platinum-resistant ovarian cancer
AML = Acute myeloid leukemia
HR-MDS = Higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes



compound consists of a checkpoikk nt receptor domain and the opposite end consists of a TNF ligand domain, connected by an
optimized, proprietary srr caffold such as an Fc domain. We designed ARC compounds to self-aff ssemble into a hexameric
structurt e, as shown in Figure 1 below, comprising six distinct checkpoik nt receptor domains and six distinct TNF ligand
domains, which importantly form two trimerized costimulatory lrr igand domains.

Figure 1—Structural Properties of ARC Compounds

The unique dual-sided strucr ture of our ARC compounds allows us to simultaneously and effectively target a wide array
of pathways for the creation of a deep and diffeff rentiated product pipeline. We utilize our understanding of disease pathology
and immune dysfunction to identify pff airings of optimal domains. Initially, our effoff rts are concentrated on three broad target
families: immune checkpoints, TNF superfamily costimulatory rrr eceptors, and cytokines.

We believe that the folff lowing featurt es represent the key advantages offeff red by compounds developed with the ARC
platform:

• Matching native strucrr ture of TNF receptors

• Target specificity, high affinity, and high avidity

• Replacing tumor immune evasion with potent immune stimulation

• Versatility

• Speed from concept to compound to clinic

• Accelerated lead selection process

We believe these collective advantages create the potential for the capital-effiff cient identificff ation and pursuit of
differentiated product candidates.

While many TNF receptor agonist antibodies have been developed and tested in human clinical trials, most have been
discontinued prior to pivotal studt ies dued to toxicity. As shown in Panel A of Figure 2 below, activation of TNF receptors, such
as CD40, and downstream signaling requires the assembly of three receptor molecules (“trimerization”). As shown in Panel B
of Figure 2 below, there is a structurt al mismatch between bivalent antibody therapeutics and trimeric TNF receptors.
Traditional bivalent antibodies can only bind to two TNF receptors and are thus unabla e to individually trimerize a TNF
receptor, leading to weak signaling of TNF pathways. For TNF receptor agonist antibodies to trimerize a TNF receptor,
multiple antibodies must be cross-linked through Fc receptors located on accessory cells. This mechanism becomes less
effeff ctive at increasing antibody doses due to saturation of TNF receptors and Fc receptors independently of each other.
Consequently, there is no free Fc receptor availabla e to cross-link the TNF receptor bound antibody. This effeff ct manifests in
clinical trials as an atypical dose-response relationship, known as a “bell-shaped” dose-response curve, wherein any signs of
immune activation initially increase with dose but then subsu equently decrease at higher doses. As shown in Panel C of Figure 2,
ARCs are designed to self-assemble into two sets of TNF trimers, which induces trimerization of TNF receptor targets and
drives a costimulatory srr ignal.

We believe that the totality of our clinical data generated to date, from multiple ARC-derived product candidates and
across multiple indications, provide strong evidence that our ARC compounds can uniquely activate members of the TNF
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supeu rfamily by addressing certain structurt al properties of these receptors. For example, our clinical data demonstrate that high
levels of receptor occupancy of CD40 are achievabla e with an ARC, and that the “bell shapea d” dose-response curve observed
with antibodies was not seen in humans treated with SL-172154. Instead, we believe that the pharmacodynamic data indicate
that SL-172154 may more effectively activate CD40-dependent pharmacodynamic effeff cts in human cancer patients, in a
manner that allows this pathway to be appra opriately druggerr d and may provide benefit in the treatment of cancer patients.

Figure 2—Antibody Therapies Lead to Ineffiff cient TNF Pathway Activation

Versatilityll of the PlaPP tforff mrr

The moduld arity of our dual-sided fusff ion protein platforms, including our ARC platforff m, facilitates a vast repertoire of
potential duad l-sided fusff ion proteins that can be synthesized and developed. In the human genome, there are more than 1,400
Type 1 membrane proteins, which are characterized by an extracellular amino terminal domain, and more than 450 Type 2
membrane proteins, which are characterized by an extracellular carboxyr terminal domain. ARC compounds are assembled fromff
any combination of Type 1 and Type 2 membrane proteins and, thereforff e, have significant diversity, with more than 630,000
possible combinations. Within this vast set of possible combinations, we have chosen to focus initially on three classes of
targets that have already shown significant clinical relevance forff the treatment of cancer comprising immune checkpoik nts, the
TNF superfamily, and cytokines. We utilize our understanding of disease pathology and immune dysfunction to identifyff
pairings of optimal targets within a single therapea utic.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become the world leader in the discovery, development, and commercialization of duad l-sided, bi-
functional fusff ion proteins forff the treatment of cancer and autoimmune diseases. We plan to achieve this by utilizing our
proprietary ARC platforff m and protein engineering expertise to create novel therapea utics to treat patients who lack effeff ctive
treatment options. Key elements of our strategy include:

• Rapidly advancing our clinical-stage ARC product candidate, SL-172154, through clinical development and marketing
approval

• Leveraging our ARC platforff m to rapidly advance additional product candidates into clinical development

• Applying our clinical learnings from our ARC platforff m in oncology to identify,ff develop, and advance novel fusff ion
protein compounds in autoimmune and inflaff mmatory drr iseases, among other therapea utic areas

• Continuing to augment our fusion protein manufactff urt ing capabilities

• Collabora ating with leading biopharmaceutical companies

• Building on our culture of R&D excellence and continuing to out-innovate ourselves

• Deepening our intellectuat l property portfolff io to continue to protect our platform technologies and product candidates

Our ARC Product Candidate

SL-172154: A Dual CD4CC 7/SI// RPII αPP Blocll kingii and CD4CC 0-Ac- tivatintt g ARC Compound

Overview
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Our lead product candidate, SL-172154, is designed to simultaneously inhibit the CD47/SIRPα macrophage checkpoik nt
interaction and activate the CD40 costimulatory receptor to induce an antitumor immune response. We believe that SL-172154
is a highly diffeff rentiated CD47 inhibitor with potential for both best-in-class and firff st-in-class development opportunities.

We are conducting Phase 1 clinical trials evaluating the administration of SL-172154 in both solid tumors and
hematologic malignancies. As a class, CD47 inhibitors are being developed in combination with other agents that potentiate
phagocytosis and initiate an immune response, such as chemotherapy,a antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (“ADCP”)-
competent antibodies, antibody drugr conjugates, and others.

We see an opportunity for SL-172154 to continue to differentiate from other compounds in the fieff ld due to the combined
effeff cts of CD47 blockade and CD40 costimulation. We believe that our preclinical and initial clinical data from both our Phase
1A and Phase 1B clinical trials in PROC and Phase 1A/B clinical trial in HR-MDS and AML indicate that SL-172154 may
differentiate from other CD47/SIRPα inhibitors in one or more of the folff lowing ways:

• Improved overall response rate dued to CD40-mediated activation of both innate and adapta ive immunity

• Improved response durd ability due to enhanced CD40-mediated activation of adapta ive immunity

• Diffeff rentiated safetff y profile due to the absa ence of dose-limiting toxicities dued to anemia or thrombocytopenia

Acute MyelMM oid Leukemia and Highei r-Riskii Myelodyspyy lastic Syndromes

Clinical Data to Date

In December 2023, we announced initial data froff m the Phase 1B portion of our ongoing Phase 1A/B clinical trial
evaluating SL-172154 in combination with azacitidine in frontline HR-MDS and TP53m AML. As of the data cutoff dff ate of
December 1, 2023, we had enrolled 22 patients with previously untreated HR-MDS. 14 of these patients were evaluable for
response (13 of whom had TP53m or deletion), of which five patients achieved a CR, four patients achieved a mCR (three with
hematologic improvement in at least one lineage), and two patients achieved stabla e disease (“SD”) (both with hematologic
improvement in at least one lineage). Figure 3 below depicts both the interim maximum percent reducd tions in bone marrow
blasts from baseline and the interim best response in individual patients with HR-MDS as of December 1, 2023.

Figure 3 — Interim Response Assessment & Percent Reductions in Bone Marrow Blasts in HR-MDS Patients

As of the data cutoff dff ate of December 1, 2023, we had enrolled 14 patients with previously untreated TP53m AML. 11
of these patients were evaluable for response, and two patients had achieved a CR and another patient achieved a CRi and was
taken to allo-HSCT. Seven additional patients with stable disease had blast reducd tions, fivff e of which had recovery of platelets
or neutrophils and remain on study and their response may improve. Blast count reductions were observed in 100% of these
patients. One patient died during the first cycle. The left panel of Figure 4 below, depicts the kinetics of bone marrow blast
reductions from baseline in individual patients with TP53m AML as of December 1, 2023. The right panel of Figure 4 below
depicts both the interim maximum percent reducd tions in bone marrow blasts froff m baseline and the interim best response in
individual patients with TP53m AML as of December 1, 2023.
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Figure 4 — Kinetics of Bone Marrow Blast Reduction and Interim Response Assessment in TP53 Mutant AML
Patients

As of the data cutoff dff ate of December 1, 2023, SL-172154 had an acceptabla e safetff y and tolerabia lity profileff . Infusff ion-
related reactions (“IRRs”) were the most common SL-172154 related treatment-emergent adverse events (“TEAEs”). In the
HR-MDS and TP53m AML cohorts, IRRs were reported in seven patients (32%) and seven patients (50%) respectively. Grade
3 or 4 adverse events (“AEs”) related to SL-172154 were reported in fourff patients (18%) in HR-MDS and two patients (14%) in
TP53m AML, including; IRR (2), aspartate aminotransferase (“AST”) increased (1), alanine aminotransferase (“ALT”)
increased (1), fatff igue (1), hypoxia (1), pneumonia (1), chondrocalcinosis (1), and febff rile neutropenia (1). There were no reports
of destructive anemia. In the TP53m AML expansion cohort, there was one Grade 5 AE of cardiac arrest reported in one patient
with history orr f coronary artery disease, recent arrhythmia, and hypokalemia in the setting of amiodarone use. In the HR-MDS
cohort, there were no Grade 5 AEs related to SL-172154 reported.

Additionally, in December 2023, in a poster at the American Society forff Hematology annual meeting, we announced
data from the Phase 1A parallel staggered dose escalation trial of SL-172154 as monotherapya and in combination with
azacitidine in primarily relapsa ed/rdd efraff ctory (rr “R/RRR ”) AML and HR-MDS patients. As of the data cut-off date of September 15,
2023, 32 adult patients with R/RRR AML or HR-MDS received SL-172154 as monotherapya or in combination with azacitidine in
the parallel staggered dose-escalation portion of a Phase 1A/B clinical trial. Patients had a median of two prior lines of therapy.
An additional fivff e subjects with frontline TP53m HR-MDS received SL-172154 with azacitidine. We observed a monotherapya
response in a heavily pre-treated R/R AML patient. This patient achieved a morpholr ogic leukemia-free state and subsequently
proceeded to allo-HSCT. Anti-tumt or activity was also observed in combination with azacitidine in previously untreated TP53m
HR-MDS patients. Out of fourff evaluabla e previously untreated TP53m HR-MDS patients, there was one CR and one mCR. Two
patients, one with mCR and one with SD, proceeded to allo-HSCT. Additionally, we observed SL-172154 bound to both
healthy immune cells and myeloid blast cells in bone marrow biopsies collected afteff r intravenous infusion of SL-172154, as
shown in Figure 5 below.

Figure 5 — SL-172154 Binding to Leukemic Blasts, T Cells and Monocytes in Patient Bone Marrow Biopsies
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Clinical Developmo ent StrSS ategy agg nd Upcoming Milestones

We are conducting a Phase 1A/B clinical trial forff SL-172154 in patients with AML and HR-MDS. This ongoing Phase 1
clinical trial will evaluate the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, antitumor activity, and pharmacodynamic effeff cts of
SL-172154, as both monotherapya and in combination with azacitidine. We completed the Phase 1A dose-escalation portion of
this trial and subsu equently completed enrollment in the initial Phase 1B expansion cohorts in combination with azacitidine in
TP53m AML and HR-MDS patients durd ing 2023. The Phase 1A dose-escalation portion of our clinical trial was primarily
conducted in patients with R/RRR AML or HR-MDS, included both monotherapya SL-172154 cohorts and SL-172154 plus
azacitidine combination cohorts, and supporu ted selection of 3 mg/kg as the appra opriate dose to explore in the Phase 1B
expansion cohorts. The initial Phase 1B expansion cohorts were conducted in patients with previously untreated TP53m AML
or HR-MDS, using the 3 mg/kg dose of SL-172154 in combination with azacitidine. Based on the initial safetff y and effiff cacy
profileff , we amended the protocol forff both the TP53m AML and HR-MDS cohorts to add additional patients to strengthen our
confidff ence in the safetff y and effiff cacy profileff and to furff ther inform our future clinical trial plans.

In TP53wt AML, we plan to evaluate SL-172154 in combination with both azacitidine and venetoclax. Azacitidine plus
venetoclax is the standard of care for froff ntline TP53wt AML patients. We believe there may be an opportunity for the addition
of SL-172154 to azacitidine plus venetoclax to diffeff rentiate from the current standard of care.

We expect to announce additional data froff m the Phase 1B expansion cohorts in previously untreated TP53m AML and
HR-MDS, including safety, objective response rates and initial response durd ability mid-year in 2024.

Platinum-Resistant Ovarian CancCC er

Clinical Data to Date

In November 2023, we announced initial data froff m our ongoing Phase 1B combination clinical trial evaluating
SL-172154 in combination with PLD in PROC. As of the data cutoff dff ate of October 31, 2023, we had enrolled 16 patients with
PROC. 11 of these patients were evaluable for efficacy, and we observed one confirff med PR and two unconfirff med PRs. Patients
had a median of 1.5 prior lines of systemic therapy, 88% were resistant to treatment with frontline platinum, 47% had bulky
disease measuring >5 cm, and 56% were pre-treated with bevacizumab.a As of the cutoff dff ate, the patient population treated was
similar to the population enrolled in the Pfizff er-sponsored JAVELIN Ovarian 200 clinical trial (results published in 2021),
wherein PLD monotherapya provided an overall response rate of 4%. Another clinical trial, the Roche-sponsored Aurelia trial
(subgroup analysis published in 2014), provided forff a 7.8% overall response rate forff PLD monotherapy.a Figure 6 below depicts
the interim best percent change in the size of the target lesion, as well as interim best response, in individual patients with
PROC, as of October 31, 2023.

Figure 6 — Interim Response Assessment and Percent Change in Tumor Diameter in PROC Patients Treated with
SL-172154 in Combination with PLD

As of the cutoff dff ate of October 31, 2023, SL-172154 in combination with PLD had an acceptabla e safetff y profile and is
consistent with the safetff y profile of the individual agents. Among the 16 treated patients, the most common SL-172154-related
AEs were IRRs, nausea, fatigue, headache and neutropenia, mostly in Grades 1 or 2. SL-172154-related AEs in Grades 3 or 4
were observed in six patients: anemia (n=2), AST increased (n=2), neutropenia (n=2), ALT increased (n=1), embolism (n=1)
and thrombocytopenia (n=1). SL-172154-related IRRs occurred in fourff patients but were manageable and did not prevent the
completion of dosing or lead to discontinuation. There were no Grade 5 adverse events.
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In June 2023, in a poster presented at the American Society of Clinical Oncology annual meeting, we announced data
from our Phase 1A monotherapya dose escalation clinical trial in PROC As of the data cutoff of January 3, 2023, 27 patients
with PROC had been enrolled, with ovarian (70%), fallopian tubeu (15%) or primary peritoneal (15%) cancer. These patients
had a median of four prior systemic therapies (range two to nine). As of a data cutoff date of January 3, 2023, 10 mg/kg was
defined as the maximum administered dose, and a maximum tolerated dose was not reached.

As of the data cutoff off f January 3, 2023, SL-172154 as monotherapya had an acceptabla e safetff y and tolerabia lity profileff .
We observed a single dose-limiting toxicity of elevated liver enzymes in a single patient at the 10mg/kg dose level. We also
frequently observed infusff ion-related reactions, which were manageable by slowing the rate of infusion and/or by the
administration of certain premedication(s). Grade 3/4 treatment-related AEs in greater than one patient were AST increased
(G3) and lymphopenia (G4), each in 2 patients (7%); all were fulff ly resolved with no dose modifications. There were no fatal
AEs, no AEs that led to drugrr discontinuation and no events of cytokine release syndrome. The freff quency of IRR events
increased with increasing dose, and slowing the rate of infusff ion was utilized for mitigation. Importantly, however, we have not
observed dose-limiting toxicities due to hemolytic anemia, thrombocytopenia or other cytopenias (toxicities which have limited
the development of some CD47 inhibitors). We believe that SL-172154 may have a diffeff rentiated safetff y profile, which may be
due to the lack of an Fc gamma receptor binding Fc domain.

Clinical Developmo ent StrSS ategy agg nd Upcoming Milestones

Ovarian cancer expresses the highest levels of CD47 of any solid tumor and is a tumt or type with a significant infilff tration
of macrophages, which express CD40. We believe this makes ovarian cancer particularly well-suited to the investigation of
SL-172154. We are conducting a Phase 1 clinical trial of SL-172154 administered intravenously in patients with advanced
ovarian, falff lopian tubeu , and primary peritoneal cancers, collectively referff red to as ovarian cancer. Patients that are eligible for
this trial have relapsa ed afteff r standard-of-care therapia es and are ineligible for furff ther platinum-based therapies. The primary
objective of this trial is to assess the safetff y and tolerabia lity of SL-172154. The secondary objectives include evaluation of the
pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profileff s and the antitumor activity of SL-172154.

We completed the Phase 1A monotherapya dose-escalation clinical trial in patients with PROC in 2023. In this clinical
trial, we reached a maximum administered dose of 10 mg/kg. We did not reach a maximum tolerated dose. Also in 2023, we
completed initial enrollment to the Phase 1B dose-expansion portion of our clinical trial in PROC evaluating SL-172154 in
combination with PLD. We have selected a starting dose of 3 mg/kg of SL-172154 in this trial. Our protocol allows for furff ther
dose escalation in the combination, if warranted. PLD is a standard-of-care chemotherapy forff this patient population. According
to the literature, PLD upregulates calreticulin, an endogenous “eat me” signal, on the surface of tumor cells. Consequently, we
believe that PLD is an attractive combination partner due to upregulation of calreticulin and induction of immunogenic cell
death. In in vivo preclinical studies, we observed improved anti-tumor activity with the combination of PLD and SL-172154
compared to PLD alone or SL-172154 alone. Furthermore, because the overall response rate of this patient population to PLD is
approximately 4-8%, there is significant opportunity for improved response rates in combination with SL-172154, wherein we
believe the contribution of SL-172154 will be discernible.

In addition to our combination strategy of SL-172154 in combination with PLD, we are evaluating SL-172154 in a Phase
1B combination dose-escalation and dose-expansion clinical trial in PROC in combination with mirvetuximab sa oravtansine,
marketed by AbbVie, Inc (“AbbVie”) as Elahere. Mirvetuxit mab sa oravtansine is an antibody-drugr conjugate (“ADC”) targeting
folate receptor alpha (“FRα”) which provides forff both direct tumt or cell killing as well as enhanced macrophage phagocytosis
through binding with Fc gamma receptors, and has received accelerated approval forff PROC patients whose tumt ors are shown to
be FRα positive, definff ed as ≥75%, as determined by the VENTANAA FOLR1 (FOLR1-2.1) Assay, using the PS2+ scoring
method. Pre-clinical studit es have shown that both of these mechanisms may be complementary to the mechanism of SL-172154
by enhancing the activity of macrophages to phagocytose FRα- expressing ovarian cancer cells, and that SL-172154 may
broaden the activity of mirvetuxit mab sa oravtansine, particularly for patients with tumors that express lower levels of FRα.

We intend to enroll patients with broader FRα expression, including those with “high” (greater than ≥75% of tumor cells
staining with 2+ intensity), “medium” (≥50% to <75% of tumor cells staining with 2+ intensity), and “low” (≥25% to <50% of
tumor cells staining with 2+ intensity) expression of FRα, as determined by the VENTANAAA FOLR1 (FOLR1-2.1) Assay, using
the PS2+ scoring method. Based on our preclinical data, we believe that the addition of SL-172154 to mirvetuximaba
soravtansine will increase responses rates in the “medium” and “low” expressors of FRα and/or potentially provide a more
durable response across the entire spectrum of FRα expressors.

We expect to announce data forff both the PLD and mirvetuximab sa oravtansine combination trials in 2024. We expect to
announce data, including topline overall response rate and an initial look at duration of response, from the Phase 1B
combination clinical trial with PLD mid-year 2024. We also expect to announce initial data froff m the Phase 1B combination
clinical trial with mirvetuximab sa oravtansine mid-year 2024.
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SL-172154 Preclinical Expex rience

Our lead product candidate, SL-172154, simultaneously inhibits CD47 and activates the CD40 receptor. The pairing of a
CD40 agonist domain to a CD47 inhibitory domain was selected based on prior publications which demonstrated that tumor
rejee ction in the setting of CD47 inhibition was dependent upon a T cell mediated adapta ive immune response. Agents which only
block the interaction between CD47 and SIRPα do not directly activate T cell mediated adapta ive immunity, but instead function
to enable macrophage mediated phagocytosis of tumor cells. Antigen presenting cells, including macrophages, express CD40.
Stimulation of CD40 on antigen presenting cells is known to improve the efficiency of antigen presentation and activation of T
cell mediated adapta ive immunity, including antitumor immunity.

To date, we have conducted extensive preclinical studit es of SL-172154 that have demonstrated the folff lowing:

• Specific binding to CD47 and CD40 with high picomolar affinff ity

• A significant increase in macrophage-mediated phagocytosis of tumor cells

• Durable receptor occupau ncy to CD47 expressing cells

• Dose-dependent CD40-mediated pharmacodynamic activity

• The activation of antigen presenting cells by a CD40-induced type I interferon response

• Dose-dependent increases in multiple anti-cancer cytokines in both non-human primates and by human lymphocytes

• Dose-dependent activation of a CD8 positive T cell response, which was responsible for tumt or cell killing

• Superior tumor rejection as compared to CD47 inhibitory antibodies, CD40 agonist antibodies, or the combination
thereof, in mouse tumt or models

Taken together, we believe these data demonstrate the potential abia lity of SL-172154 to activate and bridge the adapta ive
and innate immune responses.

We perforff med standard in vitro tumor cell phagocytosis assays to demonstrate whether SL-172154 enhanced
macrophage-mediated phagocytosis of various tumor cell lines, both alone and in combination with tumor-targeted ADCP-
competent antibodies. As shown in Figure 7 below, consistent with the mechanism of action of CD47 blocking agents,
SL-172154 significantly enhanced the abia lity of macrophages to phagocytose tumt or cells in the presence of tumt or-targeted
ADCP-competent antibodies. Additionally, SL-172154 potentiated macrophage-mediated phagocytosis of tumor cells that
expressed calreticulin, a well-established “eat me” signal expressed on the surface of cells marked for phagocytosis.

Figure 7 — Tumor Phagocytosis Activity of SIRPα-Fc-CD40L with or without ADCP-competent Antibodies

Human monocytc e derdd ived macrophages were co-cultured with HCC1954, A431, HCC827, or Caov-3 cells in the
presence of an IgG negative control, Sl L-SS 172154, an ADCP-compem tent tumor-targeted antibody, iyy ncluding Trastuzumab or
Cetuxiuu mab, or the combination of So L-SS 172154 and the ADCP-CC competent tumor-targer ted antibody. AfteA r twott hours,rr the
proportion of tumor cells phagocytc osed by human macrophages was determined and repore ted as thett phagocytc osis index.ee

We also performed standard in vitro tumor cell phagocytosis assays to demonstrate whether SL-172154 enhanced
macrophage-mediated phagocytosis across a range of tumor cells expressing varying levels of FRα expression, both alone and
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in combination with mirvetuximab sa oravtansine, an ADC composed of a FRα-binding antibody, cleavable linker, and the
maytansinoid payload DM4, a potent tubult in-targeting agent, designed to kill the targeted cancer cells. As shown in Figure 8
below, consistent with the mechanism of action of CD47 blocking agents, SL-172154 significantly enhanced the abia lity of
macrophages to phagocytose tumt or cells in the presence of mirvetuximab sa oravtansine.

Figure 8 — In Vitro Tumor Phagocytosis Activity of SIRPα-Fc-CD40L with or without Mirvetuximab
Soravtansine

Ovarian cancer cells KB, IGRII OV1,VV or MES-EE OV, tVV hattt exprx ess varyir ng levels oll f co ell surfar ce FRα were cultured with
human monocytc e derdd ived macrophages in thett presence of a vehicle contrott l, SL-172154, mirvetuximab soravtansine, or the
combination of So L-SS 172154 and mirvetuximab soravtansine. Afteff r tret atmett nt, tt hett proportion of to umor cells phagocytc osed by
human macrophages was determined and repore ted as thett phagocytc osis index.ee

Preclinical Research and Developmo ent

Our faciff lity in Durham, North Carolina, houses our research labora atory arr s well as our technical operations group. This
includes both expertise and infrastructurt e to advance novel biologics from discovery to cell line development, analytical and
process development, and into production in our manufacff turing pilot plant facility. These internal capabilities have enabla ed
development of additional potential product candidates froff m our ARC platforff m in oncology indications. Further, these
capabilities have led to collabora ations with outside institutions, such as our studit es to understand mechanisms of acquired
resistance to checkpoint inhibitors with Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, Cancer Research UK, and Astra Zeneca,
which were published in Cancer Cell in January 2024. In addition, we have produced and studied multiple dual-sided fusff ion
proteins for non-oncology indications, including dual-sided TNFR2-Fc, CTLA4-Fc and GLP1-Fc fusion proteins. Another
collabora ation with Moderna was published in Cancer Research in Februar ry 2024, wherein the feasibility of delivering certain
dual-sided fusff ion proteins as lipid-encapsulated mRNA was studit ed. This work has informed our internal plans forff advancing
certain dual-sided fusff ion proteins in non-oncology indications, wherein mRNA/RR LNP based delivery mrr ethods may provide
pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic and pharmacoeconomic advantages in comparison to traditional, intravenous delivery orr f
recombinant proteins forff chronic, non-lethal diseases. Finally, the ARC platforff m was generated based on the goal of linking an
immune checkpoint inhibitor to a TNF superfamily ligand. This expertise in TNF ligand and receptor biology has provided a
basis to develop other potential product candidates to inhibit certain TNF receptors, including TNFRSF25.

Collaboration and License Agreements

Stratt tegie c ColCC lall boratiott n and Option Agreement with Ott no Pharmarr ceutical Co., Ltd.tt

On Februarr ry 9, 2024, we entered into the Ono Agreement, effeff ctive February 1rr 3, 2024, pursuant to which we and Ono
will collaborate in the research and preclinical development of certain prespecified compounds directed toward a pair of targets
selected by Ono froff m our pipeline of bifunctional fusff ion proteins (the “Development Compounds”). We are primarily
responsible for carrying out the research activities in accordance with a mutuat lly agreed upon research plan (the “Research
Plan”), subject to the oversight of a joint research committee consisting of representatives from both parties. Pursuant to the
Ono Agreement, we granted to Ono an exclusive option (the “Option”) to obtain an exclusive, sublicensabla e license to research,
develop, manufacff ture and commercialize multiple products resulting froff m the Development Compounds in any therapea utic area
worldwide. The option period will extend from the effeff ctive date of the Ono Agreement until 90 days afteff r we deliver our final
report pursuant to the Research Plan, and following any exercise of the Option, Ono will be responsible for furff ther development
and commercialization of the Development Compounds.
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In connection with entering into the Ono Agreement and conducting the Research Plan, we are entitled to receive up to
$9 million consisting of an initial upfroff nt payment and additional amounts payable upon the achievement of certain milestones
specified in the Research Plan. Additionally, Ono has agreed to pay for all of our costs and expenses incurred in conducting the
Research Plan.

In the event Ono exercises the Option forff the Development Compounds, we are entitled to receive licensing, clinical and
regulatory,rr and commercial milestone payments of up to $217.5 million uponu the exercise of the Option, the achievement of
certain specified clinical and regulatory mrr ilestones and commercial milestones and, in addition, a tiered percentage royalty on
global net sales ranging from mid-single digits to low double digits. Royalties are payabla e by Ono on a licensed product-by-
licensed product and country-by-country basis forff a maximum of ten years after the firff st commercial sale of such licensed
product in such country.

The Ono Agreement may be terminated by mutual agreement of both parties or by either us or Ono uponu an uncured
material breach of the Ono Agreement or the insolvency of the other party. Ono may terminate the Ono Agreement at any time
upon 90 days’ written notice to us. If Ono exercises such termination right, Ono will pay all of our costs up tu hrough the date of
termination. In addition, afteff r the conditions to exercise the Option have been met, we may terminate the Ono Agreement if
Ono discontinues its development or commercialization effoff rts and other conditions are met.

The forff egoing description of the Ono Agreement does not purporr t to be complete and is qualifieff d in its entirety by
reference to the Ono Agreement. We intend to fileff the Ono Agreement as an exhibit to its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff
the quarter ended March 31, 2024.

Clinll ical Trial ColCC lall boratiott n and Supplpp y All greement with Itt mmuII noGen

On Februarr ry 4, 2022, we entered into a Clinical Trial Collabora ation and Supplu y Agreement (“the Clinical Trial
Collabora ation Agreement”), with ImmunoGen, Inc. (“ImmunoGen”). Pursuant to the Clinical Trial Collabora ation Agreement,
ImmunoGen will supplu y us with a sufficient quantity of mirvetuxit mab sa oravtansine forff use in our Phase 1B combination cohort
evaluating SL-172154 in combination with mirvetuximab sa oravtansine in patients with PROC,(the “Study”t ). We will bear all
other costs associated with the conduct of the Study,t except that ImmunoGen will reimburse us for $2.0 million of the costs we
incur. We have sole authority over the design, conduct, and control of the Study.t We will provide ImmunoGen with a finff al
studyt report (the “Final Studyt Report”), relating to the Studyt promptly following completion thereof.ff

Unless sooner terminated, the term of the Clinical Trial Collabora ation Agreement continues until the delivery orr f the Final
Studyt Report. We may terminate earlier uponu 60 days’ written notice forff any reason; provided, that if the Study is underway at
the time of such notice, such termination will only be effective 60 days folff lowing the parties’ mutual agreement on a written
plan for the winddown or termination of the Study.t ImmunoGen may terminate earlier if it believes, in good faith, that
mirvetuximab sa oravtansine is being used in the Study in an unsafe mff anner or that the Studyt may unreasonabla y affect patient
safety. In addition, either party may terminate the agreement dued to a material breach by the other party (subju ect to a cure
period), if either party determines in good faith, based on a review of the clinical data or other inforff mation, that the Study poses
imminent danger to patients, if a regulatory arr uthority takes any action that causes it to be unreasonabla e forff , or otherwise
prevents, the terminating party from supplu ying its compound for the Study,t or if a party withdraws any applicable regulatoryrr
approval forff its compound or discontinues development of its compound for any reason.

In Februar ry 2024, ImmunoGen was acquired by AbbVie.

Kopfo kiff noii License Agreement

We are party to an Exclusive License Agreement (as amended, “the Kopfkiff no License Agreement”), with Kopfkiff no IP,
LLC (“Kopfkiff no”). Pursuant to the Kopfkiff no License Agreement, we have (1) a worldwide, sublu icensabla e exclusive license to
research, develop, manufacff ture, and commercialize products under three provisional patent appla ications, including all patents
issuing froff m such appla ications (the “Fusion Protein Patent Rights”) and (2) a worldwide, sublu icensabla e nonexclusive license to
research, develop, manufacff ture, and commercialize certain know-how related to the Fusion Protein Patent Rights. We originally
entered into the Kopfkiff no License Agreement in June 2016 with Scorpirr us Holdings, Inc. (“Scorpius”) (f/k/a Nighthawk
Biosciences, Inc. f/kff /akk Heat Biologics Inc.). The Kopfkiff no License Agreement was subsu equently amended in November 2016,
December 2016, and March 2017. In January 2024, Scorpirr us assigned its right, title and interest in and under the Kopfkiff no
License Agreement, along with the underlying patents and patent applications, to Kopfkiff no.

Under the Kopfkiff no License Agreement, Scorpir us was required to conduct certain research and development services
under a mutually-agreed uponu research and development plan and Scorpir us was eligible to receive financial support froff m us forff
these efforff ts. Effective March 2017, Scorpir us completed all research and development services under the Kopfkiff no License
Agreement and assigned to us three patent applications and all data derived froff m the research and development activities,
referred to collectively as the Research Services Inventions. Pursuant to the terms of the Kopfkiff no License Agreement, we are
obligated to use commercially reasonabla e efforts to diligently research and develop at least one product covered by the Fusion
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Protein Patent Rights, including the obligation to fileff an Investigational New Drugr (“IND”) appla ication forff such product. Our
development efforff ts to date, including the development of SL-279252 and certain other ARC compounds, satisfy these
obligations. In addition, we are to provide annual reports to Kopfkiff no on or before the anniversary orr f the effeff ctive date of the
Kopfkiff no License Agreement to inforff m Kopfkiff no of our progress.

Unless sooner terminated or extended, the term of the Kopfkiff no License Agreement continues until the later of (1) 20
years folff lowing the effective date, and (2) the expiration of the last-to-expire royalty term. Either party may terminate the
agreement dued to a material breach by the other party (subju ect to a 90-day cure period) or if the other party fileff s forff bankruptrr cy.
In the event we terminate the Kopfkiff no License Agreement dued to a material breach by Kopfkiff no, Kopfkiff no must assign to us
all right, title, and interest in the patent rights licensed under the Kopfkiff no License Agreement.

In addition to an upfroff nt payment of $50,000, which we made in 2016, and a payment of $100,000 upon the successfulff
completion of the first Phase 1 clinical trial, which we made in 2023, the Kopfkiff no License Agreement requires us to make
further payments to Kopfkiff no in the futff urt e of up tu o $20.5 million in the aggregate forff the achievement of specifieff d
development, regulatory, and commercial sale milestones forff certain licensed products. We are also required to pay Kopfkiff no a
percentage of certain upfroff nt fees or other non-royalty payments that are not tied to milestone events which we receive in
connection with certain sublicenses of the Fusion Protein Patent Rights. We are also required to pay Kopfkiff no a royalty on all
worldwide net sales by us, our affiff liates, and sublicenses of certain licensed products in the low single digits. Royalties are
payabla e, on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis, commencing on the first commercial sale of such product and
continuing until the last-to-expire valid patent claim to the licensed patent rights that cover such product in that country.

Manufacff turing and Supply

By working with third-party vendors to conduct activities in compliance with current Good Manufactff urt ing Practices
(“cGMP”) we have invested significff ant resources to identify and scale up au suitabla e manufactff urt ing process forff our product
candidates and ARC compounds, including SL-172154. Currently, ARC compounds are produced by mammalian cell lines
commonly used in the manufacff ture of monoclonal antibodies, including Chinese hamster ovary (“CHO”) cells. SL-172154 has
achieved cell culture titer greater than four grams per liter, and another ARC compound has achieved titers exceeding seven
grams per liter. Purification of ARC compounds initially utilizes affinity chromatography directed to the Fc domain forff capta urt e,
and subsequent chromatography steps are designed to remove process-related impurities including CHO derived DNA and
proteins.

To date, we have manufacff tured bulk drug substance (“BDS”) for our product candidates utilizing the services of a
limited number of third-party contract manufactff urt ers, with whom we maintain master service agreements, pursuant to which we
may manufactff urt e BDS on a per project basis. We may terminate the master services agreements at any time for convenience in
accordance with the terms of the agreement. These contract manufactff urt ers, or we, may also terminate the master services
agreements with respect to an uncured breach by the other party in accordance with the terms of the agreement. These
agreements include confidff entiality and intellectuat l property provisions to protect our proprietary rights related to our product
candidates.

Given the complexity of manufactff urt ing our dual-sided, bi-functional fusff ion proteins and our increased need for
manufactff urt ing driven by multiple clinical trial programs, we work to ensure that we have arrangements with multiple contract
manufactff urt ers to reducd e the risk of single-source procurement of BDS. Additionally, in 2022, we completed the build out of an
in-house faciff lity to supporu t our cell line development, manufacff turing process development, analytical assay development, and
non-GMP manufactff urt ing activities.

We expect to continue to devote significant resources to process development and optimization of the manufacff ture of our
product candidates. We believe that we have developed a manufacff turing process forff SL-172154 suitabla e forff Phase 3 clinical
trials and forff supplu y of commercial drug product. A cGMP batch has not yet been initiated or completed using this improved
process, however we expect that tech transferff of the manufactff urt ing process and validation of a series of analytical methods
required forff release of drug substance and drugrr product to support Phase 3 clinical trials will be completed over the course of
2024 and into 2025. To our knowledge, no other company has successfulff ly scaled up commercial manufactff urt ing of duad l-sided,
bi-funcff tional fusff ion proteins. Due to the novelty of our product candidates, we may faceff challenges in developing large-scale
manufactff urt ing processes. Moreover, the naturt e of biologic medicines could create challenges forff the stabia lity of the drug
subsu tance. While these and other challenges may result in timeline delays and higher costs, we believe that we will have
sufficient BDS to supporu t our current clinical trial programs.

All of our product candidates are manufactff urt ed from a master cell bank of that protein’s production cell line. We have or
intend to have one master cell bank for each product candidate that was or will be produced and tested in accordance with
cGMP and appla icable regulations. Each master cell bank is or will be stored in two independent locations, and we intend to
produce working cell banks for each product candidate later in product development. It is possible that we could lose multiple
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cell banks from multiple locations and have our manufacff turing severely impacted by the need to replace the cell banks.
However, we believe we have adequate backupkk should any particular cell bank be lost in a catastrophic event.

Competition

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are characterized by rapia dly advancing technologies, intense
competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. While we believe that our technology, development experience and
scientificff knowledge provide us with competitive advantages, we faceff potential competition froff m many diffeff rent sources,
including large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions, government agencies and other public and
private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establa ish collabora ative arrangements forff the
research, development, manufacff turing, and commercialization of cancer therapies. Any product candidates that we successfulff ly
develop and commercialize will compete with existing therapies and new therapia es that may become availabla e in the future.

We compete in the segments of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and other related markets that develop cancer
therapies. There are many other companies that have commercialized or are developing cancer therapies, including large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, such as AstraZeneca/MedImmune, Bristol Myers Squibb, Merck, Novartis,
Pfizff er, Roche/Genentech and Gilead.

We face significant competition froff m pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that target specific tumt or-associated
antigens using immune cells or other cytotoxic modalities. These generally include immune cell redirecting therapea utics (e.g., T
cell engagers), adoptive cellular therapia es (e.g., CAR-Ts), antibody drugrr conjugates, targeted radiopharmaceuticals, targeted
immunotoxin, and targeted cancer vaccines.

With respect to our lead product candidate, SL-172154, we are aware of other competing clinical-stage therapeutics that
target the CD47 pathway or the CD40 pathway, which include, but are not limited to magrolimab,a evorpar cept, lemzoparlimab
TTI-621, TTI-622, DSP107, and APX005M. It is possible that the competitive landscape forff CD47 inhibitors may change over
the course of 2024 as the sponsors of these compounds are no longer providing guidance to potential appra ovals, including
magrolimab,a TTI-621 and TTI-622.

Many of the companies against which we are competing or against which we may compete in the future have
significantly greater finff ancial resources and expertise in research and development, manufactff urt ing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory arr ppra ovals and marketing appra oved drugs than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in
the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and diagnostic industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a
smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly
through collabora ative arrangements with large and establa ished companies. These competitors also compete with us in recruir ting
and retaining qualififf ed scientificff and management personnel, establa ishing clinical trial sites and manufactff urt ing capacity and
enrolling subjects for our clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary trr o, or necessary for, our programs.

We could see a reducd tion or elimination of our commercial opportunity if our competitors develop and commercialize
products that are saferff , more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than
any products that we or our collabora ators may develop. Our competitors also may obtain U.S. Federal Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) or foreign regulatory arr ppra oval forff their products more rapia dly than we may obtain appra oval forff ours,
which could result in our competitors establa ishing a strong market position beforff e we or our collabora ators are able to enter the
market. The key competitive facff tors affeff cting the success of all our product candidates, if approved, are likely to be their
effiff cacy, safetff y, convenience, price, the effectiveness of companion diagnostics, if required, the level of biosimilar or generic
competition, and the availabia lity of reimbursement from government and other third-party payors.

Intellectual Property

We strive to protect and enhance our proprietary technology, inventions, and improvements that we consider
commercially important to the development of our business, including by seeking, maintaining, and defenff ding U.S. and forff eign
patent rights, including patents covering our platform technologies, product candidates, and methods of using the same, whether
developed internally or licensed froff m third parties. We also rely on trade secrets, know-how, and continuing technological
innovation to develop, strengthen and maintain our proprietary position in our field. Additionally, we intend to rely on
regulatory prr rotection afforded through data exclusivity and market exclusivity, among others, as well as patent term extensions,
where availabla e.

Our futff urt e commercial success depends, in part, on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietaryrr
protection forff commercially important technology, inventions, and know-how related to our business, including our platform
technologies and product candidates, defend and enforff ce our intellectuat l property rights, in particular our patents rights,
preserve the confidff entiality of our trade secrets, and operate without infringing, misappropriating, or violating the valid and
enforceable patents and proprietary rights of third parties. Our abia lity to stop third parties froff m making, using, selling, offeff ring
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to sell, or importing our products may depend on the extent to which we have rights under valid and enforff ceable patents or
trade secrets that cover these activities.

The patent positions of biotechnology companies like ours are generally uncertain and can involve complex legal,
scientificff , and factuat l issues. We cannot predict whether the patent appla ications we are currently pursuing, or those we will filff e
or license from others, will grant us patents in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any granted patents will
provide sufficff ient proprietary protection froff m competitors.

In addition, the coverage claimed in a patent application may be significantly reduced before a patent is granted, and its
scope can be reinterprrr eted and even challenged after issuance. As a result, we cannot guarantee that any of our products will be
protected or remain protectable by enforceable patents. Moreover, any patents that we hold may be challenged, circumvented,
or invalidated by third parties. In addition, because of the extensive time required forff clinical development and regulatoryrr
review of a product candidate we may develop, it is possible that, before any of our product candidates can be commercialized,
any related patent may expire or remain in force forff only a short period folff lowing commercialization, thereby limiting the
protection such patent would afford the respective product and any competitive advantage such patent may provide. See “Risk
Factors—Risks Related to Intellectuat l Property and Information Technology” for a more comprehensive description of risks
related to our intellectuat l property.

For any individud al patent, the term depends on the appla icable law in the country in which the patent is granted. In most
countries where we have filed patent appla ications or in-licensed patents and patent appla ications, patents have a term of 20 years
from the application filff ing date or earliest claimed nonprovisional priority date. In the United States, the patent term is 20 years
from the application filff ing date or earliest claimed nonprovisional priority date, but may be shortened if a patent is terminally
disclaimed over another patent that expires earlier. The term of a U.S. patent may also be lengthened by a Patent Term
Adjud stment in order to address administrative delays by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Offiff ce (“U.S. PTO”) in granting a
patent.

In the United States, the term of a patent that covers an FDA-approved drug or biologic may be eligible for Patent Term
Extension in order to restore the period of a patent term lost durd ing the premarket FDA regulatory rrr eview process. The Drug
Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Act”) permits a Patent Term Extension of up
to five years beyond the naturt al expiration of the patent (but the total patent term, including the extension period, must not
exceed 14 years folff lowing FDA appra oval). The term extension period granted on a patent covering a product is typically one-
half the time between the effeff ctive date of a clinical investigation involving human beings is begun and the submu ission date of
an application, plus the time between the submission date of an application and the ultimate approval date. Only one patent
applicable to an approved product is eligible for the extension, and only those claims covering the appra oved product, a method
for using it, or a method for manufactff urt ing it may be extended. The appla ication forff the extension must be submu itted prior to the
expiration of the patent. The U.S. PTO reviews and approves the application forff any Patent Term Extension in consultation with
the FDA. In the futff ut re, we may decide to apply forff restoration of patent term forff one of our currently owned or licensed patents
to extend its current expiration date, depending on the expected length of the clinical trials and other factors involved in the
filing of the relevant biologics license application.

Intellectuat l property related to our most advanced programs is summarized below. We generally file patent applications
directed to our key technologies and programs in an effort to secure our intellectuat l property positions. As of February 1rr , 2024,
we own or exclusively license (i) more than 25 patents and more than 20 pending non-provisional patent appla ications in the
United States and (ii) 20 patents and more than 150 pending patent applications in jurisdictions outside of the United States. We
also own additional pending provisional patent appa lications in the United States and pending international patent appla ications
filed under the Patent Cooperation Treaty (“PCT”). Patent prosecution is a lengthy process, during which the scope of the
claims initially submu itted for examination by the U.S. PTO and other patent offices may be significantly revised beforeff
issuance, if granted at all.

SL-172154 Product Candiddd atdd ett

As of Februarr ry 1, 2024, we own or exclusively license (i) 6 patents and 6 pending non-provisional patent appla ications in
the United States and (ii) 11 patents and more than 25 pending patent applications in jurisdictions outside of the United States
(including, among others, Australia, Canada, China, Europe, and Japaa n) that relate to SL-172154.

These patents and appla ications originate froff m several different patent families. Patents granted in a famff ily generally
directed to compositions and methods of treating cancer are expected to expire in the United States in 2036, without taking
potential patent term extension or patent term adjud stment into account. Patents granted in other families, generally directed to
methods of treating cancer with various combination agents, are expected to expire in the United States in 2038, 2039, and
2042, depending on the famff ily and without taking potential term extension or patent term adjud stment into account. The terms of
individual patents granted in jurisdictions outside of the United States depends on the legal term for patents in those
jurisdictions.
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ARC Platll fott rm

As of Februarr ry 1, 2024, we own or exclusively license (i) more than 20 patents and 15 pending non-provisional patent
applications in the United States and (ii) 11 patents and more than 125 pending patent applications in jurisdictions outside of the
United States (including, among others, Australia, Canada, China, Europe, and Japaa n) that relate to the ARC platform. These
include patents and/odd r patent appla ications related to SL-172154 and other ARC compounds combining TIM3, PD-1, SIRPα,
TIGIT, CSF1R, VSIG8, or FLT3L with OX40, CD40L, 4-1BBL, or LIGHT.

These patents and appla ications originate froff m several different patent families. Patents granted in families generally
directed to compositions and methods of treating cancer are expected to expire in the United States in 2036, 2038, 2039, 2040,
and 2042, depending on the famff ily and without taking potential patent term extension or patent term adjud stment into account.
Patents granted in other famff ilies, generally directed to methods of treating cancer with various combination agents, are expected
to expire in the United States in 2038, 2039, and 2040, depending on the famff ily and without taking potential patent term
extension or patent term adjustment into account. The terms of individual patents granted in jurisdictions outside of the United
States depends on the legal term for patents in those jurisdictions.

Trademark Protecttt iott n

As of Februarr ry 1, 2024, we own a registered trademark forff “ARC” with the U.S. PTO. We plan to register trademarks in
connection with our biological products.

Licensed IntII eltt lell ctual ProPP peo rty ftt roff m KopfKK kiff noii IP, LPP LC

We are party to the Kopfkiff no License Agreement, with Kopfkiff no. Under the Kopfkiff no License Agreement, we have an
exclusive (as to the patent rights), non-transferff able, sublicensabla e, worldwide, royalty-bearing, non-field restricted license to
certain patent rights and know-how, including rights related to the ARC platform. We are obligated to pay Kopfkiff no fees upon
receipt of certain sublu icensing income, achievement of certain milestones, and royalties uponu sales of commercial products. The
Kopfkiff no license provides us rights in the patent family including PCT/US16/54598. As of Februar ry 1, 2024, that family
includes (i) 11 patents and 1 pending non-provisional patent appla ications in the United States, and (ii) 11 patents and more than
25 pending applications in jurisdictions outside of the United States (including, among others, Australia, Canada, China,
Europe, and Japaa n). We control prosecution, maintenance, and enforff cement of this famff ily of patents and patent applications.
We originally entered into the Kopfkiff no License Agreement in June 2016 with Scorpir us. The agreement was subsu equently
amended in November 2016, December 2016, and March 2017. In January 2024, Scorpir us assigned its right, title, and interest
in and under the Kopfkiff no License Agreement, along with the underlying patents and patent applications, to Kopfkiff no.

Government Regulation

The FDA and other regulatory arr uthorities at fedff eral, state and local levels, as well as in forff eign countries, extensively
regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufactff urt e, quality control, import, export, safety,
effeff ctiveness, labea ling, packaging, storage, distribution, record keeping, approval, advertising, promotion, marketing, post-
approval monitoring and post-approval reporting of biologics such as those we are developing. We, along with third-party
contractors, will be required to navigate the various preclinical, clinical and commercial appra oval requirements of the governing
regulatory arr gencies of the countries in which we wish to conduct studies or seek approval or licensure of our product
candidates.

U.S. Biologill cs Regue lation

In the United States, biological products are subject to regulation under the Federal Food, Drug,r and Cosmetic Act
(“FDCA”), the Publu ic Health Service Act (“PHSA”) and other federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations. The
process required by the FDA beforff e biologic product candidates may be marketed in the United States generally involves the
following:

• completion of preclinical labora atory trr ests and animal studies performed in accordance with the FDA’s current Good
Labora atory Prr ractices (“GLP”) regulation;

• submission to the FDA of an IND, which must become effeff ctive beforff e clinical trials may begin and must be updau ted
annually or when significant changes are made;

• appra oval by an independent institutional review board (“IRB”) or ethics committee at each clinical site before the trial
is commenced;

• manufactff urt e of the proposed biologic candidate in accordance with cGMPs;

• performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with good clinical practice (“GCP”)
requirements to establish the safety, purity and potency of the proposed biologic product candidate for its intended
purposrr e;
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• preparation of and submu ission to the FDA of a biologics license appla ication (“BLA”) afteff r completion of all pivotal
clinical trials;

• satisfactory crr ompletion of an FDA Advisory Committee review, if appla icable;

• a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of a BLA to fileff the appla ication forff review;

• satisfactory crr ompletion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufactff urt ing faciff lity or facilities at which the
proposed product is produced to assess compliance with cGMPs, and to assure that the faciff lities, methods and controls
are adequate to preserve the biological product’s continued safetff y, purity and potency, and of selected clinical
investigation sites to assess compliance with GCPs; and

• FDA review and appra oval of a BLA to permit commercial marketing of the product forff particular indications for use in
the United States.

Preclinll ical and CliCC niii cal Developmo ent

Prior to beginning the firff st clinical trial with a product candidate, we must submit an IND to the FDA. An IND is a
request for authorization froff m the FDA to administer an investigational new drugr product to humans. The central focus of an
IND submission is on the general investigational plan and the protocol or protocols for preclinical studit es and clinical trials.
The IND also includes results of animal and in vitro studit es assessing the toxicology, pharmacokinetics, pharmacology and
pharmacodynamic characteristics of the product, chemistry,rr manufactff urt ing and controls information, and any availabla e human
data or literature to supporu t the use of the investigational product. An IND must become effeff ctive beforff e human clinical trials
may begin. The IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-day
period, raises safety concerns or questions about the proposed clinical trial. In such a case, the IND may be placed on a partial
or full clinical hold and the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before the clinical
trial can begin. Submu ission of an IND therefore may or may not result in FDA authorization to begin a clinical trial.

In addition to the IND submu ission process, supeu rvision of human gene transferff trials includes evaluation and assessment
by an institutional biosafety committee (“IBC”) a local institutt ional committee that reviews and oversees research utilizing
recombinant or synthetic nucleic acid molecules at that institutt ion. The IBC assesses the safety of the research and identifieff s
any potential risk to public health or the environment and such review may result in some delay before initiation of a clinical
trial.

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational product to human subju ects under the supeu rvision of
qualified investigators in accordance with GCPs, which include the requirement that all research subju ects provide their inforff med
consent forff their participation in any clinical study.t Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things,
the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effeff ctiveness criteria to be evaluated. A
separate submu ission to the existing IND must be made for each successive clinical trial conducted durd ing product development
and forff any subsequent protocol amendments. Furthermore, an independent IRB forff each site proposing to conduct the clinical
trial must review and approve the plan forff any clinical trial and its inforff med consent forff m beforff e the clinical trial begins at that
site, and must monitor the studyt until completed. Regulatory arr uthorities, the IRB or the sponsor may suspend a clinical trial at
any time on various grounds, including a finff ding that the subjeb cts are being exposed to an unacceptabla e health risk or that the
trial is unlikely to meet its stated objectives. Some studies also include oversight by an independent group of qualifieff d experts
organized by the clinical studyt sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board, which provides authorization forff whether or
not a study may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain data from the studyt and may halt the
clinical trial if it determines that there is an unacceptable safety risk for subjects or other grounds, such as no demonstration of
effiff cacy. There are also requirements governing the reporting of ongoing preclinical studit es and clinical trials and clinical study
results to public registries.

For purposr es of BLA appra oval, human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap.

• Phase 1. The investigational product is initially introduced into healthy human subju ects or patients with the target
disease or condition. These studies are designed to test the safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabola ism and
distribution of the investigational product in humans, the side effecff ts associated with increasing doses, and, if possible,
to gain early evidence on effeff ctiveness.

• Phase 2. The investigational product is administered to a limited patient population with a specified disease or
condition to evaluate the preliminary effiff cacy, optimal dosages and dosing scheduld e and to identify pff ossible adverse
side effeff cts and safety risks. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted to obtain inforff mation prior to beginning
larger and more expensive Phase 3 clinical trials.

• Phase 3. The investigational product is administered to an expanded patient population to furff ther evaluate dosage, to
provide statistically significant evidence of clinical effiff cacy and to furff ther test for safetff y, generally at multiple
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geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. These clinical trials are intended to establish the overall risk/bkk enefitff ratio
of the investigational product and to provide an adequate basis forff product appra oval.

In some cases, the FDA may require, or companies may voluntarily pursue, additional clinical trials afteff r a product is
approved to gain more inforff mation about the product. These so-called Phase 4 studies may be made a condition to appra oval of
the BLA. Concurrent with clinical trials, companies may complete additional animal studies and develop additional informff ation
about the biological characteristics of the product candidate, and must finalize a process forff manufactff urt ing the product in
commercial quantities in accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufactff urt ing process must be capable of consistently
producing quality batches of the product candidate and, among other things, must develop methods for testing the identity,
strength, quality and purity of the final product, or for biologics, the safety, purity and potency. Additionally, appra opriate
packaging must be selected and tested and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the product candidate does
not undergo unacceptabla e deterioration over its shelf life.ff

BLA SLL ubmissii ion and Review

Assuming successfulff completion of all required testing in accordance with all appla icable regulatory rrr equirements, the
results of product development, nonclinical studit es and clinical trials are submitted to the FDA as part of a BLA requesting
approval to market the product forff one or more indications. The BLA must include all relevant data availabla e froff m pertinent
preclinical studit es and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results as well as positive finff dings, together with detailed
information relating to the product’s chemistry,rr manufactff urt ing, controls, and proposed labea ling, among other things. Data can
come from company-sponsored clinical studit es intended to test the safety and effectiveness of the product, or from a number of
alternative sources, including studit es initiated and sponsored by investigators. The submission of a BLA requires payment of a
subsu tantial appla ication user feeff to the FDA, unless a waiver or exemption appla ies.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity Act (“PREA”), a BLA or supplu ement to a BLA must contain data to
assess the safetff y and effeff ctiveness of the biological product candidate for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric
subpopulu ations and to support dosing and administration forff each pediatric subpopulation forff which the product is safe aff nd
effeff ctive. The Food and Drugrr Administration Safetff y and Innovation Act requires that a sponsor who is planning to submu it a
marketing appla ication forff a biological product that includes a new active ingredient, new indication, new dosage forff m, new
dosing regimen or new route of administration submit an initial pediatric studyt plan within sixty days after an end-of-Pff hase 2
meeting or as may be agreed between the sponsor and FDA. Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA does not apply to
any biological product forff an indication forff which orphan designation has been granted.

Within 60 days following submission of the appla ication, the FDA reviews a BLA submitted to determine if it is
subsu tantially complete before the agency accepts it for filinff g. The FDA may refusff e to fileff any BLA that it deems incomplete or
not properly reviewabla e at the time of submission and may request additional inforff mation. In this event, the BLA must be
resubmu itted with the additional inforff mation. Once a BLA has been accepted forff filing, the FDA’s goal is to review standard
applications within ten months afteff r the filing date, or, if the application qualifieff s forff priority review, six months afteff r the FDA
accepts the appla ication forff filing. In both standard and priority reviews, the review process may also be extended by FDA
requests forff additional information or clarification. The FDA reviews a BLA to determine, among other things, whether a
product is safe,ff pure and potent and the faciff lity in which it is manufactff urt ed, processed, packed or held meets standards designed
to assure the product’s continued safetff y, purity and potency. The FDA may convene an advisory committee to provide clinical
insight on application review questions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it
considers such recommendations carefulff ly when making decisions.

Before approving a BLA, the FDA will typically inspect the faciff lity or facilities where the product is manufacff tured. The
FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the manufactff urt ing processes and facilities are in compliance with
cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally,
before approving a BLA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCPs. If the FDA
determines that the appla ication, manufactff urt ing process or manufactff urt ing faciff lities are not acceptabla e, it will outline the
deficiencies in the submission and often will request additional testing or inforff mation. Notwithstanding the submission of any
requested additional inforff mation, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the regulatory crr riteria forff
approval.

Afteff r the FDA evaluates a BLA and conducts inspections of manufactff urt ing faciff lities where the investigational product
and/or its drug substance will be produced, the FDA may issue an appra oval letter or a Complete Response letter. An approval
letter authorizes commercial marketing of the product with specific prescribing information forff specific indications. A
Complete Response letter will describe all of the deficff iencies that the FDA has identifieff d in the BLA, except that where the
FDA determines that the data supporting the application are inadequate to supporu t appra oval, the FDA may issue the Complete
Response letter without first conducting required inspections, testing submitted product lots and/or reviewing proposed
labea ling. In issuing the Complete Response letter, the FDA may recommend actions that the appla icant might take to place the
BLA in condition forff approval, including requests forff additional inforff mation or clarification. The FDA may delay or refuse
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approval of a BLA if appla icable regulatory crr riteria are not satisfieff d, require additional testing or inforff mation and/or require
post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor safetff y or efficacy of a product.

If regulatory arr ppra oval of a product is granted, such appra oval will be granted for particular indications and may entail
limitations on the indicated uses for which such product may be marketed. For example, the FDA may appra ove the BLA with a
Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”) to ensure the benefits of the product outweigh its risks. A REMS is a safety
strategy to manage a known or potential serious risk associated with a product and to enable patients to have continued access
to such medicines by managing their safe use, and could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or
elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. The
FDA also may condition appra oval on, among other things, changes to proposed labea ling or the development of adequate
controls and specifications. Once appra oved, the FDA may withdraw the product appra oval if compliance with pre- and post-
marketing requirements is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the marketplace. The FDA may require
one or more Phase 4 post-market studit es and surveillance to further assess and monitor the product’s safetff y and effeff ctiveness
afteff r commercialization, and may limit further marketing of the product based on the results of these post-marketing studies.

Expexx diteii d Developmo ent and Review Programs

The FDA offeff rs a number of expedited development and review programs forff qualifyiff ng product candidates. The fasff t
track program is intended to expedite or facilitate the process forff reviewing new products that meet certain criteria. Specificff ally,
new products are eligible forff fast track designation if they are intended to treat a serious or life-ff threatening disease or condition
and data demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs forff the disease or condition. Fast track designation applies to
the combination of the product and the specific indication forff which it is being studit ed. The sponsor of a fasff t track product has
opportunities forff more frequent interactions with the review team durd ing product development and, once a BLA is submu itted,
the product may be eligible for priority review. A fast track product may also be eligible for rolling review, where the FDA may
consider for review sections of the BLA on a rolling basis beforff e the complete application is submitted, if the sponsor provides
a scheduld e forff the submission of the sections of the BLA, the FDA agrees to accept sections of the BLA and determines that the
schedule is acceptable, and the sponsor pays any required user feesff upon submu ission of the firff st section of the BLA.

A product intended to treat a serious or life-ff threatening disease or condition may also be eligible for breakthrough
therapy designation to expedite its development and review. A product can receive breakthrough therapy designation if
preliminary crr linical evidence indicates that the product, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs or biologics, may
demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapia es on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as subsu tantial
treatment effeff cts observed early in clinical development. The designation includes all of the fasff t track program features, as well
as more intensive FDA interaction and guidance beginning as early as Phase 1 and an organizational commitment to expedite
the development and review of the product, including involvement of senior managers.

Any marketing appla ication forff a biologic submitted to the FDA forff approval, including a product with a fasff t track
designation and/or breakthrough therapy designation, may be eligible forff other types of FDA programs intended to expedite the
FDA review and approval process, such as priority review and accelerated approval. A product is eligible for priority review if
it has the potential to provide a significant improvement in safety or effeff ctiveness of the treatment, diagnosis or prevention of a
serious disease or condition. For original BLAs, priority review designation means the FDA’s goal is to take action on the
marketing appla ication within six months of the 60-day filff ing date (as compared to ten months under standard review).

Additionally, products studit ed for their safety and effectiveness in treating serious or life-ff threatening diseases or
conditions may receive accelerated approval uponu a determination that the product has an effeff ct on a surrogate endpoint that is
reasonabla y likely to predict clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or
mortality, that is reasonabla y likely to predict an effeff ct on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into
account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the availabia lity or lack of alternative treatments. As a condition
of accelerated approval, the FDA will generally require the sponsor to perform adequate and well-controlled post-marketing
clinical studit es to verify and describe the anticipated effeff ct on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit.
Under the Food and Drug Omnibus Reform Act of 2022, the FDA may require, as appra opriate, that such studies be underway
prior to appra oval or within a specific time period afteff r the date of approval forff a product granted accelerated approval. Products
receiving accelerated approval may be subju ect to expedited withdrawal procedurd es if the sponsor fails to conduct the required
post-marketing studies or if such studit es fail to verify the predicted clinical benefit. In addition, the FDA currently requires as a
condition forff accelerated appra oval pre-approval of promotional materials, which could adversely impact the timing of the
commercial launch of the product.

In 2017, the FDA establa ished a new regenerative medicine advanced therapy (“RMAT”) designation as part of its
implementation of the 21st Century Cures Act. The RMAT designation program is intended to fulff fill the 21st Century Cures
Act requirement that the FDA facilitate an effiff cient development program for, and expedite review of, aff ny drugrr that meets the
following criteria: (i) the drugr qualifieff s as a RMAT, which is defined as a cell therapy,a therapeutic tissue engineering product,
human cell and tissue product, or any combination product using such therapies or products, with limited exceptions; (ii) the
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drugr is intended to treat, modify, reverse, or cure a serious or life-ff threatening disease or condition; and (iii) preliminary crr linical
evidence indicates that the drugr has the potential to address unmet medical needs forff such a disease or condition. RMAT
designation provides all the benefitsff of breakthrough therapy designation, including more frequent meetings with the FDA to
discuss the development plan forff the product candidate and eligibility for rolling review and priority review. Products granted
RMAT designation may also be eligible for accelerated approval on the basis of a surrogate or intermediate endpoint reasonabla y
likely to predict long-term clinical benefit, or reliance uponu data obtained froff m a meaningfulff number of sites, including through
expansion to additional sites. Once appra oved, when appropriate, the FDA can permit fulfillmeff nt of post-approval requirements
under accelerated approval through: the submission of clinical evidence, preclinical studit es, clinical trials, patient registries or
other sources of real world evidence such as electronic health records; the collection of larger confirff matory datasets; or post-
approval monitoring of all patients treated with the therapya prior to appra oval.

Fast track designation, breakthrough therapy designation, priority review and RMAT designation do not change the
standards forff approval but may expedite the development or appra oval process. Even if a product qualifieff s forff one or more of
these programs, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the conditions for qualificff ation or decide that the
time period for FDA review or approval will not be shortened. In May 2018, the Right to Try Arr ct establa ished a new regulatoryrr
pathway to increase access to unappra oved, investigational treatments forff patients diagnosed with life-ff threatening diseases or
conditions who have exhausted appra oved treatment options and who are unabla e to participate in a clinical trial.

Orphrr an Drug Designi atiott n

Under the Orphar n Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan designation to a drugr or biologic intended to treat a rare disease
or condition, which is a disease or condition that affects fewff er than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or more than
200,000 individuals in the United States forff which there is no reasonabla e expectation that the cost of developing and making
availabla e in the United States a drug or biologic forff this type of disease or condition will be recovered froff m sales in the United
States for that drug or biologic. Orphar n drug designation must be requested before submu itting a BLA. Afteff r the FDA grants
orphar n drug designation, the generic identity of the therapea utic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the
FDA. The orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory rrr eview or
approval process.

If a product that has orphar n drug designation subsequently receives the firff st FDA appra oval forff the disease forff which it
has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusive approval (or exclusivity), which means that the FDA may
not approve any other applications, including a fulff l BLA, to market the same biologic forff the same indication forff seven years,
except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical supeu riority to the product with orphar n drug exclusivity or if the
FDA finff ds that the holder of the orphar n drug exclusivity has not shown that it can assure the availabia lity of sufficient quantities
of the orphan drug to meet the needs of patients with the disease or condition forff which the drugr was designated. Orpharr n drug
exclusivity does not prevent the FDA froff m appra oving a diffeff rent drugr or biologic forff the same disease or condition, or the same
drugr or biologic forff a diffeff rent disease or condition. Among the other benefits of orphar n drug designation are tax credits for
certain research and a waiver of the BLA application fee.ff

A designated orphan drug may not receive orphar n drug exclusivity if it is approved forff a use that is broader than the
indication forff which it received orphan designation. In addition, exclusive marketing rights in the United States may be lost if
the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the manufactff urt er is unabla e to assure
sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition.

There is some uncertainty with respect to the FDA’s interprr etation of the scope of orphar n drug exclusivity. Historically,
exclusivity was specificff to the orphan indication forff which the drugr was appra oved. As a result, the scope of exclusivity was
interpreted as preventing appra oval of a competing product. However, in 2021, the fedff eral court in Catalyst Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. v. Becerra suggested that orpharr n drug exclusivity covers the fulff l scope of the orphan-designated “disease or condition”
regardless of whether a drugr obtained appra oval forff a narrower use.

Post-Att pprA oval Requirements

Any products manufacff tured or distributed by us pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing
regulation by the FDA, including, among other things, requirements relating to record-keeping, reporting of adverse
experiences, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, and advertising and promotion of the product. Afteff r
approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subju ect to prior
FDA review and approval. There also are continuing user fee requirements, under which the FDA assesses an annual program
fee forff each product identifieff d in an appra oved BLA. Biologic manufactff urt ers and their subcontractors are required to register
their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies, and are subju ect to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA
and certain state agencies forff compliance with cGMPs, which impose certain procedurd al and documentation requirements uponu
us and our third-party manufacff turers. Changes to the manufactff urt ing process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the
significance of the change, may require prior FDA approval beforff e being implemented. FDA regulations also require
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investigation and correction of any deviations from cGMPs and impose reporting requirements uponu us and any third-party
manufactff urt ers that we may decide to use. Accordingly, manufacff turers must continue to expend time, money and effoff rt in the
area of production and quality control to maintain compliance with cGMPs and other aspects of regulatory crr ompliance.

The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory rrr equirements and standards is not maintained or if
problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product,
including AEs of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufactff urt ing processes, or failure to comply with regulatoryrr
requirements, may result in revisions to the appra oved labeling to add new safetff y inforff mation; imposition of post-market studies
or clinical studit es to assess new safetff y risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS
program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacff turing of a product, complete withdrawal of the product froff m the market or
product recalls;

• finff es, warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical studit es;

• refusff al of the FDA to approve pending applications or supplu ements to approved appla ications, or suspension or
revocation of existing product appra ovals;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal of the FDA to permit the import or export of products;

• consent decrees, corporr ate integrity agreements, debarment or exclusion froff m fedff eral healthcare programs;

• mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective inforff mation;

• the issuance of safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases and other communications containing
warnings or other safetff y inforff mation abouta the product; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA closely regulates the marketing, labea ling, advertising and promotion of biologics. A company can make only
those claims relating to safetff y and effiff cacy, purity and potency that are appra oved by the FDA and in accordance with the
provisions of the appra oved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforff ce the laws and regulations prohibiting the
promotion of off-label uses. Failure to comply with these requirements can result in, among other things, adverse publicity,
warning letters, corrective advertising and potential civil and criminal penalties. Physicians may prescribe legally availabla e
products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that differ froff m those tested by us and approved by the
FDA. Such off-lff abel uses are common across medical specialties. Physicians may believe that such off-lff abel uses are the best
treatment for many patients in varied circumstances. The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of
treatments. The FDA does, however, restrict manufactff urt er’s communications on the subject of off-lff abel use of their products.

Regue lation of Do iagna ostic TesTT ts

Our drug candidates may require use of a diagnostic to identify aff ppra opriate patient populations for our product
candidates. These diagnostics, often referred to as companion diagnostics, are medical devices, often in vitro devices, which
provide information that is essential forff the safe aff nd effeff ctive use of a corresponding drug.r In the United States, the FDCA and
its implementing regulations, and other fedff eral and state statutt es and regulations govern, among other things, medical device
design and development, preclinical and clinical testing, premarket clearance or approval, registration and listing,
manufactff urt ing, labea ling, storage, advertising and promotion, sales and distribution, export and import, and post-market
surveillance. Unless an exemption appla ies, diagnostic tests require marketing clearance or approval froff m the FDA prior to
commercial distribution. The two primary types of FDA marketing authorization appla icable to a medical device are premarket
notificff ation, also called 510(k) clearance, and premarket approval (“PMA approval”). We expect that any companion diagnostic
developed forff our drugrr candidates will utilize the PMA pathway.

PMA appla ications must be suppou rted by valid scientific evidence, which typically requires extensive data, including
technical, preclinical, clinical and manufactff urt ing data, to demonstrate to the FDA’s satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of
the device. For diagnostic tests, a PMA appla ication typically includes data regarding analytical and clinical validation studit es.
As part of its review of the PMA, the FDA will conduct a pre-approval inspection of the manufactff urt ing faciff lity or facilities to
ensure compliance with the Quality System Regulation, which requires manufactff urt ers to folff low design, testing, control,
documentation and other quality assurance procedurd es. FDA review of an initial PMA may require several years to complete. If
the FDA evaluations of both the PMA appla ication and the manufactff urt ing faciff lities are favorable, the FDA will either issue an
approval letter or an appra ovabla e letter, which usually contains a number of conditions that must be met in order to secure the
final appra oval of the PMA. If the FDA’s evaluation of the PMA or manufactff urt ing faciff lities is not favorable, the FDA will deny
approval of the PMA or issue a not approvabla e letter. A not approvabla e letter will outline the deficiencies in the appla ication and,
where practical, will identify wff hat is necessary to make the PMA approvabla e. The FDA may also determine that additional
clinical trials are necessary, in which case the PMA appra oval may be delayed forff several months or years while the trials are
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conducted and then the data submitted in an amendment to the PMA. Once granted, PMA approval may be withdrawn by the
FDA if compliance with post appra oval requirements, conditions of approval or other regulatory srr tandards is not maintained or
problems are identified following initial marketing.

On August 6, 2014, the FDA issued a finff al guidance document addressing the development and approval process forff “In“
Vitro Companion Diagnostic Devices.” According to the guidance, for novel drugs such as our drugr candidates, a companion
diagnostic device and its corresponding drugr should be appra oved or cleared contemporaneously by the FDA for the use
indicated in the therapea utic product labeling. The guidance also explains that a companion diagnostic device used to make
treatment decisions in clinical trials of a drug generally will be considered an investigational device, unless it is employed forff an
intended use for which the device is already appra oved or cleared. If used to make critical treatment decisions, such as patient
selection, the diagnostic device generally will be considered a significant risk device under the FDA’s Investigational Device
Exemption (“IDE”) regulations. Thus, the sponsor of the diagnostic device will be required to comply with the IDE regulations.
According to the guidance, if a diagnostic device and a drugr are to be studied together to supporu t their respective appra ovals,
both products can be studit ed in the same investigational study, if the study meets both the requirements of the IDE regulations
and the IND regulations. The guidance provides that depending on the details of the study plan and subjects, a sponsor may
seek to submu it an IND alone, or both an IND and an IDE.

Biosimilarll s arr nd Refee rence ProPP duct Exclusivity

The Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) includes a subtu itle called the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009
(“BPCIA”), which created an abbreviated appra oval pathway for biological products that are highly similar, or “biosimilar,” to
or interchangeable with an FDA-approved referff ence biological product. The FDA has issued several guidance documents
outlining an appra oach to review and appra oval of biosimilars.

Biosimilarity, which requires that there be no clinically meaningfulff differences between the biological product and the
reference product in terms of safety, purity, and potency, is generally shown through analytical studit es, animal studies, and a
clinical studyt or studit es. Interchangeability requires that a product is biosimilar to the reference product and the product must
demonstrate that it can be expected to produce the same clinical results as the referff ence product in any given patient and, for
products that are administered multiple times to an individual, the biologic and the referff ence biologic may be alternated or
switched afteff r one has been previously administered without increasing safetff y risks or risks of diminished efficacy relative to
exclusive use of the referff ence biologic. A product shown to be biosimilar or interchangeable with an FDA-approved referff ence
biological producd t may rely in part on the FDA’s previous determination of safetff y and effeff ctiveness forff the referff ence product
for appa roval, which can potentially reduce the cost and time required to obtain appra oval to market the product. Complexities
associated with the larger, and often more complex, structurt es of biological products, as well as the processes by which such
products are manufacff tured, pose significant hurdles to implementation of the abbreviated appra oval pathway that are still being
worked out by the FDA. In September 2021, the FDA issued two guidance documents intended to inforff m prospective
applicants and faciff litate the development of proposed biosimilars and interchangeable biosimilars, as well as to describe the
FDA’s interprr etation of certain statutt ory rrr equirements added by the BPCIA.

Under the BPCIA, an appla ication forff a biosimilar product may not be submu itted to the FDA until four years folff lowing the
date that the referff ence product was first licensed by the FDA. In addition, the appra oval of a biosimilar product may not be made
effeff ctive by the FDA until 12 years froff m the date on which the reference product was first licensed. During this 12-year period
of exclusivity, another company may still market a competing version of the reference product if the FDA appra oves a full BLA
for the competing product containing that applicant’s own preclinical data and data froff m adequate and well-controlled clinical
trials to demonstrate the safety, purity and potency of its product. The BPCIA also created certain exclusivity periods for
biosimilars approved as interchangeable products. At this juncture, it is unclear whether products deemed “interchangeable” by
the FDA will, in fact, be readily subsu tituted by pharmacies, which are governed by state pharmacy law.

The firff st biologic product submitted under the abbreviated appra oval pathway that is determined to be interchangeable
with the referff ence product has exclusivity against other biologics submu itted under the abbreviated appra oval pathway for the
lesser of (i) one year afteff r the first commercial marketing, (ii) eighteen months afteff r appra oval if there is no legal challenge, (iii)
eighteen months afteff r the resolution in the applicant’s favff or of a lawsuit challenging the biologics’ patents if an application has
been submu itted, or (iv) 42 months afteff r the application has been approved if a lawsuit is ongoing within the 42-month period.

A biological product can also obtain pediatric market exclusivity in the United States. Pediatric exclusivity, if granted,
adds six months to existing exclusivity periods and patent terms. This six-month exclusivity, which runs from the end of other
exclusivity protection or patent term, may be granted based on the voluntary crr ompletion of a pediatric study in accordance with
an FDA-issued “Written Request” forff such a study.

The BPCIA is complex and continues to be interprr eted and implemented by the FDA. In July 2018, the FDA announced
an action plan to encourage the development and effiff cient review of biosimilars, including the establishment of a new officff e
within the agency that will focff us on therapeutic biologics and biosimilars. On December 20, 2020, Congress amended the
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PHSA as part of the COVID-19 relief bill to further simplify tff he biosimilar review process by making it optional to show that
conditions of use proposed in labea ling have been previously approved forff the referff ence product, which used to be a requirement
of the appla ication. In addition, government proposals have sought to reduce the 12-year reference product exclusivity period. As
of March 2020, certain products previously approved as drugs under the FDCA, such as insulin and human growth hormone,
are now deemed to be biologics under the PHSA, which means they may face competition through the biosimilars pathway and
are not be eligible for the twelve-year period of exclusivity granted to new BLAs. Other aspects of the BPCIA, some of which
may impact the BPCIA exclusivity provisions, have also been the subject of recent litigation. As a result, the ultimate impact,
implementation, and impact of the BPCIA is subju ect to significant uncertainty.

As discussed below, the Inflation Reducd tion Act of 2022 (“IRA”RR ) is a significant new law that intends to foster generic
and biosimilar competition and to lower drugrr and biologic costs.

Othett r HeaHH lthcare Laws and ComCC plm iall nce Requireii mentstt

Pharmaceutical companies are subjeb ct to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal government and
by authorities in the states and forff eign jurisdictions in which they conduct their business. Such laws include, without limitation:
the fedff eral Anti-Kickbak ck Statutt e (“AKS”); the federal False Claims Act (“FCA”); the Health Insurance Portabia lity and
Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) and similar forff eign, federal and state fraff ud, abuse and transparency laws.

The AKS prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfulff ly soliciting, receiving, offeff ring
or paying remuneration, to induce, or in return for, either the referff ral of an individual, or the purchase or recommendation of an
item or service for which payment may be made under any federal healthcare program. The term remuneration has been
interpreted broadly to include anything of value. The AKS has been interprr eted to apply to arrangements between
pharmaceutical manufacff turers on one hand, and prescribers and purchasers on the other. The government ofteff n takes the
position that to violate the AKS, only one purposr e of the remuneration need be to induce referff rals, even if there are other
legitimate purposr es for the remuneration. There are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory srr afe hff arborr s protecting
some common activities froff m AKS prosecution, but they are drawn narrowly and practices that involve remuneration, such as
consulting agreements, that may be alleged to be intended to induce prescribing, purchasing or recommending may be subject
to scrutiny if they do not qualify fff orff an exception or safe hff arborr . Our practices may not in all cases meet all of the criteria forff
protection under a statutt ory err xception or regulatory srr afe hff arbor r. Failure to meet all of the requirements of a particular
applicable statutt ory exception or regulatory srr afe hff arbor r does not make the conduct per se illegal under the AKS. Instead, the
legality of the arrangement will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis based on a cumulative review of all of its facts and
circumstances.

Civil and criminal falff se claims laws, including the FCA, and civil monetary penalty laws, which can be enforced through
civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities froff m knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, claims for payment of federal government funds, including in federal healthcare programs, that are
false or fraff udulent. Pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for engaging in a
variety of diffeff rent types of conduct that caused the submu ission of false claims to federal healthcare programs. Under the AKS,
for example, a claim resulting froff m a violation of the AKS is deemed to be a falff se or fraudulent claim for purposr es of the FCA.
The FCA imposes mandatory treble damages and per-violation civil penalties up tu o appra oximately $27,000.

HIPAA created additional fedff eral criminal statutt es that prohibit, among other things, executing a scheme to defraud any
healthcare benefitff program, including private third-party payors, and making falff se statements relating to healthcare matters. A
person or entity does not need to have actuat l knowledge of the healthcare fraff ud statutt e implemented under HIPAA or specificff
intent to violate the statutt e in order to have committed a violation.

The FDCA addresses, among other things, the design, production, labea ling, promotion, manufactff urt ing, and testing of
drugsr , biologics and medical devices, and prohibits such acts as the introduction into interstate commerce of adulterated or
misbranded drugs or devices. The PHSA also prohibits the introduction into interstate commerce of unlicensed or mislabea led
biological products.

The U.S. fedff eral Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires certain manufactff urt ers of drugs, devices, biologics and
medical supplu ies forff which payment is availabla e under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with
specific exceptions, to annually report to CMS information related to payments or other transfers of value made to various
healthcare professionals including physicians, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, certifieff d nurse
anesthetists, certifieff d nurse-midwives, and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians
and their immediate famff ily members. Beginning on January 1, 2023, Califorff nia Assembly Bill 1278 requires Califorff nia
physicians and surgeons to notify pff atients of Open Payments.

We are also subject to additional similar U.S. state and forff eign law equivalents of each of the abovea federal laws, which,
in some cases, diffeff r froff m each other in significant ways, and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance
effoff rts. If our operations are fouff nd to be in violation of any of such laws or any other governmental regulations that apply, we
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may be subject to penalties, including, without limitation, civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion
from government-funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid or similar programs in other countries or
jurisdictions, integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non-compliance, disgorgement, individual
imprisonment, contractuat l damages, reputational harm, diminished profitsff and the curtailment or restructurt ing of our
operations.

Data Privacy ac nd Securityii

Numerous state, federal, and forff eign laws govern the collection, dissemination, use, access to, confidff entiality, and
security of personal inforff mation, including health-related inforff mation. In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and
regulations, including state data breach notificff ation laws, state health information privacy laws, and federal and state consumer
protection laws and regulations, govern the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal
information could appla y to our operations or the operations of our partners. For example, HIPAA, as amended by the Health
Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH”), and their respective implementing
regulations imposes privacy, security, and breach notificff ation obligations on certain health care providers, health plans, and
health care clearinghouses, known as covered entities, as well as their business associates that perform certain services that
involve using, disclosing, creating, receiving, maintaining, or transmitting individually identifiaff bla e health information forff or on
behalf of such covered entities. The requirements imposed by HIPAA and HITECH on covered entities and business associates
include entering into agreements that require business associates protect PHI provided by the covered entity against improper
use or disclosure, among other things; folff lowing certain standards forff the privacy of PHI, which limit the disclosure of a
patient’s past, present or future physical or mental health or condition or inforff mation abouta a patient’s receipt of health care if
the inforff mation identifies, or could reasonabla y be used to identify,ff the individual; ensuring the confidff entiality, integrity and
availabia lity of all PHI created, received, maintained or transmitted in electronic forff m, to identify aff nd protect against reasonabla y
anticipated threats or impermissible uses or disclosures to the security and integrity of such PHI; and reporting of such breaches
of PHI to individuals and regulators.

Significant civil and criminal fines and other penalties may be imposed for violating HIPAA. A covered entity or
business associate is also liabla e forff civil money penalties for a violation that is based on an act or omission of any of its agents,
which may include a downstream business associate, as determined according to the federal common law of agency. HITECH
also increased the civil and criminal penalties appla icable to covered entities and business associates and gave state attorneys
general new authority to filff e civil actions for damages or injun nctions in federal courts to enforce HIPAA and seek attorneys’
fees and costs associated with pursuing fedff eral civil actions. To the extent that we submu it electronic healthcare claims and
payment transactions that do not comply with the electronic data transmission standards established under HIPAA and
HITECH, payments to us may be delayed or denied.

Even when HIPAA does not apply, according to the FTC, violating consumers’ privacy rights or faiff ling to take
appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal inforff mation secure may constitute unfaiff r acts or practices in or affeff cting
commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act.

In addition, state laws govern the privacy and security of personal inforff mation, including health-related information, in
certain circumstances. Failure to comply with these laws, where appla icable, can result in the imposition of significant civil and/
or criminal penalties and private litigation. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (“CCPA”), as amended
by the Califorff nia Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CPRA”), which went into effeff ct on January 1, 2020, creates new data privacy
obligations for covered companies and provides new privacy rights to Califorff nia residents. The CCPA/CPRA applies to
personal data of consumers, business representatives, and employees, and imposes obligations on certain businesses that do
business in Califorff nia, including to provide specific disclosures in privacy notices, rights to Califorff nia residents in relation to
their personal inforff mation. Health information falff ls under the CCPA/CPRA’s definition of personal inforff mation where it
identifieff s, relates to, describes, or is reasonabla y capable of being associated with or could reasonabla y be linked with a particular
consumer or household—unless it is subject to HIPAA—and is included under a new category orr f personal inforff mation,
“sensitive personal inforff mation,” which is offered greater protection.

Coverage and Reimbii urserr ment

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement statust of any pharmaceutical or biological product
for which we obtain regulatory arr ppra oval. Sales of any product, if approved, depend, in part, on the extent to which such product
will be covered by third-party payors, such as federal, state, and forff eign government healthcare programs, commercial
insurance and managed healthcare organizations, and the level of reimbursement, if any, for such product by third-party payors.
Decisions regarding whether to cover any of our product candidates, if approved, the extent of coverage and amount of
reimbursement to be provided are made on a plan-by-plan basis. Further, no uniform policy forff coverage and reimbursement
exists in the United States, and coverage and reimbursement can differ significantly from payor to payor. Third-party payors
ofteff n rely uponu Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates, but also have their
own methods and appra oval process apaa rt from Medicare determinations. As a result, the coverage determination process is
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ofteff n a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientificff and clinical supporu t forff the use of our
product candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be applied
consistently or obtained in the first instance.

Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged forff medical products and services, examining the
medical necessity and reviewing the cost effectiveness of pharmaceutical or biological products, medical devices and medical
services, in addition to questioning safety and efficacy. Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and
adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could furff ther limit sales of any
product that receives appra oval. Decreases in third-party reimbursement for any product or a decision by a third-party not to
cover a product could reduce physician usage and patient demand for the product.

For products administered under the supeu rvision of a physician, obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement may be
particularly difficult because of the higher prices ofteff n associated with such drugsr . Additionally, separate reimbursement forff the
product itself or the treatment or procedurd e in which the product is used may not be availabla e, which may impact physician
utilization. In addition, companion diagnostic tests require coverage and reimbursement separate and apaa rt from the coverage
and reimbursement for their companion pharmaceutical or biological products. Similar challenges to obtaining coverage and
reimbursement, appla icable to pharmaceutical or biological products, will apply to companion diagnostics.

In addition, the U.S. government, state legislaturt es and forff eign governments have continued implementing cost-
containment programs, including price controls, restrictions on coverage and reimbursement and requirements forff subsu titutt ion
of generic products. The IRA pRR rovides CMS with significant new authorities intended to curb dr rug costs and to encourage
market competition. For the first time, CMS will be able to directly negotiate prescription drug prices and to cap out-of-pocket
costs. Each year, CMS will select and negotiate a preset number of high-spend drugs and biologics that are covered under
Medicare Part B and Part D that do not have generic or biosimilar competition. These price negotiations will begin in 2023. The
IRA aRR lso provides a new “inflation rebate” covering Medicare patients that will take effeff ct in 2023 and is intended to counter
certain price increases in prescriptions drugsrr . The inflation rebate provision will require drugr manufactff urt ers to pay a rebate to
the fedff eral government if the price for a drugr or biologic under Medicare Part B and Part D increases faster than the rate of
inflation. To supporu t biosimilar competition, beginning in October 2022, qualifyiff ng biosimilars may receive a Medicare Part B
payment increase forff a period of fivff e years. Separately, if a biologic drug forff which no biosimilar exists delays a biosimilar’s
market entry brr eyond two years, CMS will be authorized to subju ect the biologics manufactff urt er to price negotiations intended to
ensure fair competition. Notwithstanding these provisions, the IRA’RR s impact on commercialization and competition remains
largely uncertain.

Healthll care Refoe rm

The United States and some foreign jurisdictions are considering or have enacted a number of reforff m proposals to
change the healthcare system. There is significant interest in promoting changes in healthcare systems with the stated goals of
containing healthcare costs, improving quality or expanding access. In the United States, the pharmaceutical industry hrr as been a
particular focus of these effoff rts and has been significantly affeff cted by federal and state legislative initiatives, including those
designed to limit the pricing, coverage, and reimbursement of pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical products, especially under
government-funded health care programs, and increased governmental control of drug pricing.

The ACA, which was enacted in March 2010, subsu tantially changed the way healthcare is finff anced by both governmental
and private insurers in the United States, and significantly affeff cted the pharmaceutical industry.rr The ACA contains a number of
provisions of particular import to the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, including, but not limited to, those
governing enrollment in federal healthcare programs, a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufactff urt ers under the
Medicaid Drugrr Rebate Program are calculated forff drugsrr that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injen cted, and annual
fees based on pharmaceutical companies’ share of sales to federal health care programs. Since its enactment, there have been
judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, and we expect there will be additional challenges and
amendments to the ACA in the futff urt e.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted, including automatic aggregate
reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fisff cal year as part of the fedff eral budget sequestration under the Budget
Control Act of 2011. These reducd tions went into effeff ct in April 2013 and, due to subsu equent legislative amendments, will
remain in effeff ct through 2030 unless additional action is taken by Congress. In addition, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018,
among other things, amended the Medicare Act (as amended by the ACA) to increase the point-of-sale discounts that
manufactff urt ers must agree to offeff r under the Medicare Part D coverage discount program from 50% to 70% off nff egotiated
prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries durd ing their coverage gap pa eriod, as a condition forff the manufacff turer’s
outpat tient drugsrr being covered under Medicare Part D.

Moreover, there has recently been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufactff urt ers set prices
for their marketed products, which has resulted in several Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state
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measures designed to, among other things, reducd e the cost of prescription drugs, bring more transparency to product pricing,
review the relationship between pricing and manufactff urt er patient programs, and reforff m government program reimbursement
methodologies for drug products. For example, in May 2019, CMS adopted a finff al rule allowing Medicare Advantage Plans the
option to use step therapy forff Part B drugs, permitting Medicare Part D plans to appla y certain utilization controls to new starts
of five of the six protected class drugs, and requiring the Explanation of Benefitsff for Part D beneficiaries to disclose drug price
increases and lower cost therapeutic alternatives, which went into effeff ct on January 1, 2021.

Notwithstanding the IRA, continued legislative and enforcement interest exists in the United States with respect to
specialty drugr pricing practices. Specifically, we expect regulators to continue pushing for transparency to drug pricing,
reducing the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, reviewing the relationship between pricing and manufactff urt er patient
programs, and reforff ming government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs.

Other Government Regulation Outside of the United States

In addition to regulations in the United States, we are subjeb ct to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions governing,
among other things, research and development, clinical trials, testing, manufactff urt ing, safety, efficacy, quality control, labeling,
packaging, storage, record keeping, distribution, reporting, export and import, advertising, marketing and other promotional
practices involving biological products as well as authorization, approval as well as post-approval monitoring and reporting of
our products. Because biologically sourced raw materials are subject to unique contamination risks, their use may be restricted
in some countries.

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval forff a product, we must obtain the requisite approvals from regulatory arr uthorities
in foreign countries prior to the commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. Certain
countries outside of the United States have a similar process that requires the submu ission of a clinical trial appla ication much like
the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials, including requirements to conduct additional
clinical trials, product licensing, safety reporting, post-authorization requirements, marketing and promotion, interactions with
healthcare profesff sionals, pricing and reimbursement may vary wrr idely froff m country to country. No action can be taken to
market any product in a country until an appropriate approval appla ication has been approved by the regulatory arr uthorities in
that country. The current approval process varies froff m country to country, and the time spent in gaining approval varies fromff
that required forff FDA appra oval. In certain countries, the sales price of a product must also be appra oved. The pricing review
period ofteff n begins after market approval is granted. Even if a product is appra oved by a regulatory arr uthority, satisfactory prr rices
may not be approved forff such product, which would make launch of such products commercially unfeasff ible in such countries.

Regue lation in the European Union

Europeo an Data Laws

The collection and use of personal health data and other personal data in the EU is governed by the provisions of the
European General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (“GDPR”), which came into forff ce in May 2018, and related data
protection laws in individual EU Member States. The GDPR imposes a number of strict obligations and restrictions on the
ability to process, including collecting, analyzing and transferff ring, personal data of individuals, in particular with respect to
health data from clinical trials and adverse event reporting. The GDPR includes requirements relating to the legal basis of the
processing (such as consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates), the inforff mation provided to the individuals
prior to processing their personal data, the notificff ation obligations to the national data protection authorities, and the security
and confidff entiality of the personal data. EU Member States may also impose additional requirements in relation to health,
genetic and biometric data through their national legislation.

In addition, the GDPR imposes specific restrictions on the transfer of personal data to countries outside of the European
Economic Area (“EEA”) that are not considered by the European Commission (“EC”) to provide an adequate level of data
protection. Appropriate safeguards are required to enabla e such transfers. Among the appra opriate safeguards that can be used, the
data exporter may use the standard contractuat l clauses (“SCCs”). With regard to the transfer of data froff m the EEA to the US, on
July 10, 2023, the European Commission adopted its adequacy decision for the EU-US Data Privacy Framework. On the bases
of the new adequacy decision, personal data can flow from the EEA to US companies participating in the framework.

Failure to comply with the requirements of the GDPR and the related national data protection laws of the EU Member
States may result in significant monetary fines forff noncompliance of up tu o €20 million or 4% of the annual global revenues of
the noncompliant company, whichever is greater, other administrative penalties and a number of criminal offeff nses (punishable
by uncapped finff es) forff organizations and, in certain cases, their directors and offiff cers, as well as civil liabia lity claims from
individuals whose personal data was processed. Data protection authorities froff m the different EU Member States may still
implement certain variations, enforff ce the GDPR and national data protection laws diffeff rently, and introduce additional national
regulations and guidelines, which adds to the complexity of processing personal data in the EU. Guidance developed at both the
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EU level and at the national level in individual EU Member States concerning implementation and compliance practices are
ofteff n updau ted or otherwise revised.

Furthermore, there is a growing trend towards the required public disclosure of clinical trial data in the EU, which adds
to the complexity of obligations relating to processing health data from clinical trials. Such public disclosure obligations are
provided in the new EU Clinical Trials Regulation (EU) No. 536/2014 (“CTR”), European Medicines Agency (“EMA”)
disclosure initiatives and voluntary crr ommitments by industry.rr Failure to comply with these obligations could lead to
government enforcement actions and significant penalties against us, harm to our reputation, and adversely impact our business
and operating results. The uncertainty regarding the interplay between different regulatory frr raff meworks, such as the CTR and
the GDPR, further adds to the complexity that we face with regard to data protection regulation.

With regard to the transfer of personal data froff m the EEA to the United Kingdom (“UK”), personal data may now freely
flow from the EU to the UK since the UK is deemed to have an adequate data protection level. However, the adequacy
decisions include a ‘sunset clause’ which entails that the decisions will automatically expire four years after their entry into
force, unless renewed. Additionally, folff lowing the UK’s withdrawal from the EU and the EEA, companies also have to comply
with the UK’s data protection laws (including the UK GDPR, as defined in section 3(10) (as supplemented by section 205(4))
of the Data Protection Act 2018 (the “DPA 2018”) (“UK GDPR”), the DPA 2018, and related data protection laws in the UK).
Separately to the finff es that can be imposed by the GDPR, the UK regime has the ability to impose finff es up to the greater of
£17.5 million or 4% of global turt nover.

Following the UK’s withdrawal from the EU and the EEA, companies are subju ect to specific transfer rulr es under the UK
regime; personal data may flow freely froff m the UK to the EEA, since the EEA is deemed to have an adequate data protection
level forff purposrr es of the UK regime. These UK international transfer rulr es broadly mirror the GDPR rulr es. On February 2,
2022, the UK Secretary of State laid beforff e the UK Parliament the international data transfer agreement (“IDTA”) and the
international data transfer addendum to the European Commission’s standard contractuat l clauses for international data transfers
(“Addendum”) and a document setting out transitional provisions. The IDTA and Addendum came into forff ce on March 21,
2022 and replaced the old SCCs for the purposr es of the UK regime. However, the transitional provisions, adopted with the
IDTA and the Addendum, provide that contracts concluded on or beforff e September 21, 2022 on the basis of any old SCCs
continue to provide appropriate safeguards forff the purposr e of the UK regime until March 21, 2024, provided that the processing
operations that are the subju ect matter of the contract remain unchanged and reliance on those clauses ensures that the transferff of
personal data is subjeb ct to appropriate safeguards.

With regard to the transfer of personal data froff m the UK to the United States, the UK government has adopted an
adequacy decision for the United States (the “UK-US Data Bridge”), which came into forff ce on October 12, 2023. The UK-US
Data Bridge recognizes the United States as offering an adequate level of data protection where the transfer is to a U.S.
company participating in the EU-US Data Privacy Framework and the UK Extension to the EU-US Data Privacy Framework.

Drug and Biologic Development Process

Regardless of where they are conducted, all clinical trials included in appla ications for marketing authorization forff human
medicines in the European EU/EEA must have been carried out in accordance with EU regulations. This means that clinical
trials conducted in the EU/EEA have to comply with EU clinical trial legislation but also that clinical trials conducted outside
the EU/EEA have to comply with ethical principles equivalent to those set out in the EEA, including adhering to international
good clinical practice and the Declaration of Helsinki. The conduct of clinical trials in the EU is governed by the CTR, which
entered into forff ce on January 31, 2022. The CTR replaced the Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC (“Clinical Trials Directive”)
and introduced a complete overhaul of the existing regulation of clinical trials for medicinal products in the EU.

Under the former regime, which will expire afteff r a transition period of one or three years, respectively, as outlined below
in more detail, before a clinical trial can be initiated it must be appra oved in each EU member state where there is a site at which
the clinical trial is to be conducted. The appra oval must be obtained froff m two separate entities: the National Competent
Authority (“NCA”) and one or more Ethics Committees. The NCA of the EU Member States in which the clinical trial will be
conducted must authorize the conduct of the trial, and the independent Ethics Committee must grant a positive opinion in
relation to the conduct of the clinical trial in the relevant EU member state beforff e the commencement of the trial. Any
subsu tantial changes to the trial protocol or other information submitted with the clinical trial appla ications must be submu itted to
or approved by the relevant NCA and Ethics Committees. Under the current regime all suspected unexpected serious adverse
reactions to the investigated drugr that occur durd ing the clinical trial must be reported to the NCA and to the Ethics Committees
of the EU member state where they occur.

A more unified procedurd e will apply under the new CTR. A sponsor will be able to submu it a single appla ication forff
approval of a clinical trial through a centralized EU clinical trials portal. One national regulatory arr uthority (the reporting EU
member state proposed by the appla icant) will take the lead in validating and evaluating the application consult and coordinate
with the other concerned EU Member States. If an application is rejected, it may be amended and resubmu itted through the EU
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clinical trials portal. If an approval is issued, the sponsor may start the clinical trial in all concerned EU Member States.
However, a concerned EU member state may in limited circumstances declare an “opt-out” froff m an appra oval and prevent the
clinical trial froff m being conducted in such member state. The CTR also aims to streamline and simplify tff he rules on safetff y
reporting, and introduces enhanced transparency requirements such as mandatory submu ission of a summary of the clinical trial
results to the EU Database (“CTIS”). The CTR foresees a three-year transition period. EU Member States will work in CTIS
immediately after the system has gone live. On January 31, 2023, submu ission of initial clinical trial appla ications via CTIS
became mandatory, and by January 31, 2025, all ongoing trials approved under the former Clinical Trials Directive will need to
comply with the CTR and have to be transitioned to CTIS.

Under both the former regime and the new CTR, national laws, regulations, and the appla icable GCP and GLP standards
must also be respected durd ing the conduct of the trials, including the International Council for Harmonization of Technical
Requirements forff Pharmaceuticals forff Human Use guidelines on GCP and the ethical principles that have their origin in the
Declaration of Helsinki.

During the development of a medicinal product, the EMA and national regulators within the EU provide the opportunity
for dialogue and guidance on the development program. At the EMA level, this is usually done in the forff m of scientificff advice,
which is given by the Committee for Medicinal Producd ts for Human Use (“CHMP”) on the recommendation of the Scientificff
Advice Working Party. A fee is incurred with each scientificff advice procedurd e, but is significantly reduced for designated
orphar n medicines. Advice from the EMA is typically provided based on questions concerning, for example, quality (chemistry,
manufactff urt ing and controls testing), nonclinical testing and clinical studit es, and pharmacovigilance plans and risk-management
programs. Advice is not legally binding with regard to any futff urt e Marketing Authorization Application (“MAA”) of the product
concerned.

Drug Marketkk ing Authortt ization

In the European Union, medicinal products, including advanced therapy medicinal products (“ATMPs”), are subject to
extensive pre- and post-market regulation by regulatory arr uthorities at both the European Union and national levels. ATMPs
comprise gene therapy products, somatic cell therapya products and tissue engineered products, which are genes, cells or tissues
that have undergone subsu tantial manipulation and that are administered to human beings in order to cure, diagnose or prevent
diseases or regenerate, repair or replace a human tissue. Pursuant to the ATMP Regulation, the Committee on Advanced
Therapies (“CAT”) is responsible in conjunction with the CHMP forff the evaluation of ATMPs. The CHMP and CAT are also
responsible for providing guidelines on ATMPs. These guidelines provide additional guidance on the factors that the EMA will
consider in relation to the development and evaluation of ATMPs and include, among other things, the preclinical studit es
required to characterize ATMPs manufactff urt ing and control inforff mation that should be submitted in a In the EU and in Iceland,
Norway and Liechtenstein (together the EEA) after completion of all required clinical testing, pharmaceutical products may
only be placed on the market after obtaining a Marketing Authorization (“MA”). To obtain an MA of a drugrr under European
Union regulatory srr ystems, an appla icant can submu it an MAA through, amongst others, a centralized or decentralized procedurd e.

Centrat lized Authorization Procedurdd e

The centralized procedurd e provides forff the grant of a single MA that is issued by the EC folff lowing the scientificff
assessment of the application by the EMA that is valid for all EU Member States as well as in the three additional EEA Member
States. The centralized procedurd e is compulsory for specific medicinal products, including for medicines developed by means
of certain biotechnological processes, products designated as orphan medicinal products, ATMPs and medicinal products with a
new active substance indicated for the treatment of certain diseases (AIDS, cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, diabea tes, auto-
immune and viral diseases). For medicinal products containing a new active substance not yet authorized in the EEA before
May 20, 2004 and indicated forff the treatment of other diseases, medicinal products that constitute significant therapea utic,
scientificff or technical innovations or for which the grant of a MA through the centralized procedurd e would be in the interest of
public health at EU level, an applicant may voluntarily submu it an application forff a marketing authorization through the
centralized procedurd e.

Under the centralized procedurd e, the CHMP established at the EMA, is responsible for conducting the initial assessment
of a drug. The CHMP is also responsible for several post-authorization and maintenance activities, such as the assessment of
modifications or extensions to an existing marketing authorization. Under the centralized procedurd e, the timeframe for the
evaluation of an MAA by the EMA’s CHMP is, in principle, 210 days from receipt of a valid MAA. However, this timeline
excludes clock stops, when additional written or oral inforff mation is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions
asked by the CHMP, so the overall process typically takes a year or more, unless the application is eligible for an accelerated
assessment. Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is expected
to be of a major public health interest, particularly from the point of view of therapeutic innovation. Upon request, the CHMP
can reduce the time frame to 150 days if the appla icant provides suffiff cient justificff ation forff an accelerated assessment. The
CHMP will provide a positive opinion regarding the application only if it meets certain quality, safetff y and effiff cacy
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requirements. This opinion is then transmitted to the EC, which has the ultimate authority for granting MA within 67 days afteff r
receipt of the CHMP opinion.

Decentralized Authorization Procedurdd e

Medicines that falff l outside the mandatory scope of the centralized procedurd e have three routes to authorization: (i) they
can be authorized under the centralized procedurd e if they concern a significant therapea utic, scientificff or technical innovation, or
if their authorization would be in the interest of public health; (ii) they can be authorized under a decentralized procedurd e where
an applicant appla ies forff simultaneous authorization in more than one EU member state; or (iii) they can be authorized in an EU
member state in accordance with that state’s national procedures and then be authorized in other EU countries by a procedure
whereby the countries concerned agree to recognize the validity of the original, national marketing authorization (mutual
recognition procedurd e).

The decentralized procedurd e permits companies to fileff identical MA appla ications for a medicinal product to the
competent authorities in various EU Member States simultaneously if such medicinal product has not received marketing
approval in any EU Member State beforff e. This procedurd e is availabla e forff pharmaceutical products not falling within the
mandatory scope of the centralized procedurd e. The competent authority of a single EU Member State, the reference member
state, is appointed to review the appla ication and provide an assessment report. The competent authorities of the other EU
Member States, the concerned member states, are subsequently required to grant a marketing authorization forff their territories
on the basis of this assessment. The only exception to this is where the competent authority of an EU Member State considers
that there are concerns of potential serious risk to public health, the disputed points are subju ect to a dispute resolution
mechanism and may eventuat lly be referff red to the EC, whose decision is binding for all EU Member States.

Riskii Management Plan

All new MAAs must include a Risk Management Plan (“RMP”) describing the risk management system that the
company will put in place and documenting measures to prevent or minimize the risks associated with the product. RMPs are
continually modified and updau ted throughout the lifetff ime of the medicine as new inforff mation becomes availabla e. An updated
RMP must be submitted: (i) at the request of EMA or a national competent authority, or (ii) whenever the risk-management
system is modified, especially as the result of new information being received that may lead to a significant change to the
benefit-risk profileff or as a result of an important pharmacovigilance or risk-minimization milestone being reached. The
regulatory arr uthorities may also impose specific obligations as a condition of the MA. Since October 20, 2023, all RMPs forff
centrally authorized products are published by the EMA, subju ect to only limited redactions.

MA Validity Period

Marketing Authorizations have an initial durd ation of fivff e years. Afteff r these five years, the authorization may
subsu equently be renewed on the basis of a reevaluation of the risk-benefit balance. Once renewed, the MA is valid for an
unlimited period unless the EC or the national competent authority decides, on justifieff d grounds relating to pharmacovigilance,
to proceed with only one additional fivff e-year renewal. Applications for renewal must be made to the EMA at least nine months
before the fivff e-year period expires.

Additionally, the holder of a MA for an ATMP must put in place and maintain a system to ensure that each individual
product and its starting and raw materials, including all substances coming into contact with the cells or tissues it may contain,
can be traced through the sourcing, manufactff urt ing, packaging, storage, transport and delivery trr o the relevant healthcare
institution where the product is used.

Exceptional Circumstances/Css ondiCC tional Apprpp oval

Similar to accelerated approval regulations in the United States, conditional MAs can be granted in the EU in exceptional
circumstances. A conditional MA can be granted forff medicinal products where, although comprehensive clinical data referring
to the safetff y and effiff cacy of the medicinal product have not been supplu ied, a number of criteria are fulfilleff d: (i) the benefit/risk
balance of the product is positive, (ii) it is likely that the applicant will be in a position to provide the comprehensive clinical
data, (iii) unmet medical needs will be fulfilleff d by the grant of the MA and (iv) the benefit to public health of the immediate
availabia lity on the market of the medicinal product concerned outweighs the risk inherent in the factff that additional data are still
required. A conditional MA must be renewed annually.

Data and Marketkk Exclusivitytt

As in the United States, it may be possible to obtain a period of market and / or data exclusivity in the EU that would
have the effect of postponing the entry into the marketplace of a competitor’s generic, hybrid or biosimilar product (even if the
pharmaceutical product has already received a MA) and prohibiting another appla icant froff m relying on the MA holder’s
pharmacological, toxicological and clinical data in supporu t of another MA forff the purposr es of submu itting an appla ication,
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obtaining MA or placing the producd t on the market. New Chemical Entities (“NCE”) approved in the EU qualify fff orff eight years
of data exclusivity and 10 years of marketing exclusivity.

An additional non-cumulative one-year period of marketing exclusivity is possible if durd ing the data exclusivity period
(the first eight years of the 10-year marketing exclusivity period), the MA holder obtains an authorization forff one or more new
therapeutic indications that are deemed to bring a significant clinical benefit compared to existing therapia es.

The data exclusivity period begins on the date of the product’s firff st MA in the EU. Afteff r eight years, a generic product
application may be submu itted and generic companies may rely on the MA holder’s data. However, a generic product cannot
launch until two years later (or a total of 10 years after the firff st MA in the EU of the innovator product), or three years later (or
a total of 11 years after the firff st MA in the EU of the innovator product) if the MA holder obtains MA for a new indication with
significant clinical benefit within the eight-year data exclusivity period. Additionally, another noncumulative one-year period of
data exclusivity can be added to the eight years of data exclusivity where an appla ication is made forff a new indication forff a well-
establa ished substance, provided that significant pre-clinical or clinical studit es were carried out in relation to the new indication.
Another year of data exclusivity may be added to the eight years, where a change of classification of a pharmaceutical product
has been authorized on the basis of significant pre-trial tests or clinical trials (when examining an appla ication by another
applicant forff or holder of market authorization forff a change of classification of the same subsu tance the competent authority will
not refer to the results of those tests or trials for one year afteff r the initial change was authorized).

Products may not be granted data exclusivity since there is no guarantee that a product will be considered by the
European Union’s regulatory arr uthorities to include a NCE. Even if a compound is considered to be a NCE and the MA
applicant is abla e to gain the prescribed period of data exclusivity, another company nevertheless could also market another
version of the medicinal product if such company can complete a fulff l MAA with their own complete databaa se of
pharmaceutical tests, preclinical studit es and clinical trials and obtain MA of its product.

On April 26, 2023, the EC submitted a proposal for the reform of the European pharmaceutical legislation. The current
draft eff nvisages, e.g., a shortening of the periods of data exclusivity, however, there is currently neither a finff al version of this
draft nff or a date forff its entry into force.

Orphanrr Designati ion and Exclusivity

The criteria forff designating an orpharr n medicinal product in the European Union are similar in principle to those in the
United States. The EMA grants orphan drug designation if the medicinal product is intended forff the diagnosis, prevention or
treatment of a life-ff threatening or chronically debilitating condition affeff cting no more than fivff e in 10,000 persons in the
European Union (prevalence criterion). In addition, orphar n drug designation can be granted if, for economic reasons, the
medicinal product would be unlikely to be developed without incentives and if there is no other satisfactory mrr ethod approved in
the European Union of diagnosing, preventing, or treating the condition, or if such a method exists, the proposed medicinal
product is a significant benefit to patients affected by the condition. An application forff orphar n drug designation (which is not a
marketing authorization, as not all orphan-designated medicines reach the authorization appla ication stage) must be submitted
first beforff e an appla ication forff marketing authorization of the medicinal product is submitted. The appla icant will receive a feeff
reduction for the marketing authorization appla ication if the orphar n drug designation has been granted, but not if the designation
is still pending at the time the marketing authorization is submitted, and sponsors must submit an annual report to EMA
summarizing the status of development of the medicine. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten
the durd ation of, the regulatory rrr eview and approval process. Designated orphan medicines are eligible for conditional marketing
authorization.

The EMA’s Committee for Orphan Medicinal Producd ts, reassesses the orphar n drug designation of a product in parallel
with the review forff a marketing authorization; for a product to benefitff from market exclusivity it must maintain its orphar n drug
designation at the time of marketing authorization review by the EMA and approval by the EC. Additionally, any marketing
authorization granted for an orphan medicinal product must only cover the therapeutic indication(s) that are covered by the
orphar n drug designation. Upon the grant of a marketing authorization, orphar n drug designation provides up tu o ten years of
market exclusivity in the orphan indication.

During the 10-year period of market exclusivity, with a limited number of exceptions, the regulatory arr uthorities of the
EU Member States and the EMA may not accept appla ications for marketing authorization, accept an appla ication to extend an
existing marketing authorization or grant marketing authorization forff other similar medicinal products for the same therapeutic
indication. A similar medicinal product is definff ed as a medicinal product containing a similar active substance or substances as
contained in a currently authorized orphar n medicinal product, and which is intended forff the same therapea utic indication. An
orphar n medicinal product can also obtain an additional two years of market exclusivity for an orphan-designated condition
when the results of specific studies are refleff cted in the Summary of Product Characteristics (“SmPC”) addressing the pediatric
population and completed in accordance with a fulff ly compliant Pediatric Investigation Plan (“PIP”). No extension to any
supplu ementary protection certificff ate can be granted on the basis of pediatric studit es for orphan indications.
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The 10-year market exclusivity may be reduced to six years if, at the end of the fifff thff year, it is established that the
product no longer meets the criteria for orphan designation, i.e. the condition prevalence or finff ancial returns criteria under
Article 3 of Regulation (EC) No. 141/2000 on orphar n medicinal products. When the period of orpharr n market exclusivity for an
indication ends, the orphar n drug designation forff that indication expires as well. Orphar n exclusivity runs in parallel with normal
rules on data exclusivity and market protection. Additionally, a marketing authorization may be granted to a similar medicinal
product (orphar n or not) forff the same or overlapping indication subju ect to certain requirements.

Pediatrit c Development

In the EU, companies developing a new medicinal product are obligated to studyt their product in children and must
thereforff e submit a PIP together with a request for agreement to the EMA. The EMA issues a decision on the PIP based on an
opinion of the EMA’s Pediatric Committee. Companies must conduct pediatric clinical trials in accordance with the PIP
approved by the EMA, unless a deferral (e.g. until enough information to demonstrate its effeff ctiveness and safety in aduld ts is
availabla e) or waiver (e.g. because the relevant disease or condition occurs only in adults) has been granted by the EMA. The
MAA forff the medicinal product must include the results of all pediatric clinical trials performed and details of all informff ation
collected in compliance with the appra oved PIP, unless a waiver or a deferff ral has been granted, in which case the pediatric
clinical trials may be completed at a later date. Medicinal products that are granted an MA on the basis of the pediatric clinical
trials conducted in accordance with the appra oved PIP are eligible for a six month extension of the protection under a
supplu ementary protection certificff ate (if any is in effect at the time of appra oval) or, in the case of orphan medicinal products, a
two year extension of the orphar n market exclusivity. This pediatric reward is subju ect to specific conditions and is not
automatically availabla e when data in compliance with the appra oved PIP are developed and submu itted. An approved PIP is also
required when a MA holder wants to add a new indication, medicinal forff m or route of administration forff a medicine that is
already authorized and covered by intellectuat l property rights.

PRIMEII Designati ion

In March 2016, the EMA launched an initiative to facilitate development of product candidates in indications, often rare,
for which few or no therapia es currently exist. The Priority Medicines (“PRIME”) scheme is intended to encourage drug
development in areas of unmet medical need and provides accelerated assessment of products representing substantial
innovation reviewed under the centralized procedurd e. Products from small- and medium-sized enterprises may qualify fff orff
earlier entry irr nto the PRIME scheme than larger companies on the basis of compelling non-clinical data and tolerability data
from initial clinical trials. Many benefitsff accruer to sponsors of product candidates with PRIME designation, including but not
limited to, early and proactive regulatory drr ialogue with the EMA, freff quent discussions on clinical trial designs and other
development program elements, and potentially accelerated marketing authorization appla ication assessment once a dossier has
been submu itted. Importantly, once a candidate medicine has been selected for the PRIME scheme, a dedicated contact point and
rappora teur from the CHMP or from CAT are appoia nted facilitating increased understanding of the product at EMA’s
Committee level. A kick-off meeting with the CHMP/CAT rapporteur initiates these relationships and includes a team of
multidisciplinary err xperts to provide guidance on the overall development plan and regulatory srr trategy. PRIME eligibility does
not change the standards forff product appra oval, and there is no assurance that any such designation or eligibility will result in
expedited review or appra oval.

Post-ApprA oval Regule ation

Similar to the United States, both MA holders and manufactff urt ers of medicinal products are subject to comprehensive
regulatory orr versight by the EMA, the EC and/or the competent regulatory arr uthorities of the EU Member States. This oversight
applies both beforff e and afteff r grant of manufactff urt ing licenses and marketing authorizations. It includes control of compliance
with EU good manufacturt ing practices rules, manufacturt ing authorizations, pharmacovigilance rulr es and requirements
governing advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution, recordkeeping, importing and exporting of medicinal products.

Failure by us or by any of our third-party partners, including supplu iers, manufactff urt ers and distributors to comply with
EU laws and the related national laws of individual EU Member States governing the conduct of clinical trials, manufactff urt ing
approval, MA of medicinal products and marketing of such products, both beforff e and afteff r grant of MA, statutory health
insurance, bribery arr nd anti-corruptu ion or other applicable regulatory rrr equirements may result in administrative, civil or criminal
penalties. These penalties could include delays or refusal to authorize the conduct of clinical trials or to grant MA, product
withdrawals and recalls, product seizures, suspension, withdrawal or variation of the MA, total or partial suspension of
production, distribution, manufactff urt ing or clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunctions, suspension of licenses, fines and
criminal penalties.

The holder of a MA for a medicinal product must also comply with EU pharmacovigilance legislation and its related
regulations and guidelines, which entail many requirements forff conducting pharmacovigilance, or the assessment and
monitoring of the safetff y of medicinal products.
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These pharmacovigilance rulr es can impose on holders of MAs the obligation to conduct a labora intensive collection of
data regarding the risks and benefits of marketed medicinal products and to engage in ongoing assessments of those risks and
benefits, including the possible requirement to conduct additional clinical studit es or post-authorization safetff y studies to obtain
further inforff mation on a medicine’s safety, or to measure the effeff ctiveness of risk-management measures, which may be time
consuming and expensive and could impact our profitff ability. MA holders must establa ish and maintain a pharmacovigilance
system and appoia nt an individual qualifieff d person forff pharmacovigilance, who is responsible for oversight of that system. Key
obligations include expedited reporting of suspected serious adverse reactions and submission of Periodic Safetff y Update
Reports (“PSURs”) in relation to medicinal products for which they hold MAs. The EMA reviews PSURs for medicinal
products authorized through the centralized procedurd e. If the EMA has concerns that the risk benefitff profileff of a product has
varied, it can adopt an opinion advising that the existing MA forff the product be suspended, withdrawn or varied. The agency
can advise that the MA holder be obliged to conduct post-authorization Phase 4 safetff y studies. If the EC agrees with the
opinion, it can adopt a decision varying the existing MA. Failure by the MA holder to fulff fill the obligations for which the EC’s
decision provides can undermine the ongoing validity of the MA.

More generally, non-compliance with pharmacovigilance obligations can lead to the variation, suspension or withdrawal
of the MA forff the product or imposition of finff ancial penalties or other enforcement measures.

The manufactff urt ing process for pharmaceutical products in the European Union is highly regulated and regulators may
shut down manufactff urt ing facff ilities that they believe do not comply with regulations. Manufactff urt ing requires a manufacff turing
authorization, and the manufacff turing authorization holder must comply with various requirements set out in the appla icable EU
laws, regulations and guidance, including Directive 2001/83/EC, Directive 2003/94/EC (repealed by Directive 2017/1572 on
January 31, 2022), Regulation (EC) No 726/2004 and the European Commission Guidelines for cGMP. These requirements
include compliance with EU cGMP standards when manufacff turing pharmaceutical products and active pharmaceutical
ingredients, including the manufactff urt e of active pharmaceutical ingredients outside of the European Union with the intention to
import the active pharmaceutical ingredients into the European Union. Similarly, the distribution of pharmaceutical products
into and within the European Union is subject to compliance with the appla icable EU laws, regulations and guidelines, including
the requirement to hold appra opriate authorizations for distribution granted by the competent authorities of the EU Member
States. The manufacff turer or importer must have a qualifieff d person who is responsible for certifyiff ng that each batch of product
has been manufactff urt ed in accordance with cGMP, beforff e releasing the product forff commercial distribution in the European
Union or forff use in a clinical trial. Manufactff urt ing facff ilities are subju ect to periodic inspections by the competent authorities for
compliance with cGMP.

Sales and Marketkk ing Regulations

The advertising and promotion of our products is also subju ect to EU laws concerning promotion of medicinal products,
interactions with physicians, misleading and comparative advertising and unfaiff r commercial practices. In addition, other
national legislation of individual EU Member States may apply to the advertising and promotion of medicinal products and may
differ froff m one country to another. These laws require that promotional materials and advertising in relation to medicinal
products comply with the product’s SmPC as appra oved by the competent regulatory arr uthorities. The SmPC is the document that
provides inforff mation to physicians concerning the safe aff nd effeff ctive use of the medicinal product. It forms an intrinsic and
integral part of the marketing authorization granted for the medicinal product. Promotion of a medicinal product that does not
comply with the SmPC is considered to constitute off-lff abel promotion. All advertising and promotional activities forff the
product must be consistent with the appra oved SmPC and thereforff e all off-lff abel promotion is prohibited. Direct-to-consumer
advertising of prescription-only medicines is also prohibited in the EU. Violations of the rulrr es governing the promotion of
medicinal products in the European Union could be penalized by administrative measures, finff es and imprisonment. These laws
may furff ther limit or restrict the advertising and promotion of our products to the general public and may also impose limitations
on its promotional activities with healthcare professionals.

Anti-Corruptu ion Legislation

In the EU, interactions between pharmaceutical companies and physicians are also governed by strict laws, regulations,
industry srr elf-regulation codes of conduct and physicians’ codes of professional conduct both at EU level and in the individual
EU Member States. The provision of benefits or advantages to physicians to induce or encourage the prescription,
recommendation, endorsement, purchase, supplu y, order or use of medicinal products is prohibited in the European Union. The
provision of benefits or advantages to physicians is also governed by the national anti-bribery lrr aws of the EU Member States.
Violation of these laws could result in substantial finff es and imprisonment.

Payments made to physicians in certain EU Member States also must be publicly disclosed. Moreover, agreements with
physicians must ofteff n be the subju ect of prior notificff ation and approval by the physician’s employer, his/her regulatoryrr
profesff sional organization, and/or the competent authorities of the individual EU Member States. These requirements are
provided in the national laws, industry crr odes, or profesff sional codes of conduct, applicable in the individual EU Member States.
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Failure to comply with these requirements could result in reputational risk, public reprimands, administrative penalties, finff es or
imprisonment.

Regule ation in thett UK and Othett r MarMM ketrr stt

The UK forff mally left tff he EU on January 31, 2020. EU laws now only appla y to the UK in respect of Northern Ireland as
laid out in the Protocol on Ireland and Northern Ireland and as amended by the Windsor Framework agreed by the UK and EU
on Februarr ry 27, 2023. Amongst other things, the Windsor Framework sets out a long-term set of arrangements forff the supply of
medicines into Northern Ireland. From January 1, 2025, medicines will need to be approved and licensed on a UK-wide basis
by the UK’s Medicine and Healthcare products Regulatory Arr gency (“MHRA”RR ), with medicines using the same packaging and
labea lling across the UK. The EMA will have no role in approving or licensing new drugs for provision in Northern Ireland. The
EU and the UK have agreed on a trade and cooperation agreement (“TCA”), which includes provisions affeff cting the life
sciences sector (including on customs and tariffs). There are some specific provisions concerning pharmaceuticals, including
the mutuat l recognition of cGMP, inspections of manufactff urt ing faciff lities forff medicinal products and issued cGMP documents.
The TCA does not, however, contain wholesale mutuat l recognition of UK and EU pharmaceutical regulations and product
standards.

The UK government has adopted the Medicines and Medical Devices Act 2021 (“MMDA”) to enabla e the UK’s
regulatory frr raff meworks to be updau ted folff lowing the UK’s departure from the EU. The MMDA introduces regulation-making,
delegated powers covering the fieff lds of human medicines, clinical trials of human medicines, veterinary medicines and medical
devices. The MHRA hRR as since been consulting on futff urt e regulations for medicines and medical devices in the UK.

Drug Marketkk ing Authortt izations

To be used or sold in the UK, a drug must have an effective marketing authorization obtained by a centralized
application through EMA or a national appla ication. National appla ications are governed by the Human Medicines Regulations
(SI 2012/1916) (“HMRs”). Applications are made electronically through the MHRA SRR ubmissions Portal. The process froff m
application to authorizations generally takes up tu o 210 days, excluding time taken to provide any additional inforff mation or data
required by the MHRA.

On August 30, 2023, the MHRA pRR ublished detailed guidance on its recently announced new International Reliance
Procedurd e (“IRP”) for MAAs. Effective January 1, 2024, the IRP took effeff ct and replaces existing EU reliance procedures to
apply forff authorizations from seven international regulators (e.g. Health Canada, Swiss Medic, FDA, EMA, among others). The
IRP allows medicinal products approved in other jurisdictions that meet certain criteria to undergo a fast-tracked MHRA review
to obtain and/or update a marketing authorization in the UK or Great Britain. Applicants can submu it initial MAAs to the IRP
but the procedurd e can also be used throughout the lifecyff cle of a product forff post-authorization procedurd es including line
extensions, variations and renewals.

Any authorization which is not followed by the actual placing of the drugr on the EU market (in case of centralized
procedurd e) or on the market of the authorizing member state within three years after authorization ceases to be valid.

For the UK, the period of three years durd ing which the drug has not been marketed in Great Britain will be restarted fromff
the date of conversion to a Great Britain marketing authorization. Conversion referff s to the procedurd e by which, as of January 1,
2021, MAs granted on the basis of a centralized procedurd e in the EU are only valid in Northern Ireland but not in Great Britain,
whereas, prior EU authorizations have all been automatically converted into UK MAs effective in Great Britain only.

Orphanrr Designati ion

In the UK, since January 1, 2021, a system for incentivizing the development of orphan medicines was introduced.
Overall, the requirements forff orpharr n designation largely replicate the requirements in the EU and the benefit of market
exclusivity has been retained. Products with an orpharr n designation in the EU can be considered for an orphan marketing
authorization in Great Britain, but a UK-wide orphar n marketing authorization can only be considered in the absa ence of an
active EU orphan designation. The MHRA wRR ill review applications for orphan designation at the time of a marketing
authorization, and will offer incentives, such as market exclusivity and fulff l or partial refundsff for marketing authorization feeff s to
encourage the development of medicines in rare diseases.

Pediatrit c Development

In the UK, the MHRA hRR as published guidance on the procedurd es for UK Paediatric Investigation Plans (“PIPs”) which,
where possible, mirror the submu ission format and requirements of the EU system. EU PIPs remain appla icable for Northern
Ireland and EU PIPs agreed by the EMA prior to January 1, 2021 have been adopted as UK PIPs.

Sales and Marketkk ing Regulation
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EU regulation with regards to dispensing, sale and purchase of medicines has generally been preserved in the UK afteff r
its exit from the EU, through the HMRs. However, organizations wishing to sell medicines online need to register with the
MHRA. The requirements to display the common logo no longer appla y to UK-based online sellers, except forff those established
in Northern Ireland.

For other countries outside of the European Union, such as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin America or Asia, the
requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary from country to
country. In all cases, again, the clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with GCP and the appla icable regulatoryrr
requirements and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory rrr equirements, we may be subject to, among other things, finff es,
suspension of clinical trials, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory arr ppra ovals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating
restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Human Capital Management

As of December 31, 2023, we employed 75 fulff l-time employees at two locations in the United States, in Austin, TX and
Durham, NC.

We may hire additional employees in 2024 and beyond with a focff us on increasing expertise and bandwidth in preclinical
and clinical research and development, in-house process development and manufactff urt ing, and clinical operations to supporu t
potential later-stage clinical trials. We continue to evaluate business needs and opportunities, with a hiring philosophy that
seeks to balance in-house expertise with outsourced services, and management of overall operating expense. Currently, we
outsource clinical trial work to clinical research organizations and drug manufactff urt ing to contract manufactff urt ers.

Drugr development is a complex endeavor which requires deep expertise and experience across a broad array of
disciplines. Pharmaceutical companies compete for a limited number of highly qualifieff d appla icants to fill specialized positions.
To attract these appa licants to the Company, we offeff r a total rewards package consisting of a base salary and cash target bonus
targeting the 25th to 75th percentile of market based on geography, a competitive benefitff package and equity compensation for
full-time employees. Bonus opportunity and equity compensation increase as a percentage of total compensation based on level
of responsibility.

We believe our management team has the experience necessary to effeff ctively execute our strategy and advance our
product and technology leadership. A large majority of our employees have obtained advanced degrees in their professions. We
supporu t our employees’ furff ther development with individualized development plans, mentoring, coaching, group training and
conferff ence attendance.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $74.3 million and $82.9
million, respectively.

Corporate Inforff mation

We were incorporated in Delaware in May 2016. Our corporr ate offices are located at 500 W. 5th Street, Suite 1200,
Austin, Texas 78701 and 21 Alexandria Way, Suite 200, Durham, North Carolina 27709 and our telephone number is (512)
900-4690. Our website address is www.shattucklabsa .com. Inforff mation contained on or accessible through our website is not a
part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the inclusion of our website address in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is forff
convenience only and the inforff mation on the referenced website does not constitute a part of nor is incorporated by reference
into this report.

Our reports filed or furff nished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), including our annual reports on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and our current reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, are accessible through our website, freff e of charge, as soon as reasonabla y
practicable afteff r these reports are fileff d electronically with, or otherwise furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”). These SEC reports can be accessed through the “Investors” section of our website.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in shares of our common stock involves a high dgg egdd reg e of ro isk. You should cll arefulff ly considerdd the folff lowing riskii skk
and uncertainties, together with all of to hett othett r inforff mation contained in thitt s Aii nnual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K beforff e making an
investment decidd siii on. The occurrence of ao ny of the folff lowing riskii s ckk ould mll aterially and adverserr ly affeff ct our business, financial
condition, repute ation, or results ott f oo peo rations. In sII uch case, the trat ding price of so hares of our common stock could dll ecldd ine, and
you may lose all or part of yo our investment. It is not possible to predict or idendd tify all such risks; our operations could al lso be
affeff cted by factors,rr events or uncertainties thattt are not presently kll nowkk n to us or thattt we currently do not considerdd to present
signii fii cant riskii s tkk o our operations. TheTT refoe re, you should nl ot considerdd the folff lowing riskii s tkk o be a complete statement of ao ll the
potential risks or uncertainties thattt we face.

Summary of Key Risk Factors

• We are an early clinical-stage biotechnology company and have incurred significant losses since our inception, and we
expect to incur losses forff the forff eseeable future. We have no products approved forff commercial sale and may never
achieve or maintain profitff ability.

• We will require additional fundiff ng in order to complete development of our product candidates and commercialize our
products, if appra oved. Additional fundiff ng may not be availabla e on acceptabla e terms, or at all. If we are unabla e to raise
capital when needed, we could be forff ced to delay, reduce, or eliminate our product development programs, our effoff rts
to access manufacff turing capaa city, and our commercialization efforts.

• Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations, or require us to
relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates.

• Our limited operating history mrr ay make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess
our future viability.

• Our compounds, including those froff m our ARC platforff m, are based on novel technologies that are unproven and may
not result in appra ovabla e or marketabla e products, which exposes us to unforff eseen risks and makes it diffiff cult for us to
predict the time and cost of product development and potential forff regulatory arr ppra oval. We may not be successfulff in
our effoff rts to use and expand our technology platforms to develop and commercialize our compounds and product
candidates, or may experience significant delays in doing so.

• Our clinical trials may faiff l to demonstrate substantial evidence of the safety and efficacy of our product candidates or
any futff urt e product candidates, which would prevent or delay or limit both the scope of regulatory arr ppra oval and our
ability to successfulff ly commercialize.

• Interim, topline, or preliminary drr ata froff m our clinical trials that we announce or publish froff m time to time may change
as more patient data becomes availabla e and are subject to audit and verification procedurd es that could result in material
changes in the final data.

• Clinical drugrr development is a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes. If clinical trials of our product
candidates are prolonged or delayed, we or any collaborators may be unabla e to obtain required regulatory arr ppra ovals,
and, therefore, be unabla e to commercialize our product candidates on a timely basis or at all.

• Our product candidates may have serious adverse, undesirabla e, or unacceptabla e side effects or other properties that
may delay or prevent marketing approval.

• If we experience delays or diffiff culties initiating clinical trial sites or enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our
research and development efforts, business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected.

• The development and commercialization of biopharmaceutical products is subju ect to extensive regulation, and the
regulatory arr ppra oval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign authorities are lengthy, time-consuming, and
inherently unpredictabla e. If we are ultimately unabla e to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval forff our product candidates on a
timely basis, if at all, our business will be subsu tantially harmed. We operate in highly-competitive and rapia dly-
changing industries, which may result in others discovering, developing, or commercializing competing products
before or more successfulff ly than we do.

• We rely on third parties to supply raw materials and to manufactff urt e our product candidates. The manufactff urt e of our
product candidates is complex and our third-party manufactff urt ers may encounter difficulties in production, which could
delay or entirely halt their ability to supplu y our product candidates forff clinical trials or, if appra oved, for commercial
sale.
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• Our success depends upon our ability to obtain and maintain patents and other intellectuat l property rights to protect
our technology, including product candidates froff m our ARC platforff m, methods used to manufactff urt e those product
candidates, formulations thereof, and the methods for treating patients using those product candidates.

• Public health crises such as pandemics or other events could materially and adversely affect our business operations,
workforce, product development activities, research and development activities, preclinical and clinical trials, and
financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Business

We are an early clinll ical-sll tagea biotechtt nologyo company an nd have incurred signigg fii cant losses since our incii eption, and we
expexx ct to incur losll ses forff the forff eseeable fll utff ure. We have no products att ppra oved for commercial sale all nd may na ever achieve
or maintain profitaff bilitii y.tt

Biotechnology product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a subsu tantial degree of risk. We
have incurred significant operating losses since inception. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we reported a net
loss of $87.3 million and $101.9 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficff it of $306.3
million. We expect to continue to incur significant operating losses for the foreseeable future. To become and remain profitabla e,
we must succeed in developing and eventuat lly commercializing products that generate significant revenue. We may never
succeed in these activities and, even if we do, we may never generate revenue that is sufficient to achieve profitaff bia lity.

We willii require additiii onal fundindd g in oii rderdd to complete developmll ent of oo ur product candiddd atdd estt and commercializeii our
products,tt if approved. Add dditiii onal fundindd g may not be availablll e oll n acceptable tll ertt msrr , os r at all. If we are unable tll o rtt aiseii
capia taii l when neededdd , wdd e could be forced to delay,a reduce, or eliminll ate ott ur product developmll ent progro ams and othett r
operations.

Based on our current business plans, we estimate that our existing cash and cash equivalents and investments will enabla e
us to fund our operating expenses into 2026. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we
could use our capital resources sooner than we currently expect, requiring us to seek additional fundsff sooner than planned
through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources, such as strategic collabora ations. In addition, we may seek
additional capital dued to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funff ds for
our current or future operating plans. Attempting to secure additional finff ancing may divert our management from our day-to-
day activities, which may materially and adversely affect the development of our product candidates. Our abia lity to raise
additional fundsff will depend on financial, economic, and market conditions and other factors, over which we may have no or
limited control. Additional fundsff may not be availabla e when we need them, on terms that are acceptabla e to us or at all.

Raising additioii nal capitaii l may cause diludd tion to ott ur existingii stoctt kholdell rs, restritt ct our opeo rations, os r requireii us to relinquish
righi ts to our tectt hnologill es or product candiddd atdd estt .

If we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, including through our “at-the-market” offeff rings (the “ATM
Facility”), or convertible debt securities, the ownership interests of existing stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these
securities may include liquidation or other preferff ences that adversely affect our existing stockholders’ rights as holders of our
common stock. In addition, the possibility of such issuance may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. Debt
financing, if availabla e, may result in increased fixed payment obligations and involve agreements that include covenants
limiting or restricting our ability to take certain actions, which could materially and adversely impact our ability to conduct our
business.

Our compoum nds,dd includindd g thott se from our ARC platll fott rm, are based on novel technologio es that are unproven and may not
result in approvable oll r markerr table pll roducts,tt which exposee es us to unforff eseen riskii s akk nd makes it dii ifdd fiff cult for us to ptt redict the
time and cost of po roduct developmll ent and potentt tial forff regue latory approval. Wll e mWW ay not be successfulff in our effore ts to use
and expanee d our technologyo platll fott rms to dtt eveldd opll and commercialize our current and futff ure product candiddd atdd estt , os r may
expexx rience signi ificff ant deldd ayll s in dii oidd ngii so.

A key element of our strategy is to use and expand our proprietary technologies, including our ARC platforff m, to build a
pipeline of product candidates and progress these compounds and product candidates through preclinical and clinical
development. Although our research and development efforts to date have resulted in a pipeline of product candidates and
potential product candidates directed at various cancers and other indications, we have not received regulatory arr ppra oval forff any
of our product candidates. The scientificff research that forms the basis of our effoff rts to develop product candidates with our
proprietary technologies, including those froff m our ARC platforff m, is still ongoing. Further, the scientificff evidence to supporu t the
feasibility of developing therapeutic treatments based on our platforms is both preliminary arr nd limited. Given the novelty of our
technologies, we intend to work closely with the FDA and other regulatory arr uthorities to perform the requisite scientificff
analyses and evaluation of our methods to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval forff our product candidates. We cannot be certain that our
approach will lead to the development of approvabla e or marketabla e products, alone or in combination with other therapia es. To
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our knowledge, our dual-sided fusff ion protein product candidates have not previously been tested in humans and may have
properties that negatively impact safetff y or efficacy, such as greater immunogenicity when compared to existing therapea utics.
Moreover, our product candidates may have unexpected biological interactions when administered in vivo. Finally, the FDA or
other regulatory arr gencies may lack experience in evaluating the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which could
result in a longer than expected regulatory rrr eview process, increase our expected development costs, and delay or prevent
commercialization of our product candidates.

The successfulff development of our product candidates will depend on several factors, including the successfulff and timely
completion of clinical trials and preclinical studit es, successfulff patient enrollment in clinical trials, receipt of regulatoryrr
approvals and marketing authorizations, commercially viabla e manufactff urt ing processes, and our ability to demonstrate the safety
and efficacy of our product candidates.

Our abia lity to generate revenues, which we do not expect will occur forff at least the next several years, if ever, will
depend heavily on the successfulff development and eventual commercialization of our product candidates, which may never
occur. We currently generate no revenue from sales of any products, and we may never be able to develop or commercialize a
marketable product, which could result in significant harm to our financial position and materially and adversely affect our
share price.

Our futff ure growth att nd abiliii tyii to compete dtt epdd ends on retaining our key pe ersorr nnel and recruitinii g additioii nal qualifii ed
personnel. We expexx ct to contintt ue to expanxx d our capabia liii tiii es, as nd, add s a result, we may ea ncountertt diffii culties in mii anagingii our
growth, which could dll isdd ruptu our opeo rations.

Our success depends upon the continued contributions of our key management, scientificff , and technical personnel, many
of whom have been instrumental for us and have subsu tantial experience with our product candidates and related technologies.
Although we have employment agreements with certain of our key employees, including our Chief Executive Officff er, these
employment agreements provide for at-will employment, which means that any of our employees could leave our employment
at any time, with or without notice.

We expect to experience periods of growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly
in the areas of drugr development, clinical operations, business development, manufactff urt ing, regulatory arr ffairs, quality
assurance, human resources, legal, accounting and finance, and, ultimately, sales and marketing. The competition forff qualifieff d
personnel in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries is intense, and our future success depends upon our ability to
attract, retain, and motivate highly skilled scientificff , technical, and managerial employees. If our recruirr tment and retention
effoff rts are unsuccessful, when needed, in the future, it may be difficult for us to implement our business strategy, which could
have a material adverse effeff ct on our business.

To manage any futff urt e growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational, and finff ancial
systems, and expand our facilities. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management team in
managing a growing company, we may not be able to effeff ctively manage the expansion of our operations systems and facilities.
These activities may lead to significff ant costs and may divert our management and other resources. Any inability to manage
growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disruptr our operations.

In addition, we are a small company with limited resources, our business prospects are uncertain, and our stock price is
volatile. For some or all of the foregoing reasons, we may not be able to recruir t all of the management, technical, and other
personnel that we require or we may be unabla e to retain all of our existing personnel. In such event, we may be required to limit
our growth and expansion effoff rts and our business and financial results may suffeff r.

Our limill teii d opeo ratingii histii ortt y mr ay make it diffii cult for you to evaluate the success of oo ur busineii ss to date att nd to assess our
future viabilityii .yy

Since our inception in 2016, we have devoted a significant portion of our resources to developing our product candidates,
our other research and development efforts, building our intellectuat l property portfolff io, raising capital, and providing general
and administrative support forff these operations. We have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfulff ly complete product
development activities, complete clinical trials (including Phase 3 or other pivotal clinical trials), obtain regulatory arr ppra ovals,
manufactff urt e a commercial-scale product or arrange for a third-party to do so on our behalf, off r conduct sales and marketing
activities necessary forff successfulff product commercialization. Additionally, we expect our financial condition and operating
results to continue to fluctuate significantly from period to period dued to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our
control. Consequently, any predictions you or we may make aboa ut our future success or viabia lity may not be as accurate as they
could be if we had a longer operating history.

36



Risks Related to the Development and Clinical Testing of Our Product Candidates

Our cliniii cal tritt als mll ay fail to demonstrate stt ubstantt tial evidence of to hett safea ty and effie cacy of our product candiddd atdd estt or anyn
future product candiddd atdd estt , ws hich would pll revent or deldd ayll or limit both ttt hett scope of regue latory approval and our abilitii y ttt ott
commercialize.

To obtain the requisite regulatory arr ppra ovals to market and sell any product candidates, we must demonstrate through
extensive preclinical studit es and clinical trials that our compounds and investigational drug products are safe aff nd effeff ctive forff
use in each targeted indication. Clinical testing is expensive and takes many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently
uncertain. The process of obtaining regulatory arr ppra oval is expensive, ofteff n taking many years folff lowing the commencement of
clinical trials, and can vary subsu tantially based uponu the type, complexity, and novelty of the product candidates involved, as
well as the target indications, patient population, and regulatory arr gency. As mentioned herein, our product candidates and
technology platforms are novel and entail significant complexity.

Clinical trials that we conduct may not demonstrate the effiff cacy and safety that is necessary to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval
to market our product candidates. If the results of our ongoing or future clinical trials are inconclusive with respect to the
effiff cacy of our product candidates, if we do not meet the clinical endpoints with statistical and clinically meaningfulff
significance, or if there are safetff y concerns associated with our product candidates, we may be delayed in obtaining marketing
approval, if at all. Additionally, any safety concerns observed in any one of our clinical trials could limit the prospects for
regulatory arr ppra oval of that product candidate or other product candidates in any indications.

Even if our clinical trials are successfulff ly completed, clinical data are often susceptible to varying interprrr etations and
analyses, and we cannot guarantee that the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities will interpret the results as we do,
and more trials could be required beforff e we are able to submu it our product candidates forff approval. Moreover, results that are
acceptable to supporu t appra oval in one jurisdiction may be deemed inadequate to supporu t regulatory arr ppra oval in other
jurisdictions. Even if regulatory arr ppra oval is secured forff a product candidate, the terms of such appra oval may limit the scope and
use of the specific product candidate in a manner that does not meet our expectations, which limitations may reducd e its
commercial potential.

Interim,ii toplo inll e, or prelimll inary dr atdd a ftt roff m our clinll ical trials that we announce or publish froff m timett to time may ca hange as
more patiett nt data btt ecomes available all nd are subjeb ct to audit aii nd verificff atiott n procedures that could rll esult ill n mii atertt ial
changes in tii hett finaii l datdd a.tt

From time to time, we have publicly disclosed, and we may publicly disclose again in the future, interim, topline, or
preliminary drr ata froff m our preclinical studit es and clinical trials, which is based on a preliminary arr nalysis of then-availabla e data,
and the results and related finff dings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data
related to the particular trial. The interim, topline, or preliminary rrr esults that we have reported or may report in the future may
differ froff m futff urt e results of the same studies, or diffeff rent conclusions or considerations may qualify sff uch results, once
additional data have been received and fully evaluated. For example, safetff y, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic data are
different than, and may not be predictive of, clinical effiff cacy endpoints. In addition, at times we have access to additional data,
in part because our trials are open-labea l, beyond what has been publicly disclosed. As a result, interim, topline, or preliminaryrr
data should be viewed with caution until the finff al data are availabla e.

Interim, topline, or preliminary drr ata froff m clinical trials that we may complete are subju ect to the risk that one or more of
the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become availabla e. Material
differences between interim, topline, or preliminary drr ata and final data could significantly harm our business prospects. Further,
disclosure of interim, topline, or preliminary drr ata by us or by our competitors could impact our ability to enroll our clinical
trials and influff ence industry err xpectations, which could result in volatility in the price of our common stock and affecff t our
ability to raise additional capital.

Clinll ical drug developmo ent is aii lengthy ah nd expexx nsive process with uncertain outcomes. If cII linical trials of our product
candidatestt are prolonged or delayeda , wdd e or any collaborll atortt s mrr ay be unable tll o ott btaitt n rii equireii d regulatll ortt y ar ppra ovals,ll and,
thereforff e, be unable tll o ctt ommercialize our product candiddd atdd estt on a timett ly basis or at all.ll

It is impossible to predict when or if any of our product candidates will prove effeff ctive and safe in humans or will
receive regulatory arr ppra oval. Before obtaining marketing appra oval froff m regulatory arr uthorities forff the sale of any drugr candidate,
we must complete preclinical studit es and then conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our
product candidates in humans. Our clinical trials may not be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all, and a
failure of one or more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. The outcome of preclinical studit es and early-stage clinical
trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict
final results. The design of a clinical trial can determine whether its results will supporu t appra oval of a product candidate, and
flaws in the design of a clinical trial may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well advanced. Moreover, preclinical and
clinical data are often susceptible to varyirr ng interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their
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compounds and product candidates performed satisfacff torily in preclinical studit es and clinical trials have nonetheless faiff led to
obtain marketing appra oval of their product candidates. In addition, the results of our preclinical animal studies, including our
non-human primate studit es, may not be predictive of the results of outcomes in subsequent clinical trials on human subju ects.
Product candidates in clinical trials may faiff l to show the desired pharmacological properties or safetff y and effiff cacy traits despite
having progressed through preclinical studit es.

Additionally, all of our trials, including our ongoing Phase 1 trials evaluating SL-172154, are open-labea l trials in which
both the patient and investigator know whether the patient is receiving the investigational product candidate or an existing
approved therapy.a Open-label clinical trials are subject to various limitations that may exaggerate any therapea utic effeff ct, as
patients in open-labea l clinical trials are aware when they are receiving treatment. In addition, open-labea l clinical trials may be
subju ect to an “investigator bias” where those assessing and reviewing the physiological outcomes of the clinical trials are aware
of which patients have received treatment and may interpret the information of the treated group more favorably given this
knowledge. Therefore, it is possible that positive results observed in open-labea l trials will not be replicated in later placebo-
controlled trials.

We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the independent institutt ional
review boards of the institutt ions in which such clinical trials are being conducted, by the Data Safetff y Monitoring Board, if any,
for such clinical trial, or by the FDA or other regulatory arr uthorities. Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial
due to a number of facff tors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory rrr equirements or our
clinical trial protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory arr uthorities resulting
in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforff eseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefitff from the
product candidates, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions, or lack of adequate funding to continue the
clinical trial. If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that
we currently contemplate, if we are unabla e to successfulff ly complete clinical trials of our product candidates, if the results of
these trials are not positive or are only moderately positive, or if there are safetff y concerns, our business and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected, and we may incur significant additional costs.

Our product candiddd atdd estt may ha ave serious adverserr , ue ndesdd irable,ll or unacceptable sll ide edd ffee cts ott r other propertiett s thatt t may
delay oa r prevent markerr tingii approval and our abiliii tyii to market and derdd ive revenue from our product candiddd atdd estt could bll e
compromised.dd

Undesirabla e side effects that may be caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory arr uthorities to
interruptu , delay, or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory arr ppra oval by
the FDA or other comparabla e forff eign authorities. While we believe that the targeted nature of our dual-sided fusff ion proteins
may carry a lower risk of overstimulating the immune system and causing a cytokine storm (a side effect associated with certain
other antibody therapies), we do not have enough clinical data and experience with these molecules in humans to fulff ly
anticipate side effecff ts. Accordingly, we may experience unexpected side effeff cts and/or higher levels of known side effecff ts in
clinical trials, such as cytokine storms associated with certain immunotherapia es or red blood cell lysis associated with some
CD47 targeting therapia es.

Results of our clinical trials could reveal a high and unacceptabla e severity and/or prevalence of these or other side
effeff cts. In such an event, our clinical trials could be suspended or terminated and the FDA or comparabla e forff eign authorities
could order us to cease furff ther development or deny appra oval of our product candidates forff any or all targeted indications. The
drug-r related side effects could affect patient recruir tment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the clinical trial or result
in potential product liabia lity claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business and financial condition significantly.

Further, clinical trials by their naturt e utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of
patients and limited durd ation of exposure, rare and severe side effects of our product candidates may only be uncovered with a
significantly larger number of patients exposed to the product candidate.

If we expexx rience delaysa or diffii culties iniii tiaii ting cliniii cal tritt al siteii s or enrollinll g patiett nts itt n oii ur clinll ical trials, os ur research and
developmll ent effe orff ts, bs usiness, finaii ncial conditioii n, and resultsll of operations could bll e matertt ially and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

Successfulff and timely completion of clinical trials will require that we initiate our clinical trial sites in a timely manner
and enroll a sufficff ient number of patient candidates. Trials have been and may continue to be subju ect to delays for a variety of
reasons, including as a result of delays to clinical trial site start up and initiation, patient enrollment taking longer than
anticipated, fewff er than expected patients who meet enrollment eligibility criteria, patient withdrawal, or AEs.

Our clinical trials compete with other clinical trials that are in the same therapeutic areas as our product candidates and/
or that seek to enroll the same specific patient populations as our clinical trials, which reduces the number and types of patients
availabla e to us. We also compete with head-to-head clinical trials, in which patients may preferff to participate, which may
further reducd e the number of patients availabla e to us. Moreover, enrolling patients in clinical trials for cancer therapies is
challenging, as cancer patients will firff st receive the appla icable standard of care. Many patients who respond positively to the
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standard of care therapya (and thus do not enroll in clinical trials) are believed to have tumt or types that may have responded well
to our product candidates. This may limit the number of eligible patients abla e to enroll in our clinical trials and could extend
development timelines or increase costs forff these programs. Patients who fail to respond positively to the standard of care
treatment will be eligible for clinical trials of unappra oved drug candidates. However, these patients may have either
compromised immune funcff tion from prior administration of chemotherapy or an enhanced immune response froff m the prior
administration of checkpoik nt inhibitors. Either of these prior treatment regimens may render our therapies less effective in
clinical trials. We have sought and may continue to seek to mitigate these effects in the future through modification of
enrollment eligibility criteria. Additionally, patients who have failed appra oved therapia es will typically have more advanced
cancer and a poorer long-term prognosis.

If we are unabla e to initiate or adequately enroll our clinical trial sites in the United States, the United Kingdom of Great
Britain, Canada, and Europe, our clinical trials may be delayed. Receiving approval forff and establishing clinical trial sites in
other countries may be more challenging or lengthy than in the United States. As a result of any of the aforementioned factff ors,
we may in the future decide to use clinical trial sites in other parts of the world. It may be more diffiff cult to control international
clinical trials and the results may be less reliabla e. In addition, if the international clinical trial was conducted in a country with
lower quality healthcare than in developed countries, the patients may experience side effeff cts not experienced by patients in
developed countries.

Delays in the completion of any clinical trial of our product candidates will increase our costs, slow down our product
candidate development and approval process, and delay or potentially jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and
generate revenue. In addition, some of the factff ors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical
trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory arr ppra oval of our product candidates.

Current and futff ure lawll s aw nd regue lations may ia ncii rease thett diffii culty and cost forff us, as nd any cn ollall boratortt s,rr to obtaitt nii
marketintt g appra oval of and commercialize our drug candiddd atdd estt and affea ct the prices we, oe r thett y,e may oa btaitt n.ii

Heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufactff urt ers set prices for their marketed products has
resulted in several recent Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among
other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufactff urt er patient
programs, and reforff m government program reimbursement methodologies for products. We expect that additional state and
federal healthcare reforff m measures will be adopted in the futff urt e, any of which could limit the amounts that fedff eral and state
governments will pay forff healthcare therapia es, which could result in reducd ed demand for our product candidates or additional
pricing pressures. In August 2022, President Biden signed into law the IRA, which, among other provisions, included several
measures intended to lower the cost of prescription drugs and enact related healthcare reforff ms. We cannot be sure whether
additional legislation or rulr emaking related to the IRA will be issued or enacted, or what impact, if any, such changes will have
on the profitabia lity of any of our drugr candidates, if approved forff commercial use, in the future.

We may ea xpeee nd our limill teii d resources to pursue a particularll product candiddd atdd e att nd fail to capia taii lize on product candiddd atdd estt
that may ba e more profio taii ble oll r forff which thett re is a greatertt likeii lihood of success.

Because we have limited financial resources, we focff us our research and development efforts on certain selected product
candidates. As a result, we may forff go or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates that later prove to have
greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viabla e commercial products
or profitaff bla e market opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs and product
candidates forff specificff indications may not yield any commercially viable product candidates. In addition, if we do not
accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market forff a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable
rights to that product candidate through collabora ation, licensing, or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have
been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product candidate.

Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment

The develdd opmll ent and commercializll atiott n of bo iopho armarr ceutictt al products itt s sii ubjeb ct to extensive regulatll iott n, and thett regue latory
approval processes of to hett FDA aDD nd comparable fll orff eigni authoritiett s are lengthy,h time-consuming, and inheii rentlytt
unpredictabltt e.ll If we are ultimatt tely unable to obtaitt n rii egulatll ortt y ar ppra oval for our product candiddd atdd estt on a timett ly basis, is f ai t
all,ll our business will bll e substantt tiallyll harmed.dd

The clinical development, manufacturt ing, labea ling, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, advertising, promotion, export,
import, marketing, distribution, adverse event reporting (including the submission of safety and other post-marketing
information and reports), and other possible activities relating to our product candidates are subju ect to extensive regulation.
Obtaining appra oval of a BLA can be a lengthy, expensive, and uncertain process, and as a company we have no experience with
the preparation of a BLA submu ission or any other application forff marketing appra oval. This lengthy approval process may result
in our failing to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval to market any of our product candidates, which would significantly harm our
business, results of operations, and prospects. See “Business—Government Regulation—BLA Submu ission and Review.”
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In addition, the FDA or comparabla e forff eign authorities may change the requirements forff clinical development and
approval, which may alter our clinical development plans and increase our costs. For example, the FDA published guidance in
January 2023 on “Projeo ct Optimus,” an initiative to improve dose selection in oncology drugr development with the goal of
optimizing the design of early dose-finding trials. If the FDA does not believe we have sufficiently demonstrated that the
selected doses for our product candidates maximize not only the effiff cacy of such candidate, but the safetff y and tolerabia lity as
well, our ability to progress our clinical trials and ultimately commercialize a product candidate may be delayed and our costs
may be increased.

Any regulatory arr ppra ovals that we may receive for our programs will require the submission of reports to regulatoryrr
authorities and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the program, may contain significant limitations related to use
restrictions for specified age groups, warnings, precautions or contraindications, and may include burdensome post-approval
studyt or risk management requirements. For example, the FDA may require a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy in order to
approve our programs, which could entail requirements forff a medication guide, physician training and communication plans or
additional elements to ensure safe uff se, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization
tools. In addition, if the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities appra ove our programs, our programs and the
activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their design, testing, manufactff urt e, safety,
effiff cacy, recordkeeping, labea ling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, distribution, import and export will be subju ect
to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory arr gencies in the United States and by comparable foreign
regulatory arr uthorities. These requirements include submu issions of safety and other post-marketing inforff mation and reports,
registration, as well as on-going compliance with current cGMPs and GCPs for any clinical trials that we conduct folff lowing
approval.

We may sa eek designi atiott ns under FDAFF programs desdd ignegg d to ftt acff ilitate and potentt tially expexx diteii product candiddd atdd ett
developmll ent, such as Fast Track or Breakthrtt oughu Therapy Designi atiott n. If we decide to pursue a Fast Track or
Breakthrtt oughu Therapy Designi atiott n by tb hett FDA,DD it may na ot lead to a fasff ter develdd opmll ent or regulatll ortt y rr eview or approval
process.

We may seek a Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy Designation for a product candidate. The FDA has broad discretion
whether or not to grant these designations, so even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for one or both of
these designations, we cannot assure you that the FDA would decide to grant it. Even if we do receive Fast Track or
Breakthrough Therapy Designation, we may not experience a fasff ter development process, review or approval compared to
conventional FDA procedurd es. The FDA may withdraw Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy Designation if it believes that the
designation is no longer supported by data froff m our clinical development program. See the section titled “Business—
Government Regulation—Expedited Development and Review Programs” for a more detailed description of the process forff
seeking Fast Track and/or Breakthrough Therapy Designation.

Disruii ptu iott ns at the FDAFF and other governmrr ent agea ncies could negate ivtt ely all ffea ct the review of our regulatll ortt y sr ubmissions,
which could negae tively ill mpii act our busineii ss.

The abia lity of the FDA to review and appra ove regulatory srr ubmissions can be affeff cted by a variety of factors, including
disruptr ions caused by government shutdowns and public health crises. Such disruptu ions could significantly impact the abia lity of
the FDA or other regulatory arr uthorities to timely review and process our regulatory srr ubmissions, which could have a material
adverse effecff t on our business.

Our research and developmll ent activtt ities could be affeff ctedtt or delayeda as a result oll f po ossibli e rll estrictions on animal testt tingii .gg

Certain laws and regulations require us to test our compounds on animals before initiating clinical trials involving
humans. To the extent the activities of animal rights groups are successfulff , our research and development activities may be
interruptr ed, delayed, or become more expensive.

Our business opeo rations and current and future relationshipsii withii healthll care profesff sionals,ll principalii investigatortt s,rr
consultall nts,tt vendordd s,rr customtt ers,rr and thitt rdii -pdd arty payors arr re subject to applicll able hll ealthcare laws, ws hich could ell xposee e us tott
penaltiett s.

Our business operations and current and futff urt e arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals, consultants,
third-party payors, patient organizations, and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abusa e and other
healthcare laws and regulations. These laws may constrain the business or finff ancial arrangements and relationships through
which we conduct our operations, including how we research, market, sell, and distribute our product candidates, if approved.
See “Business—Government Regulation—Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements” for a more detailed
description of the laws that may affect our ability to operate.

Ensuring that our internal operations and futff urt e business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable
healthcare laws and regulations will involve subsu tantial costs. If our operations are foundff to be in violation of any of these laws
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or any other governmental laws and regulations that may appla y to us, we may be subject to significant penalties, including civil,
criminal, and administrative penalties, as well as damages, fines, exclusion froff m government-funded healthcare programs,
integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non-compliance, disgorgement, individual imprisonment,
contractuat l damages, reputational harm, diminished profits, and the curtailment or restructurt ing of our operations. Further,
defending against any such actions can be costly, time-consuming, may require significant personnel resources, and may impair
our business even if we are successfulff in defending against such claims. Therefore, even if we are successfulff in defending
against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired.

Our employeeo s, indepeee ndendd t contractors, principalii investigati ortt s,rr contratt ct research organr izatiott ns (“CROs”),” consultall nts,tt
commercial partners,rr suppu liers,rr and vendors arr ctintt g forff us or on our behalf mll ay engage in misconduct or other imprm oper
activities, includindd g noncompliance with applicll able lll awll s aw nd regue lations.

We have adopted a code of conduct, but it is not always possible to identify aff nd deter such misconduct, and the
precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effeff ctive in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or
losses or in protecting us froff m governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming froff m a failure to comply with
these laws or regulations.

If we fail to comply withii enviroii nmental, healthll and safetff y ltt awll s and regue lations, ws e could become subject to fineii s or
penaltiett s or incii ur costs ttt hatt t could have a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on the success of oo ur busineii ss.

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safetff y laws and regulations, including those governing laboratoryrr
procedurd es and the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations may
involve the use of hazardous and flaff mmabla e materials, including chemicals and biological and radioactive materials. In
addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safetff y laws and
regulations. These current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or commercialization efforts.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial finff es, penalties or other sanctions.

Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

We operate in highi ly competittt ivtt e and rapia dly cll hanging indii ustries, which may result in othett rs discii overing, developill ngii , ogg r
commercializing compem ting products btt eforff e or more successfulff lyll than we do.

Our success is highly dependent on our ability to expeditiously discover, develop, and obtain marketing appra oval forff new
and innovative products on a cost-effeff ctive basis and market them successfulff ly. With the proliferff ation of new therapies,
including oncology drugsrr and immuno-therapies, we expect to face increasingly intense competition as new technologies
become availabla e. If we fail to stay at the forff efroff nt of technological innovation, we may be unabla e to compete effeff ctively.

The markerr t opporo tunitiii es for our product candiddd atdd estt may ba e limitell d to ttt hott se patiett nts wtt ho are ineii ligible for or have faiff leii d
prior trett atmett nts att nd may ba e small.

Cancer therapies are sometimes characterized by line of therapya (first, second, third, fourth, etc.), and the FDA ofteff n
initially approves new therapies only forff use in a particular line or lines of therapy. For example, we may initially seek approval
of our product candidates as a third-line therapya for patients who have failed other approved treatments. We may subsequently
seek approval as a second- and firff st-line therapy.a There is no guarantee that our product candidates, even if initially approved,
would be subsequently approved as a second or first line therapya . Because the potentially addressabla e patient target population
for our product candidates may be limited to patients who are ineligible for or have faiff led prior treatments, even if we obtain
significant market share forff our product candidates, we may never achieve profitaff bia lity.

We currentlytt are pursurr ing thett developmll ent of oo ur product candiddd atdd estt in combinatiott n with othett r appra oved therapeutictt s. If
the FDAFF revokes appra oval of any sn uch thett rapea utictt , oc r if si afetff y,tt effiff cacy, manufacff turingii , ogg r supplpp y ill ssuii es arise with anyn
therapeutictt that we use in cii ombinaii tion with one of oo ur product candiddd atdd estt in the futff ure, we may ba e unable tll o ftt urff ther
developll and/or// market our product candiddd atdd e ott r we may expexx rience signi ificff ant regulatll ortt y dr eldd ayll s or supplpp y sll hortagett s, and
our business could be materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

We currently are pursuing the development of our product candidates in combination with other appra oved therapea utics,
and we have commenced clinical trials of our product candidates in combination with other appra oved therapea utics in the future.
We have not developed or obtained regulatory arr ppra oval forff , nor will we manufactff urt e or sell, any of these approved
therapeutics. In addition, the combinations have not have been previously tested and may, among other things, faiff l to
demonstrate synergistic activity, faiff l to achieve supeu rior outcomes relative to the use of single agents or other combination
therapies, exacerbar te AEs associated with one of our product candidates when used as monotherapy,a or fail to demonstrate
sufficff ient safety or effiff cacy traits in clinical trials to enable us to complete those clinical trials or obtain marketing appra oval forff
the combination therapy.a
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If the FDA revokes its approval of any combination therapea utic, we will not be able to continue clinical development of
or market any product candidate in combination with such revoked therapea utic. If safetff y or efficacy issues arise with
therapeutics that we seek to combine with, we could experience significant regulatory drr elays, and the FDA could require us to
redesign or terminate the applicable clinical trials. In addition, we may need, forff supplu y, data referencing, or other purposrr es, to
collabora ate or otherwise engage with the companies who market these approved therapea utics. If we are unabla e to do so on a
timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, we may have to curtail the development of a product candidate or indication, reduce
or delay its development program, delay its potential commercialization or reducd e the scope of any sales or marketing activities.

Our product candiddd atdd estt for which we intend to seek approval may fa acff e compem tition sooner than anticipatedtt .dd

We believe that any of our product candidates appra oved as a biological product under a BLA should qualify fff orff the 12-
year period of exclusivity under the BPCIA. However, there is a risk that this exclusivity could be shortened dued to
congressional action or otherwise, or that the FDA will not consider our product candidates to be referff ence products for
competing products, potentially creating the opportunity for competition sooner than anticipated. See “Business—Government
Regulation—Biosimilars and Referff ence Product Exclusivity.”

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We rely on third parties to suppu ly raw matertt ials and to mtt anufacff ture our product candiddd atdd estt . TheTT manufacff ture of our
product candiddd atdd estt is complex aee nd our thitt rdii -pdd arty manufacff turers may ea ncountertt diffii culties in pii roductiott n, which could
delay oa r entirtt ely hll alt tll hett ir abilitii y ttt o stt upplpp y oll ur product candiddd atdd estt for clinical trials or, ir f ai ppra oved, fdd orff commercial sale.ll

The process of manufacff turing our product candidates is complex and requires significant expertise and capital
investment, including the development of advanced manufactff urt ing techniques and process controls that are in compliance with
cGMP. We do not currently own or operate any cGMP manufacff turing facilities, nor do we have any in-house cGMP
manufactff urt ing capabilities. We rely on third-party contract manufacturt ers to produce suffiff cient quantities of materials required
for the manufactff urt e, transport, and storage of our compounds and product candidates forff preclinical testing and clinical trials, in
compliance with appla icable regulatory arr nd quality standards. If we are unabla e to arrange for such third-party manufacff turing
sources, or faiff l to do so on commercially reasonabla e terms, we may not be able to successfulff ly produce suffiff cient supply of
product candidate or we may be delayed in doing so. Such faiff lure or subsu tantial delay could materially and adversely harm our
business.

We currently rely on a limited number of manufactff urt ers forff BDS. The loss of one or more of our current manufacff turers
or their faiff lure to supplu y us with BDS on a timely basis could result in our inability to develop and manufactff urt e our product
candidates, which could materially and adversely affect our business. The process forff identifyiff ng additional BDS manufacff turers
and successfulff ly produd cing BDS with those manufactff urt ers is lengthy and expensive, and there can be no assurance that any
additional manufactff urt ers will be abla e to successfulff ly produce satisfactory Brr DS on a timely basis or at all. If we are not able to
successfulff ly produce BDS with additional manufacff turers, our existing manufactff urt ers may need to increase manufacff turing
capacity to meet anticipated demand, which could involve significant challenges.

Because we rely on a limited number of third-party manufacff turers to provide our BDS, there can be no assurance that our
supplu y of BDS will not be limited or interruptu ed, have satisfactory qrr uality or product characteristics, or continue to be availabla e
at acceptabla e prices. There can also be no assurance that our manufactff urt ers will continue to meet regulatory rrr equirements forff
cGMP manufactff urt ing. We have experienced enrollment delays in our clinical trials as a result of delays in receipt of BDS. We
have limited control over the process or timing of the acquisition or manufactff urt e of materials by our manufactff urt ers, and cannot
ensure that they will deliver to us the BDS we order on time, or at all.

In the normal course of business, the process of manufactff urt ing our product candidates has been negatively impacted by
equipment faiff lure, improper installation or operation of equipment, vendor or operator error, inconsistency in yields, variability
in product characteristics, and difficulties in scaling the production process. Even minor deviations from normal manufacff turing
processes, which we have experienced, may result in reduced production yields and other supply disruptu ions, including delays
in receipt of product candidates forff our clinical trials. If microbial, viral, or other contaminations are discovered in our product
candidates or in the manufacff turing facilities in which our product candidates are made, this could lead to withdrawal of our
products from the market, and such manufactff urt ing facff ilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate
and remedy the contamination.

As part of our process development efforts, we also may make changes to our manufactff urt ing processes at various points
during development forff various reasons, such as controlling costs, achieving scale, decreasing processing time, increasing
manufactff urt ing success rate, or other reasons. We have invested in an in-house process development pilot plant to reduce our
reliance on third parties forff our process development efforff ts, however we cannot guarantee that these efforts will result in usefulff
changes to our manufacturt ing processes. Any changes to our manufactff urt ing processes carry the risk that they will not achieve
their intended objectives, and any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently and affect the
results of our ongoing clinical trials or future clinical trials. In some circumstances, changes in the manufactff urt ing process may
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require us to perform ex vivo comparability studit es and to collect additional data froff m patients prior to undertaking more
advanced clinical trials. We are preparing to scale up tu o a Phase 3 and commercial manufactff urt ing process, including
transferff ring our manufacff turing process to contract development and manufactff urt ing organizations (“CDMOs”), including those
that may not yet have completed a cGMP campaign with our product. There is no guarantee that the CDMOs that have
produced our clinical trial material to date will be suitabla e forff Phase 3 or commercial manufactff urt ing. Our product candidate has
not yet been manufacff tured on a commercial scale, and there are risks associated with the scaling up ou f the manufacff turing
process including, CDMO selection, cost overruns, potential problems with process scale-up, process reproducibility, stability
issues, lot consistency, supplu y chain disruptrr ions and timely availability of raw materials. Even if we obtain regulatory approval
for SL-172154, there is no assurance that the manufacturt er or manufactff urt ers we have arranged will be able to manufactff urt e the
approved product to specifications acceptabla e to the FDA or other regulatory arr uthorities, to produce it in suffiff cient quantities to
meet the requirements forff the potential launch of the product or to meet potential futff urt e demand.

In addition, the FDA and other regulatory arr uthorities require that our product candidates be manufactff urt ed according to
cGMPs and similar forff eign standards relating to methods, faciff lities, and controls used in the manufactff urt ing, processing,
packing, storage, and distribution of the product, which are intended to ensure that biological products are safe aff nd that they
consistently meet appla icable requirements and specificff ations. We are dependent on third parties forff all of these activities, and
we have limited abia lity to prevent or control the risk that such activities will not be in compliance with cGMP. In addition, the
storage and distribution of our product candidates forff use in clinical trials is subju ect to extensive regulation by the FDA and
other regulatory arr uthorities. Any faiff lure by our third-party manufactff urt ers to comply with cGMP or failure to scale upu
manufactff urt ing processes, including any faiff lure to deliver suffiff cient quantities of product candidates in a timely manner, could
lead to a delay in our clinical trials and development efforff ts, or a delay in or faiff lure to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval of any of our
product candidates.

Pharmaceutical manufacff turers are also subject to extensive oversight by the FDA and comparabla e regulatory arr uthorities
in other jurisdictions, which include periodic unannounced and announced inspections by the FDA to assess compliance with
cGMP requirements. If an FDA inspection of a manufactff urt er’s facilities reveals conditions that the FDA determines not to
comply with applicable regulatory rrr equirements, the FDA may issue observations through a Notice of Inspectional
Observations, commonly referff red to as a “Form FDA 483” report. If observations in the Form FDA 483 report are not
addressed in a timely manner and to the FDA’s satisfaction, the FDA may issue a Warning Letter or proceed directly to other
forms of enforff cement action. Any faiff lure by one of our contract manufactff urt ers to comply with cGMP or to provide adequate
and timely corrective actions in response to deficff iencies identifieff d in a regulatory irr nspection could result in furff ther enforcement
action that could lead to a shortage of products and harm our business. The faiff lure of a manufactff urt er to address any concerns
raised by the FDA or foreign regulators could also lead to plant shutdown or the delay or withholding of product appra oval by
the FDA in additional indications, or by forff eign regulators in any indication. Moreover, if the FDA determines that our third-
party manufactff urt ers are not in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including those governing cGMPs, the FDA
may deny BLA approval until the deficff iencies are corrected or we replace the manufactff urt er in our BLA with a manufacff turer
that is in compliance. Certain countries may impose additional requirements on the manufactff urt ing of drug products or drugr
subsu tances, and on manufacff turers, as part of the regulatory arr ppra oval process forff products in such countries. The failure by our
third-party manufactff urt ers to satisfy such requirements could impact our ability to obtain or maintain appra oval of our products in
such countries.

We rely, ayy nd expexx ct to contintt ue to rely, oyy n thitt rdii parties to conduct preclinll ical studiedd s, nonclinical studiedd s, and clinical trials.
If these thitt rdii parties do ndd ot successfulff lyll carry out thett ir contratt ctual dutiett s, comply withii applicll able rll egulatll ortt y rr equireii ments,tt
or meet expexx ctedtt deadlinll es, ws e may not be able tll o ott btaitt n rii egulatll ortt y ar uthott rizaii tions or approvals rll equireii d to dtt eveldd opll or
commercializll e our product candiddd atdd estt and our busineii ss could bll e matertt ially and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

We have relied, and plan to continue to rely, uponu third parties, including independent clinical investigators and third-
party CROs, to help establa ish and conduct certain preclinical studit es, nonclinical studit es, and clinical trials and to monitor,
record, and manage data for our ongoing preclinical, nonclinical, and clinical programs. We rely on these parties forff execution
of certain preclinical studit es and clinical trials, and control only certain aspects of their activities. As a result, we will have less
direct control over the conduct, timing, and completion of these preclinical studit es, nonclinical studit es, and clinical trials and
the management of data developed through these preclinical studit es and clinical trials than would be the case if we were relying
entirely uponu our own staff. If we or any of these third parties fail to comply with applicable good labora atory prr ractice, or good
clinical practice regulations, such data may be deemed unreliabla e and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities
may require us to perform additional preclinical or nonclinical studit es, or clinical trials before approving our marketing
applications. Moreover, our business may be implicated if any of these third parties violates fedff eral or state fraff ud and abusa e or
false claims laws and regulations or healthcare privacy and security laws.

The investigators and CROs are not our employees and we will not be able to control, other than by contract, the amount
of resources, including time, that they devote to our product candidates and clinical trials. There is a limited number of third-
party service providers that specialize in or have the expertise required to achieve our business objectives. If any of our
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relationships with these third parties terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative third parties or to
do so in a timely manner or on commercially reasonabla e terms. If the third parties do not successfulff ly carry out their contractuat l
duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines; if they need to be replaced; or if the quality or accuracy of the preclinical,
nonclinical, or clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the faiff lure to adhere to our preclinical or clinical protocols,
regulatory rrr equirements, or for other reasons, our preclinical studit es, nonclinical studit es, or clinical trials may be extended,
delayed, or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval forff or successfulff ly commercialize our product
candidates.

We may na ot realizll e thett benefie tsii of any en xiee stii intt g or futff ure collall borativtt e or licll ensingii arrangement, and if wi e faiff l tii o ett ntertt into
new strategtt ic relationshipsii our business, finaii ncial conditiii on, commercializatiott n prospects,tt and resultsll of operations may ba e
materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

We have entered into, and may decide in the futff urt e to enter into, collabora ations with pharmaceutical or
biopharmaceutical companies, including our collabora ation with Ono, for the development and potential commercialization of
certain of our product candidates. We cannot be certain that, folff lowing a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the
results, revenue, or specificff net income that justifieff s such transaction. We may not be able to control the amount and timing of
resources that is required of us to complete our development obligations or that the collabora ation partner devotes to the product
development or marketing programs. We also may not be able to ensure that our collabora ation partner adequately protects and
does not misuse our intellectuat l property. We and our collabora ation partner may disagree regarding the research plan or the
development plan forff product candidates on which we are collabora ating and disputes could arise between the collabora ators and
us that result in the delay or termination of the research, development or commercialization of our product candidates or that
result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources. If our strategic collabora ations do not
result in the successfulff development and commercialization of product candidates or if one of our collabora ators faiff ls to act
under the collaboration agreement or terminates its agreement with us, we may not receive any futff urt e research funding or
milestone or royalty payments under the collabora ation. For example, if Ono decides not to exercise its option to obtain an
exclusive, sublu icensabla e license to research, develop, manufacff ture and commercialize products resulting froff m the Development
Compounds under the Ono Agreement, we would not receive any of the potential licensing fees or clinical, regulatory arr nd
commercial milestone payments thereunder. In addition, if a collabora ation is terminated, it may result in a need for additional
capital to pursue furff ther development or commercialization of the appla icable product candidates. If we license products or
businesses, we may not be able to realize the benefit of such transactions if we are unabla e to successfulff ly integrate such
products or business into our existing operations and company culture.

If we are unable tll o ott btaitt n sii uffiff cient raw and intii ertt merr diate mtt atertt ials on a timett ly basis or if we expexx rience othett r supplpp yll
diffii cultiett s, our business may be materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

We work closely with our supplu iers to ensure the continuity of supplu y of raw and intermediate materials but cannot
guarantee these efforff ts will always be successfulff . We have experienced, and may continue to experience in the futff urt e, raw and
intermediate materials supply shortages, which has contributed to manufactff urt ing delays and impacted the progress of our
clinical trials. Further, while we work to diversify off ur sources of raw and intermediate materials, in certain instances we acquire
raw and intermediate materials froff m a sole supplu ier, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to quickly establa ish
additional or replacement sources forff some materials. A reducd tion or interruptu ion in supply, and an inabia lity to develop
alternative sources for such supply, could adversely affect our ability to manufactff urt e our product candidates in a timely or cost-
effeff ctive manner and could delay completion of our clinical trials, product testing, and potential regulatory arr ppra oval of our
product candidates.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property and Information Technology

Our success depdd ends upon our abilityii to obtaitt n aii nd maintain patentt ts and other intellectual propeo rty rtt ightgg s ttt o ptt rotect our
technologyo , iyy ncii ludingii product candiddd atdd estt from our ARC and platforff m,rr methods used to manufacff ture those product
candiddd atdd estt , fs orff murr lations thereof,o and thett methods for trett atintt g patiett nts utt singii those product candiddd atdd estt .

The prosecution, enforcement, defense, and maintenance of intellectuat l property rights is often challenging, costly, and
uncertain. Contributors to these challenges and uncertainty include the early stage of our products and our intellectuat l property
portfolff io development; the unpredictabia lity of what patent claim scope will ultimately be issued to protect our products and how
the law will change or develop as to scope, length, and enforff cement of patent protection; the competitive and crowded immune-
oncology space; complicated and unforff giving procedurd al, documentary, and fee requirements of the U.S. PTO, and forff eign
patent offiff ces; lack of perfect visibility into what our competitors are doing and the patent claim scope they are obtaining; lack
of perfecff t abia lity to determine what prior art may exist; and the expense and time consuming naturt e of patent portfolff io
development across relevant jurisdictions. For at least these reasons, the issuance, scope, validity, enforff ceability, and
commercial value of our current or future patent rights are highly uncertain. We cannot be sure that patent coverage will issue,
or will be maintained, to protect our products in some or all relevant jurisdictions. We cannot be sure that we will not encounter
freedom-to-operate challenges in the development and commercialization of our product candidates. We cannot be sure our
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trademarks and trade names are sufficient to build name recognition in our markets of interest. We cannot be sure our measures
to protect our trade secrets will be sufficient. Failure to protect or enforce these rights adequately could harm our ability to
develop and market our product candidates and could impair our business.

Othett rs may ca hallenge our patentt ts or othett r intii eltt lell ctual propeo rty att s invii alidll or unenforff ceable.ll

Our patent appla ications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in such appla ications
unless and until a patent issues from such appla ications, and then only to the extent the issued claims cover the technology.
Given the amount of time required forff the development, testing and regulatory rrr eview of new product candidates, patents
protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our intellectuat l
property may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.
Even if patents do successfulff ly issue and even if such patents cover our product candidates and extend for a commercially-
relevant time, third parties may initiate invalidity, non-infringement, opposition, interference, re-examination, post-grant
review, inter partes review, nullificff ation, or derivation actions in court, before patent offiff ces, or similar proceedings challenging
the validity, inventorship, ownership, enforff ceability, or scope of such patents, which may result in the patent claims being
narrowed, invalidated, held unenforff ceable, or circumvented. Such challenges and potential negative results could materially and
adversely affect our business.

Furthermore, even where we have a valid and enforff ceabla e patent, we may not be able to exclude others from practicing
our invention, such as where the other party can show that they used the invention in commerce beforff e our filing date or the
other party benefits from a compulsory license. Additionally, some countries, including China and India, have compulsory
licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties; and some countries limit the
enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have
limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. Additionally, our competitors or other third parties
may be abla e to evade our patent rights by developing new fusff ion proteins, antibodies, biosimilar antibodies, or alternative
technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. These risks may impact our ability to enjon y the protection we obtain, and
may materially and adversely impact our business.

Our commercial success depeee nds,dd in part, on our abiliii tyii to develop,ll manufacff ture, me arkerr t, and sell oll ur product candiddd atdd estt
withii out infii riff ngii ing or otherwiseii violatll intt g thett intellectll ual propeo rty att nd othett r propro ietary righi ts of third parties.

Others may accuse us of infriff nging their intellectuat l property. Contested proceedings are lengthy, time consuming, and
costly, and we cannot guarantee that our operations and activities do not, or will not in the futff urt e, infringe existing or futff urt e
patents. We also cannot guarantee that any of our patent searches or analyses, including the identificff ation of relevant patents,
the scope of patent claims, or the expiration of relevant patents, are complete or thorough, nor can we be certain that we have
identifieff d each and every third-party patent and pending application in the United States and abroad that is relevant to our
product candidates or necessary for the commercialization of our product candidates in any jurisdiction. Furthermore, we may
be subju ect to third-party claims asserting that our employees, consultants, contractors, collabora ators, or advisors have
misappropriated or wrongfulff ly used or disseminated their intellectuat l property, or claiming ownership of what we regard as our
own intellectuat l property. These and related risks to defending against third-party claims may materially and adversely affect
our business.

Our competitors in both the United States and abroad, many of which have subsu tantially greater resources and have made
subsu tantial investments in patent portfolff ios and competing technologies, may have applied forff or obtained or may in the futff urt e
apply forff and obtain, patents that will prevent, limit, or otherwise interfere with our ability to make, use, and sell our product
candidates. We do not always conduct independent reviews of pending patent applications of and patents issued to third parties.
As such, there may be appla ications of third parties now pending or recently revived patents of which we are unaware.

Our interprr etation of the relevance or the scope of a patent or a pending application may be incorrect, which may
negatively impact our ability to market our product candidates. We may incorrectly determine that our product candidates are
not covered by a third-party patent or may incorrectly predict whether a third party’s pending application will issue with claims
of relevant scope. Our determination of the expiration date of any patent in the United States or abra oad that we consider
relevant may be incorrect, which may negatively impact our ability to develop and market our product candidates. We cannot
provide any assurances that third-party patents do not exist that might be enforced against our current technology, including our
platform technologies, product candidates and their respective methods of use, manufactff urt e, and forff mulations thereof, and
could result in either an injunction prohibiting our manufactff urt e, future sales, or, with respect to our future sales, an obligation
on our part to pay royalties and/or other forff ms of compensation to third parties, which could be significant.

We rely, iyy n pii art, on in-licll ensed patentt ts and other intellecll tual property rtt ightgg s ttt o dtt eveldd opll and commercialize our product
candiddd atdd estt . We mWW ay need to obtaitt n aii dditioii nal licll enses of to hitt rdii -pdd arty technologyo that may na ot be availaii ble tll o utt s or are
availaii ble oll nly oll n commercially ull nreasonable tll ertt msrr , as nd which may cause us to ott peo rate our business in aii more costlytt or
othett rwise adverserr manner that was not anticipatedtt .dd
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Our competitive position may suffer if patents issued to third parties or other third-party intellectuat l property rights cover
our methods or product candidates or elements thereof, off ur manufactff urt e or uses relevant to our development plans, our product
candidates or other attributes of our product candidates, or our compounds, including those froff m our ARC platforff m. In such
cases, we may not be in a position to develop or commercialize product candidates unless we successfulff ly pursue litigation to
nullify off r invalidate the third-party intellectuat l property right concerned, which can be expensive and time-consuming, or we
may have to enter into a license agreement with the intellectuat l property right holder, which may not be availabla e on
commercially reasonabla e terms, if at all.

There is a subsu tantial amount of intellectuat l property litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, and
we may become party to, or threatened with, litigation or other adversarial proceedings regarding intellectuat l property rights
with respect to our product candidates. Parties making claims against us may seek and obtain injunctive or other equitabla e
relief, which could effectively block our ability to further develop and commercialize our product candidates. For example, we
are aware of a patent that may impact our competitive position with respect to SL-172154. The patent lists claims that generally
relate to methods of using fusff ion proteins to treat certain types of cancers. While we believe that the claims may not be valid
and that they may be reasonabla y challenged forff validity, there can be no assurance that any such challenge would be successfulff ,
in which case we may be required to obtain a license in order to commercialize our product candidate, if appra oved. The targets
of our product candidates have also been the subject of research by many companies that have fileff d patent appla ications or have
patents related to such targets and therapeutics methods related to those targets.

Disputes may arise with our licensors of patents and other intellectuat l property rights. We may yet need to obtain
licenses froff m others forff continued development and commercialization of our product candidates, and we may be unabla e to
secure those licenses on commercially reasonabla e terms or at all. Should we be required to obtain licenses to any third-party
technology, including any such patents required to manufactff urt e, use, or sell our product candidates, the growth of our business
will likely depend in part on our ability to acquire, in-license, maintain, or use these proprietary rights. The inabia lity to obtain
any third-party license required to develop or commercialize any of our product candidates could cause us to abandon any
related efforts, which could seriously harm our business and operations.

In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. We also
may be unabla e to license or acquire third-party intellectuat l property rights on terms that would allow us to make an appra opriate
return on our investment. Even if we are able to obtain a license, it may be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access
to the same technologies licensed to us. If we are unabla e to successfulff ly obtain a license to third-party intellectuat l property
rights necessary for the development of a product candidate or program, we may have to abandon development of that product
candidate or program and our business and financial condition could suffeff r.

In addition, all licenses impose obligations upon us that must be met to maintain the license. If we are unabla e to meet
these obligations, we may be required to pay damages and our licensors may be abla e to license their rights to other third parties,
including our competitors, and our competitors could market competing products and technology. In addition, we and/or our
licensors must cooperate in order to enforff ce such patents against third parties, and such cooperation may not be provided. We
also may rely on our licensors to file and prosecute patent applications and maintain patents and otherwise protect the
intellectuat l property rights we license from them and may have limited control over these activities or any other intellectuat l
property rights that may be related to our in-licensed intellectuat l property rights.

In addition, our competitors may independently develop substantially equivalent trade secrets, proprietary information,
or know-how and may even apply forff patent protection in respect of the same. If successfulff in obtaining such patent protection,
our competitors could limit our use of our trade secrets and/or confidential know-how. Under certain circumstances, and to
make it more likely that we have our freedom to operate, we may also decide to publish some know-how to make it difficult for
others to obtain patent rights covering such know-how, at the risk of potentially exposing our trade secrets to our competitors.
Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of
operations, and prospects.

We depeee nd on intellell ctual propeo rty ltt icll ensed froff m thitt rdii parties and if wi e faiff l tii o ctt omplm y wll ith our obligll atiott ns underdd anyn
license, ce ollall boratiott n or other agreements, ws e may be required to pay damages and could lll osll e intii eltt lell ctual propeo rty rtt ightgg stt
that are necessary for devedd lopio ngii and protectintt g our product candiddd atdd estt or we could lll osll e certain righi ts to grant sublicenses.

Our current licenses impose, and any future licenses we enter into are likely to impose, various development,
commercialization, funding, milestone, royalty, diligence, sublu icensing, insurance, patent prosecution and enforcement, and/or
other obligations on us. If we breach any of these obligations, or use the intellectuat l property licensed to us in an unauthorized
manner, we may be required to pay damages and the licensor may have the right to terminate the license, which could result in
us being unabla e to develop, manufactff urt e, and sell any future products that are covered by the licensed technology or enable a
competitor to gain access to the licensed technology. Moreover, our licensors may own or control intellectuat l property that has
not been licensed to us and, as a result, we may be subject to claims, regardless of their merit, that we are infriff nging or
otherwise violating the licensor’s rights. In addition, while we cannot determine currently the amount of the royalty obligations
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we would be required to pay on sales of futff urt e products, if any, the amounts may be significant. The amount of our future
royalty obligations will depend on the technology and intellectuat l property we use in products that we successfulff ly develop and
commercialize, if any. Thereforff e, even if we successfulff ly develop and commercialize products, we may be unabla e to achieve or
maintain profitaff bia lity.

We enjon y oo nly lll imll itedtt geographical protecttt iott n with respect to ctt ertain patentt ts and may not be able tll o ptt rotect our intii eltt lell ctual
property rtt ightgg s ttt hrtt oughu out thett world.ll

Patents are of national or regional effect. While we will endeavor to try trr o protect our technologies, products and product
candidates with intellectuat l property rights such as patents throughout the world, as appra opriate, the process of obtaining
patents is time-consuming, expensive, and sometimes unpredictabla e in other countries. In addition, differences in patent laws
throughout the world may make it diffiff cult to obtain uniform patent coverage in the jurisdictions where we have patent
protection. We may not be able to file, prosecute, maintain, enforce, or license all necessary or desirabla e patent rights at a
commercially reasonabla e cost or in a timely manner. In addition, we may not pursue or obtain patent protection in all markets.
We have not, and will not, filff e forff patent protection in all national and regional jurisdictions where such protection may be
availabla e. Filing, prosecuting, and defenff ding patents on all of our research programs, compounds, and product candidates in all
countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and, thereforff e, the scope and strength of our intellectuat l
property rights will vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

Changes in pii atentt t lawll s iw n tii hett United StaSS tes and in foreign jgg urisdictiott ns could dll imindd ish thett value of po atentt ts in general,
thereby ib mpii airiii ngii our abiliii tyii to protecttt our products.tt

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States or in forff eign jurisdictions could
increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of patent appla ications and the enforcement or defenff se of issued
patents. The patent laws of the U.S. and forff eign jurisdictions, as well as the rules of the U.S. PTO and foreign patent officff es,
change from time to time. Further changes to the patent laws and/or rules of the U.S. PTO and foreign patent offices may have a
significant impact on our ability to protect our technology and enforff ce our intellectuat l property rights. The Supreme Court and
other fedff eral courts also regularly rule on patent cases, including those involving the life sff ciences. Those decisions can change
the interprr etation of patent laws; for example, narrowing the scope of patent protection availabla e in certain circumstances or
weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. These changes to patent laws and subsu equent court decisions related
to patent rights have created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents once obtained. Depending on decisions by
Congress, the fedff eral courts and the U.S. PTO, and similar legislative and regulatory brr odies in other countries in which we may
pursue patent protection, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictabla e ways that would weaken our
ability to obtain new patents or to enforff ce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.

We may ba ecome subject to claill msii challell nging thett inventortt shrr ip or ownership of our patentt ts and other intellectual propeo rty.tt

We generally enter into confidff entiality and intellectuat l property assignment agreements with our employees, consultants,
and contractors. These agreements generally provide that inventions conceived by the party in the course of rendering services
to us will be our exclusive property. However, those agreements may not be honored and may not effeff ctively assign intellectuat l
property rights to us. Moreover, there may be some circumstances where we are unabla e to negotiate for such ownership rights.
Disputes regarding ownership or inventorship of intellectuat l property can also arise in other contexts, such as collabora ations and
sponsored research. If we are subju ect to a dispute challenging our rights in or to patents or other intellectuat l property, such a
dispute could be expensive and time consuming. If we were unsuccessfulff , we could lose valuabla e rights in intellectuat l property
that we regard as our own.

Intellectual propeo rty rtt ightgg s dtt o ndd ot necessarilyii address all potentt tial thrtt eats to our compem titive advantagea .ee

The degree of futff urt e protection afforded by our intellectuat l property rights is uncertain because intellectuat l property
rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect our business, or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage.
Moreover, if a third party has intellectuat l property rights that cover the practice of our technology, we may not be able to fully
exercise or extract value from our intellectuat l property rights. The folff lowing examples are illustrative:

• others may be able to make product candidates similar to our product candidates but that are not covered by the claims
of the patents that we own or have exclusively licensed;

• the patents of third parties may have a material and adverse effect on our business;

• we or any future strategic partners might not have been the firff st to conceive or reduce to practice the inventions
covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we own or have exclusively licensed;

• we or any future strategic partners might not have been the firff st to file patent applications covering certain of our
inventions;
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• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without
infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating our intellectuat l property rights;

• our pending patent applications might not lead to issued patents;

• issued patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may not provide us with any competitive advantage, or may be
held invalid or unenforff ceabla e, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

• we cannot predict the degree and range of protection any issued patents will affoff rd us against competitors, whether or
not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patents and patent applications, or
whether we will need to initiate litigation or administrative proceedings which may be costly whether we win or lose;

• our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and
then use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our majoa r commercial
markets;

• third parties performing manufacff turing or testing forff us using our product candidates or technologies could use the
intellectuat l property of others without obtaining a proper license; and

• we may not develop additional technologies that are patentabla e.

Should any of these events occur, they could significantly harm our business, results of operations, and prospects.

We rely on trade secret and propro ietary know-how, ww hich can be difdd fiff cult to trace and enfon rce and, idd f wi e are unable tll ott
protecttt the confin dentiatt lity ott f oo ur trade secrets,tt our business and competitivtt e position would be harmed.dd

Trade secrets and/or proprietary know-how can be difficult to protect or maintain as confidff ential. To protect this type of
information against disclosure or appropriation by competitors, we generally require our employees, consultants, contractors,
collabora ators, advisors, and other third parties to enter into confidff entiality agreements with us. Despite these efforts, any of
these parties may unintentionally or willfulff ly breach the agreements and disclose our confidff ential inforff mation, and
confidff entiality agreements may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidff ential
information. Monitoring unauthorized uses and disclosures is difficff ult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to
protect our proprietary technologies will be effeff ctive. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using trade
secrets and/or confidff ential know-how is also expensive, time-consuming, and unpredictabla e.

The enforff ceabia lity of confidff entiality agreements may vary frr roff m jurisdiction to jurisdiction. The laws of some forff eign
countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United States. As a result,
we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectuat l property both in the United States and
abroad. Furthermore, if a competitor lawfully obtained or independently developed any of our trade secrets, we would have no
right to prevent such competitor froff m using that technology or information to compete with us, which could harm our
competitive position. Additionally, if the steps taken to maintain our trade secrets are deemed inadequate, we may have
insufficient recourse against third parties forff misappropriating the trade secret. In addition, some courts inside and outside the
United States are less willing or are unwilling to protect trade secrets or other proprietary information.

Any sn ort of co ontestedtt proceedindd g relatll edtt to intellecll tual property,tt whethett r offeo nsive or defdd enff sive, may ca ause us to incur
signi ificff ant expeee nses and would be likely tll o dtt ivdd ert signigg fii cant resources from our core business, includindd g disdd tractingii our
technical and managea ment personnel froff m thett ir normal responsibii litieii s, and may impact our repuee tation.

There could be public announcements of the results of or developments in hearings, motions or other interim proceedings
and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results or developments to be negative, it could have a material and adverse
effeff ct on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and
reduce our resources available for development activities. We may not have sufficient finff ancial or other resources to adequately
conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be abla e to sustain the costs of such litigation or
proceedings more effeff ctively than we can because of their greater financial resources. Infriff ngement or related suits against us
by others could result in damages awards against us or injunction or other equitabla e relief precluding continued
commercialization of our products. Uncertainties resulting froff m the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other
proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace.

Obtaining and maintaining our patentt t protectiott n depdd ends on compliance with various procedural, dll ocdd ument submissiii on, feeff
payment, att nd othett r requireii ments itt mpii osed by governmental patentt t agea ncies, and our patentt t protectiott n could be reduced or
elimll inatedtt for noncompliance with these requireii ments.tt

Periodic maintenance and annuity fees on any issued patent are dued to be paid to the U.S. PTO and forff eign patent
agencies in several stages over the lifetff ime of the patent. The U.S. PTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies
require compliance with a number of procedurd al, documentary, feeff payment, and other similar provisions during the patent
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application process and in order to maintain the patent once issued. While an inadvertent lapse can, in many cases, be cured by
payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the appla icable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance
can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent appla ication, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the
relevant jurisdiction. Noncompliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent appla ication include
failure to respond to offiff cial actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of feesff , and failure to properly legalize and
submu it formal documents within prescribed time limits. If we fail to maintain the patents and patent appla ications covering our
product candidates or if we otherwise allow our patents or patent appla ications to be abandoned or lapse, our competitors might
be able to enter the market, which would have a material and adverse effect on our business.

Our infii orff marr tion tectt hnologyll systemtt s, or those used by ob ur CROs or other contratt ctortt s orr r consultants,tt may fa aiff l oii r suffeff r
securityii breaches, ws hich could mll atertt ially and adverserr ly affeff ct our business.

In the ordinary crr ourse of our business, we collect, store, and transmit large amounts of confidff ential inforff mation in digital
form. Despite the implementation of security measures, our information technology systems and data, and those of our current
or future CROs or other contractors and consultants, are vulnerabla e to compromise or damage froff m computer hacking,
malicious software, fraff udulent activity, employee misconduct, human error, telecommunication and electrical failures, natural
disasters, or other cybersecurity attacks or accidents. While we continue to make investments to improve the protection of data
and inforff mation technology, there can be no assurance that our effoff rts will prevent service interruptu ions or security breaches.
Although, to our knowledge, we have not experienced any material cybersecurity incident to date, if such an event were to
occur, it could seriously harm our development programs and our business operations or subju ect us to litigation or regulatoryrr
actions taken by governmental authorities. See Part I, Item 1. “Business—Government Regulation—Data Privacy and Security”
and Part I, item 1C. “Cybersecurity.” Further, a cybersecurity incident may disruptu our business or damage our reputation,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, operating results, share price, stockholder value, and
financial condition. We could also incur subsu tantial remediation costs, including the costs of investigating the incident,
repairing or replacing damaged systems, restoring normal business operations, implementing increased cybersecurity
protections, and paying increased insurance premiums.

In addition, because we collect, store and transmit confidff ential information in digital forff m, we, and third parties who we
work with, are or may become subject to numerous domestic and forff eign laws, regulations, and standards relating to privacy,
data protection, and data security, the scope of which is changing, subju ect to differing applications and interprr etations, and may
be inconsistent among countries, or conflicff t with other rulr es. We are or may become subju ect to the terms of contractuat l
obligations related to privacy, data protection, and data security. Our obligations may also change or expand as our business
grows. The actuat l or perceived failure by us or third parties related to us to comply with such laws, regulations and obligations
could increase our compliance and operational costs, expose us to regulatory srr crutr iny, actions, finff es and penalties, result in
reputational harm, lead to a loss of customers, result in litigation and liabia lity, and otherwise cause a material adverse effectff on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations. See the section titled “Business—Government Regulation—Data
Privacy and Security” for a more detailed description of the laws that may affeff ct our ability to operate.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile oll r may declinll e regardlesll s of oo ur operating perfor rmance, resulting in sii ubstantt tial losll ses forff
investors.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of
factors, some of which are related in complex ways and many of which are beyond our control, including the factff ors described
in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, the stock market in general, and The Nasdaq Stock Market, and biopharmaceutical companies in particular,
have experienced extreme price and volume fluff ctuat tions that have ofteff n been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of these companies. Broad market and industry frr acff tors may negatively affect the market price of our common
stock, regardless of our actuat l operating performance. Securities class action litigation has ofteff n been instituted against
companies folff lowing periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities. We have in the past been subju ect to
securities class action litigation folff lowing periods of volatility in the market price of our securities. While this litigation was
settled, if any similar litigation was instituted in the future, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s
attention and resources, which would harm our business, operating results, or finff ancial condition. See the discussion of Legal
Proceedings in Part I, Item 3 of this Form 10-K.

Our princii ipal stoctt kholdell rs and management own a signigg fii cant percentagea of our stock and are able tll o ett xeee rt signi ificff ant
contrott l over mattertt s srr ubjeb ct to stoctt kholdell r appra oval.ll

As of Februarr ry 1, 2024, our executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of our capital stock and their respective
affiff liates beneficially owned a significant percentage of our outstanding common stock. Therefore, these stockholders have the
ability to influence us through this ownership position and may be abla e to determine all matters requiring stockholder appra oval.
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For example, these stockholders may be abla e to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or
approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other majoa r corpor rate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited
acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may feelff are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.

A sale oll f ao substantiatt l number of so hares of oo ur common stoctt k may cause thett price of oo ur common stock to declinll e.

We cannot predict what effect, if any, sales of our shares in the public market or the availabia lity of shares for sale will
have on the market price of our common stock. However, futff urt e sales of subsu tantial amounts of our common stock in the public
market, including shares sold through our ATM Facility or shares issued upon exercise of outstanding options or warrants, or
the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. We also expect that
significant additional capital may be needed in the futff urt e to continue our planned operations. To raise capital, we may sell
common stock, convertible securities, or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we
determine froff m time to time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to
sell shares, could reducd e the market price of our common stock.

Because we do not antictt ipate ptt aying any dividends odd n our capia taii l stock in the forff eseeable fll utff ure, capia taii l appra eciatiott n,
if any,n willii be your sole source of gain.ii

We have never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if
any, to finance the growth and development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying
any dividends for the foreseeable future. As a result, capital appra eciation, if any, of our common stock will be your sole source
of gain for the foreseeabla e futff urt e.

General Risk Factors

Our business could be adverserr ly affeff ctedtt by economic downturns, is nfii laff tion, increases in iii ntii ertt est ratestt , ns atural disaii stertt s,rr
publicll healthll crises, ss uch as pandemics, politicll al crises, gs eopolo iticll al events, os r other macroeconomic conditiodd ns, ws hich
could hll ave a matertt ial and adverserr effeff ct on our resultsll of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

The global economy, including credit and finff ancial markets, has experienced extreme volatility and disruptu ions,
including, among other things, diminished liquidity and credit availabia lity, declines in consumer confidff ence, declines in
economic growth, supply chain shortages, increases in inflation rates, higher interest rates, and uncertainty about economic
stability. For example, higher interest rates, coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets, may
increase economic uncertainty and affect consumer spending, and ongoing military conflicff ts throughout the world have created
extreme volatility in the global capital markets and may have further global economic consequences, including disruptrr ions of
the global supply chain. Any such volatility and disruptu ions may adversely affect our business or the third parties on whom we
rely. If the equity and credit markets deteriorate, including as a result of political unrest or war, it may make any necessary debt
or equity financing more costly, more dilutive, or more difficult to obtain in a timely manner or on favff orable terms, if at all.
Increased inflation rates can adversely affect us by increasing our costs, including labora and employee benefitff costs.

We have experienced and may in the future experience disruptr ions as a result of such macroeconomic conditions,
including delays or difficulties in initiating or expanding clinical trials and manufactff urt ing suffiff cient quantities of materials. Any
one or a combination of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations and finff ancial
condition.

Adverdd serr developmll ents affeff ctintt g thett finaii ncial services indii ustry,r includindd g events or concerns involving liqll uidityii , dyy efdd auff lts ott r
non-pe- rforff marr nce by fb inff ancial institutt tions or transactiott nal countertt parrr ties, could all dverserr ly affeff ct our business, finaii ncial
conditiodd n or resultsll of operations.

Our cash held in non-interest-bearing and interest-bearing accounts exceeds the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporrr ation
(“FDIC”) insurance limits. If such banking institutions were to fail, we could lose all or a portion of those amounts held in
excess of such insurance limitations. For example, the FDIC took control of Silicon Valley Bank on March 10, 2023. The
Federal Reserve subsu equently announced that account holders would be made whole. However, the FDIC may not make all
account holders whole in the event of futff urt e bank faiff lures. In addition, even if account holders are ultimately made whole with
respect to a futff urt e bank faiff lure, account holders’ access to their accounts and assets held in their accounts may be subsu tantially
delayed. Any material loss that we may experience in the futff urt e or inabia lity for a material time period to access our cash and
cash equivalents could have an adverse effect on our ability to pay our operational expenses or make other payments, which
could adversely affect our business.

If securitieii s or indii ustrytt analysll ts eithii er do not publishii research about us or publish inaii ccurate or unfavff orable rll esearch
about us, our business or our market, ott r if ti hett y ce hange thett ir recommendatdd iott ns regare dingii our common stock adverserr ly, tyy hett
tradingii price or tratt dingii volume of our common stock could dll ecdd line.
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The trading market for our common stock depends in part upon research and reports that securities or industry arr nalysts
may publish aboua t us, our business, our market, or our competitors. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of
us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the finff ancial markets, which in turt n could cause the
trading price or trading volume of our common stock to decline. In addition, the price of our common stock could decline if one
or more analysts downgrade our stock or issue other unfavff orable commentary orr r research.

The requireii ments ott f bo eingii a public company mn ay stratt in our resources, rs esult ill n lii itigll atiott n, and divdd ert management’s
attett ntiott n.

As a public company, we are subjeb ct to certain reporting requirements, listing requirements, and other applicable
securities rules and regulations. Complying with these rulr es and regulations has increased and will continue to increase our
legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time consuming or costly and increase demand on our
systems and resources. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could
materially and adversely affect our business and operating results. In addition, a change in our filer status could trigger a
requirement to begin complying with Section 404(b) of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002, and our independent registered public
accounting firff m would have to evaluate and report on the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting, increasing
our costs. We may also need to hire additional employees or engage outside consultants to comply with these requirements,
which will increase our costs and expenses.

By disclosing information in this and in future filings required of a public company, our business and financial condition
will become more visible, which has resulted in, and may in the futff urt e result in, threatened or actuat l litigation, including by
competitors and other third parties. If those claims are successfulff , our business could be seriously harmed. Even if the claims do
not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, the time and resources needed to resolve them could divert our
management’s resources and seriously harm our business.

Litigii atiott n filff edll againsii t us could harm our business, and insii urance coverage may na ot be suffiu cient to ctt over all rll elatll edtt coststt
and damdd ages.

We face the threat of legal claims and regulatory mrr atters involving various aspects of our business. Given the volatility
of the trading price of our common stock, and the prevalence of shareholder litigation generally, we faceff a risk of lawsuits
alleging violations of the securities laws. Litigation is inherently uncertain, and adverse rulrr ings may occur, including awards of
monetary damages, that may have a material adverse impact on our business. These lawsuits may also divert management’s
attention and resources, and may require us to incur substantial costs, some of which will not be covered by insurance.

We may ba ecome exposxx ed to costlytt and damdd agingii liabilitii y ctt laims, eithii er when testintt g our product candiddd atdd estt in the cliniii c or
at the commercial stagea , ae nd our product liabilitii y itt nsii urance may na ot cover all dll amdd ages froff m such claims.

We are exposed to potential product liabia lity and professional indemnity risks that are inherent in the research,
development, manufacturt ing, marketing, and use of pharmaceutical products. While we currently have no products that have
been approved forff commercial sale, the current and futff urt e use of our product candidates in clinical trials, and the sale of any
approved products in the futff urt e, may expose us to liabia lity claims. These claims may be made by patients that use the product,
healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies, or others selling such products. Any claims against us, regardless of their
merit, could be diffiff cult and costly to defenff d and could materially and adversely affect the market forff our product candidates or
any prospects forff commercialization of our product candidates. Although we currently maintain adequate product liabia lity
insurance forff our product candidates, it is possible that our liabia lities could exceed our insurance coverage or that in the futff urt e
we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonabla e cost or obtain insurance coverage that will be adequate to
satisfy any liabia lity that may arise. If a successfulff product liabia lity claim or series of claims is brought against us forff uninsured
liabia lities or in excess of insured liabia lities, our assets may not be sufficient to cover such claims and our business operations
could be impaired.

If we fail to maintain pii ropeo r and effeff ctivtt e intii ertt nal controls oll ver finaii ncial reporting our abilityii to produce accurate and
timely fll inff ancial stattt emtt ents could bll e impii aireii d.

We are required to report uponu the effectiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting. To comply with the
requirements of being a reporting company under the Exchange Act, we have implemented and will continue to implement
additional finff ancial and management controls, reporting systems, and procedurd es and we have hired and will continue to hire
additional accounting and finance staff. We cannot assure you that there will not be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in our internal control over finff ancial reporting in the futff urt e.

Our disdd closll ure controls all nd procedures may na ot prevent or detect all ell rrors or acts of frff aud.

We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We have designed our disclosure controls
and procedurd es to reasonabla y assure that information we must disclose in reports we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
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specified in the rulrr es and forff ms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedurd es or internal controls and
procedurd es, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonabla e, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. For example, our directors or executive officff ers
could inadvertently faiff l to disclose a new relationship or arrangement causing us to fail to make a required related party
transaction disclosure. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two
or more people, or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control
system, misstatements due to error or fraff ud may occur and not be detected.

Provisions in our amendeddd and restated certificff ate ott f io ncii orporrr atiott n and our amendeddd and restated bylb awll s aw nd Delaware law
mightgg discii ouragea , de eldd ayll , oyy r prevent a change in contrott l of oo ur company on r changes in our management and, thereforff e,
depree ess thett market price of oo ur common stock.kk

Our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation and our amended and restated bylaws each contain provisions that
could depress the market price of our common stock by acting to discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of the
Company or changes in our management that the stockholders of the Company may deem advantageous. As a Delaware
corporation, we are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
prohibits a Delaware corporr ation froff m engaging in a business combination specified in the statute with an interested
stockholder (as defined in the statutt e) for a period of three years afteff r the date of the transaction in which the person firff st
becomes an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is appra oved in advance by a majoa rity of the independent
directors or by the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding disinterested shares. The appla ication of Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporrr ation Law could also have the effeff ct of delaying or preventing a change of control of the Company.

Our amendeddd and restated certificff ate ott f io ncii orporrr atiott n provides thatt t thett Court of Co haCC ncery or f to hett Stattt e ott f Do elawll are will bll e
the excee lusive forum forff substantiatt lly all dll isdd pus tes betwett en us and our stoctt kholdell rs, which could limit our stockhokk lderdd s’rr
abilityii to obtaitt n aii favorable jll udicdd ial forff um for disdd pus tes.

Our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation provides that the Court of Chancery orr f the State of Delaware (or
another state court or the federal court located within the State of Delaware if the Court of Chancery drr oes not have or declines
to accept jurisdiction) is the exclusive forum forff certain actions. It also provides that the federal district courts of the United
States will be the exclusive forum forff resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act but
that the forff umrr selection provision will not apply to claims brought to enforce a dutd y or liabia lity created by the Exchange Act.
These exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finff ds favorable for
disputes, which may discourage lawsuits. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforff ce such provisions.
If a court were to finff d these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforff ceable, and if a court were to finff d the exclusive
forum provision in our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation to be inappla icable or unenforff ceable in an action, we
may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely
affeff ct our business.

Our abilityii to use our net opeo rating losll s carryfoyy rwards and other tax aaa ttributestt may ba e limitell d.

As of December 31, 2023, we had U.S. fedff eral and state net operating loss (“NOL”), carryforwards of $149.5 million,
which may be availabla e to offset future taxabla e income. As of December 31, 2023, we also had gross federal tax credits of
$16.9 million, which may be used to offsff et future tax liabia lities. These NOLs and tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire
in 2024. Use of our NOL carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards depends on many factors, including having current or
future taxabla e income, which cannot be assured.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

In the ordinary crr ourse of our business, we collect, use, store, and transmit digitally large amounts of confidff ential,
sensitive, proprietary, personal, and health-related inforff mation. The secure maintenance of this inforff mation and our information
technology systems is important to our operations and business strategy. To this end, we have implemented processes designed
to assess, identify,ff and manage risks from potential unauthorized occurrences on or through our information technology systems
that may result in adverse effects on the confidff entiality, integrity, and availabia lity of these systems and the data residing therein.
These processes are managed and monitored by dedicated information technology resources, including both company and
consultant personnel, and led by our Chief Business Officer. The processes include mechanisms, controls, technologies,
systems, and other processes designed to prevent or mitigate data loss, theft,ff misuse, or other security incidents or
vulnerabia lities affecff ting the data and maintain a stabla e inforff mation technology environment. For example, we conduct
penetration and vulnerability testing, data recovery testing, security audits, and ongoing risk assessments of our IT environment.
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We also conduct technology due diligence on and audits of our key vendors, CROs, and other contractors and supplu iers
supporu ting our clinical trials. We also conduct regular employee trainings on cyber and information security. In addition, we
consult with experienced outside advisors and experts on a regular basis to assist with assessing, identifyiff ng, and managing
cybersecurity risks.

Our Chief Business Offiff cer, who reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer, together with certain members of our
senior leadership team, are responsible forff assessing and managing cybersecurity risks. We consider cybersecurity, along with
other significant risks that we facff e, within our overall enterprise risk management framework evaluated at least quarterly. In the
last fiscal year, we have not identifieff d risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity
incidents, that have materially affeff cted us, but we face certain ongoing cybersecurity risks threats that, if realized, are
reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct us. Additional inforff mation on cybersecurity risks we faceff is discussed in Part I, Item 1A,
“Risk Factors,” under the heading “Our inforff mation technology systems, or those used by our CROs or other contractors or
consultants, may faiff l or suffeff r security breaches, which could materially and adversely affect our business.”

The Board of Directors, as whole and at the committee level, has oversight for the most significant risks facing us and on
our processes to identify,ff prioritize, assess, manage, and mitigate those risks. The Audit Committee, which is comprised solely
of independent directors, reviews cybersecurity risks. The Audit Committee receives regular updates on cybersecurity and
information technology matters and related risk exposures from our Chief Business Officer.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporr ate headquarters are located in Austin, Texas where we currently occupyu approximately 8,000 square feet of
offiff ce space under a lease that expires on September 30, 2026. We use this faciff lity for administrative purposr es.

We currently lease appra oximately 32,200 square feet of offiff ce and laboratory srr pace in Durham, North Carolina under a
lease that expires on December 31, 2028. We use this faciff lity forff research and development purposr es.

We believe these spaces to be suffiff cient to meet our needs forff the forff eseeable future and that any additional space we
may require will be availabla e on commercially reasonabla e terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On January 31, 2022 and February 1rr 1, 2022, putative class action lawsuits were filed in the U.S. District Court forff the
Eastern District of New York against us and certain of our offiff cers and directors. The cases were consolidated on June 2, 2022,
and the plaintiffsff filed an amended complaint on July 1, 2022. The amended complaint cited the volatility in our common stock
and alleged that the defendants made or were responsible for misleading omissions regarding the Company’s clinical trial
results and the collabora ation agreement with Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a wholly-owned subsu idiary of Takeda
Pharmaceutical Company, Ltd.. The court appra oved the parties settlement of the plaintiffsff ’ claims in the amount of $1.4 million
and entered a finff al judgment dismissing the class action claims with prejue dice on November 6, 2023. The Company paid the
amount to the escrow agent for the settlement on June 19, 2023.

We may in the future be involved in legal proceedings, claims, investigations and government inquires arising in the
ordinary course of our business. We are not presently a party to any other legal proceedings that, in the opinion of our
management and if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results, finff ancial condition or cash floff ws.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not appla icable.
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Part II.

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issue Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “STTK”. At Februar ry 12, 2024,
there were appra oximately 29 stockholders of record of our common stock. Since many of our shares of common stock are held
by brokers and other institutt ions on behalf of stockholders, we are unabla e to estimate the total number of stockholders
represented by these record holders.

Dividends

The Company has never paid dividends on its Common Stock and does not anticipate that it will do so in the forff eseeable
future.

Use of Proceeds froff m Initial Public Offeff ring of Common Stock

There has been no material change in our intended use of proceeds froff m our initial public offeff ring (“IPO”) as described
in our final prospectus filff ed with the SEC pursuant to RulRR e 424(b)(4) on October 13, 2020.

Item 6. Reserved

Not appla icable.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should rl ead thett following discii ussion and analysll is of our financial condition and results of operations together with
our audited finff ancial statements att nd related notes appearing in thitt s Aii nnual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. This discii ussion and othett r
parts of this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K contain forff ward-ldd ooking statements ttt hattt involve risks and uncertainties, such as
statements of our plans, objectives, expee ectations and intentions. Our actual results could dl iffer materially from those discussed
in these forff ward-ldd ooking statements.tt Factors trr hattt could cl ause or contrit bute to such differences include, but are not limited to,
those discussed in thett section of to hitt s rii eport entitled “Ri“ skii Factors.rr ” YouYY should cl arefulff ly read the “Cautionary Nr otNN e About
Forward-Looking StaS tements”tt and “Risk FacFF tors” sections of this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K to gain an understanding of
the important factors trr hattt could cll ause actual results to diffi erff materially from the results described below.

Overview

We are an innovative clinical-stage biotechnology company pioneering the development of duad l-sided fusff ion proteins as
an entirely new class of biologic medicine. We have created a novel appra oach to immune modulation by designing biologics
with structurt al characteristics that may not be achievabla e by existing therapea utic modalities, including monoclonal or bispecific
antibodies. Our ARC® platform was designed to simultaneously inhibit checkpoik nt molecules and activate costimulatory
molecules with a single therapea utic as a potential treatment for cancer. We also have at varyirr ng stages of preclinical
development, dual-sided fusff ion proteins, distinct from our ARC platforff m, that have therapeutic potential in autoimmune and
inflammatory diseases, among other therapea utic areas.

Our lead product candidate, SL-172154, is designed to simultaneously inhibit the CD47/SIRPα macrophage checkpoikk nt
interaction and activate the CD40 costimulatory receptor to induce an antitumor immune response. Coupling CD40 activation
with CD47 inhibition differentiates SL-172154 from all other clinical-stage CD47/SIRPα inhibitors in development, and in our
published preclinical studit es, SL-172154 resulted in superior antitumor immunity as compared to certain CD47/SIRPα
inhibitors. We are pursuing a broad clinical development strategy in both solid and hematologic tumt ors, with multiple ongoing
clinical trials. SL-172154 is in an ongoing Phase 1B clinical trial forff the treatment of patients with ovarian cancer. We are lalso
ev lalua itingg SL-172154 iin an ongoiongoi gng hPhase 1B cliliniic lal triial fl forff hthe treatment of pa itients wi hith certain hematologic malignancies,
including AML and HR-MDS. We believe our clinical development plan may provide both firff st-in-class and best-in-class
development opportunities for SL-172154.

We believe that data shared to date in human cancer patients demonstrate that the unique protein engineering and
physical properties of the ARC platforff m have led to a diffeff rentiated profile in terms of safetff y and on-target immune activation,
demonstrated by unique pharmacodynamic findings, as compared to monoclonal or bispecific antibodies. Further, clinical data
generated with our ARC platforff m has guided our preclinical research effoff rts to furff ther expand our pipeline, and we are
advancing certain potential product candidates through preclinical development. We expect to nominate one or more additional
product candidates to our clinical pipeline in the future, potentially for indications outside of oncology, by selecting product
candidates where there is an expectation of monotherapya effiff cacy and where our scientificff and protein engineering expertise has
led to a product candidate with advantages over current treatment modalities.
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In Februarr ry 2024, we entered into the Ono Agreement in which we will lead research and preclinical development of
certain compounds selected by Ono froff m our pipeline of bifunctional fusff ion proteins to a pair of prespecified targets forff
potential treatment of autoimmune and inflaff mmatory diseases.

Overview of Operatiott ns

Since our inception in 2016, we have devoted subsu tantially all of our resources to conducting research and development
activities, including undertaking nonclinical studit es of our product candidates, conducting clinical trials of our most advanced
product candidates, manufacff turing our product candidates, developing and perfecting our intellectuat l property rights,
organizing and staffing our company, business planning, and raising capital. We do not have any products approved forff sale,
and we have not generated any revenue from product sales. We have fundeff d our operations as of the filinff g date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K through the net proceeds froff m the sale of our common stock and pre-funded warrants forff approximately
$261.1 million, the sale of redeemabla e convertible preferff red stock for appra oximately $152.9 million, the issuance of convertible
notes for appra oximately $10.5 million and payments received pursuant to our collabora ation agreements for appra oximately
$84.2 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, our net loss was $87.3 million and $101.9 million, respectively. We
have not been profitff able since inception, and as of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficff it of $306.3 million and
$130.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and investments. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating
losses in the near term in connection with our ongoing activities, as we:

• continue to advance the nonclinical and clinical development of our clinical-stage product candidate, SL-172154;

• manufactff urt e suffiff cient quantities of bulk drug substance and drugr product to support our ongoing and planned
nonclinical studies and clinical trials;

• continue our process development efforts forff our current and future product candidates, including scale up ou f our
Phase 3 and commercial manufactff urt ing process;

• initiate nonclinical studies and clinical trials for additional product candidates that we may identify iff n the future;

• maintain our operational, financial, and management systems;

• retain key personnel and infrastructurt e to support our clinical development, research and manufactff urt ing efforts;

• utilize our in-house process development and manufactff urt ing capabilities;

• continue to develop, perfect, and defend our intellectual property portfolff io; and

• incur additional legal, accounting, or other expenses in operating our business, including the additional costs
associated with operating as a public company and expenses incurred in connection with ongoing and futff urt e litigation,
if any.

We do not expect to generate significant product revenue unless and until we successfulff ly complete development and
obtain regulatory arr nd marketing appra oval of, and begin to sell, one or more of our product candidates, if ever, which we expect
will take several years. We expect to spend a significant amount in development and marketing costs prior to such time. We
may never succeed in achieving regulatory arr nd marketing appra oval forff our product candidates. We may obtain unexpected
results froff m our nonclinical studit es and clinical trials. We may elect to discontinue, delay, or modify nonclinical studit es and
clinical trials of our product candidates. We may be adversely affecff ted by inflaff tionary pressures and the macroeconomic
environment, which are beyond our control. A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development
of a product candidate could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the development of that product
candidate. Accordingly, until such time as we can generate significant product revenue, if ever, we expect to continue to seek
private or public equity and debt finff ancing, and/or additional collabora ations with third-parties, to meet our capital requirements.
There can be no assurance that such fundiff ng may be availabla e to us on acceptabla e terms, or at all, or that we will be able to
commercialize our product candidates. In addition, we may not be profitaff bla e even if we commercialize one or more of our
product candidates.

Global Economic Considerations

The global macroeconomic environment is uncertain, and could be negatively affected by, among other things, increased
U.S. trade tariffsff and trade disputes with other countries, instabia lity in the global capital and credit markets, supplu y chain
weaknesses, financial institution instability, instabia lity in the geopolitical environment, and lingering effeff cts of the COVID-19
pandemic. Such challenges have caused, and may continue to cause, recession fears, high interest rates, foreign exchange
volatility and inflaff tionary pressures. At this time, we are unabla e to quantify tff he potential effects of this economic instability on
our future operations.
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Components of our Results of Operation

Collaborll atiott n Revenue

We have no products approved forff commercial sale, and we have not generated any revenue from commercial product
sales. Our total revenue to date has been generated from our collaboration and research agreements with various third parties,

Revenue recognized in 2023 was a result of a clinical trial collaboraa tion agreement with ImmunoGen in which activities
began in 2023 and will continue in 2024. We expect to recognize a total of $2 million of revenue under this collabora ation
agreement. In Februar ry 2024, ImmunoGen was acquired by AbbVie.

In Februar ry 2024, we entered into the Ono Agreement in which we will lead research and preclinical development of
certain compounds selected from our pipeline of bifunff ctional fusff ion proteins directed to a pair of prespecified targets forff
potential treatment of autoimmune and inflaff mmatory diseases. We are primarily responsible for carrying out the research
activities in accordance with a mutuat lly agreed upon research plan, which we expect to start in 2024. In connection with entryrr
into the Ono Agreement, we are entitled to receive up to $9 million consisting of an initial upfu roff nt payment and additional
payments upon the achievement of certain specified milestones in the Research Plan. Additionally, Ono has agreed to pay forff
all of our costs and expenses incurred in conducting the Research Plan. We expect to begin recognizing revenue associated with
the conduct of the Research Plan in 2024.

In the event Ono exercises its Option to furff ther development their specifieff d Development Compounds, we are entitled to
receive licensing and development, regulatory arr nd commercial milestone payments of up to $217.5 million, in the aggregate,
and a tiered royalty on sales upou n commercialization.

We continue to explore other potential collabora ations and expect that collabora ation revenue we may generate, if any, will
fluctuate froff m period to period.

Operatintt g ExpeEE nse

Research and Development ExpEE ense

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the discovery and
development of our current and potential futff urt e product candidates. These expenses include:

• expenses incurred to conduct our clinical trials, including SL-172154 and any potential product candidates we may
advance in the future;

• costs of manufacff turing nonclinical studyt and clinical trial materials, including the costs of raw materials required for
manufactff urt ing;

• process development activities to optimize manufacff turing processes, including the development and validation of Phase 3
and commercial manufacff turing processes and analytical methods;

• expenses incurred to conduct our nonclinical studit es, including research conducted on our wholly-owned compounds and
those subject to the Ono Agreement;

• employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefitff s, and stock-based compensation;

• laboratory mrr aterials and supplies used to support our research activities;

• feesff paid to third parties who assist with research and development activities;

• expenses relating to regulatory arr ctivities, including filing feeff s paid to regulatory arr gencies; and

• allocated expenses for faciff lity-related costs.

56



The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our research and development expenses by product candidate:

Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)( ) 2023 2022

SL-172154........................................................................................ $ 30,653 $ 38,609
Other pipeline compounds ............................................................... 16,261 17,373
Internal costs, including personnel related benefits, facff ilities, and
depreciation...................................................................................... 27,396 26,917

$ 74,310 $ 82,899

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical
development generally have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the
increased size and durd ation of later-stage clinical trials, including increased demand for clinical trial material. We expect to
incur significant research and development expenses throughout 2024, including expenses associated with the conduct of the
Research Plan pursuant to the Ono Agreement. While it is difficult for us to predict with certainty, we expect increasing year-
over-year operating expense over the next several years in the event that we conduct additional nonclinical studit es and clinical
trials, which may include a material expansion of our existing clinical trials or the initiation of planned, later-stage clinical trials
for our current and/or future product candidates, pursue regulatory arr ppra oval of our product candidates, or advance additional
product candidates froff m our preclinical pipeline.

The process of conducting the necessary nonclinical and clinical research to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval is costly and time
consuming. The actuat l probabia lity of success forff our product candidates may be affeff cted by a variety of factors including:

• the safety and efficacy of our product candidates;

• clinical data for our product candidates;

• investment in our clinical programs;

• competition;

• manufacff turing capaa bia lity; and

• commercial viabia lity.

We may never succeed in achieving regulatory arr ppra oval forff any of our product candidates dued to the uncertainties
discussed abovea . We are unabla e to determine the duration and completion costs of our research and development projeo cts or
when and to what extent we will generate revenue from the commercialization and sale of our product candidates, if ever.

General and Admidd nistii rat tive Expex nse

General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel expenses, including salaries, benefitsff , and stock-
based compensation expense, for employees and consultants in executive, finance, accounting, legal, information technology,
business development and human resource functions. General and administrative expense also includes corporr ate facff ility costs,
including rent, utilities, depreciation, and maintenance, not otherwise included in research and development expense, as well as
legal feesff related to intellectual property, corporate, and litigation matters and feesff for accounting and tax services.

We expect that our general and administrative expense may increase in the future to supporu t our ongoing research and
development activities and as a result of the costs of operating as a public company. These increases may include increased
costs related to the retention of personnel and fees paid to outside consultants, lawyers, and accountants, among other expenses.
Additionally, we anticipate that we will continue to incur significant costs associated with being a public company, including
expenses related to services associated with maintaining compliance with the requirements of Nasdaq and the SEC, insurance,
and investor relations costs. If any of our current or future product candidates advances to later-stage clinical development or
obtains regulatory arr ppra oval, we expect that we would incur significantly increased expenses associated with building the
appropriate general and administrative support forff our increased research and development activities, or building a sales and
marketing team, respectively.

Othett r IncII ome

Other income consists of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and investments, which consists of amounts held
in a money market fundff and at various times in government and corporate obligations as well as investment fees and realized
gain or losses on investments (if any).
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Income Taxeaa s

Since our inception, we have not recorded any income tax benefits for the NOLs we have incurred or forff our research
and development tax credits, as we believe, based upon the weight of availabla e evidence, that it is more likely than not that all
of our NOLs and tax credits will not be realized. Our NOLs and tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2024. We have
recorded a fulff l valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets at each balance sheet date.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the YeaYY rs Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Year Ended December 31, Change
(in thousands)( ) 2023 2022 Dollar Percentage

Collabora ation revenue ................................................................. $ 1,657 $ 652 $ 1,005 154.1 %
Operating expenses:

Research and development .................................................. 74,310 82,899 (8,589) (10.4)%
General and administrative .................................................. 19,304 21,082 (1,778) (8.4)%

Loss from operations .................................................... (91,957) (103,329) 11,372 (11.0)%

Other income........................................................................ 4,659 1,384 3,275 236.6 %
Net loss........................................................................................ $ (87,298) $ (101,945) $ 14,647 (14.4)%

Collaboration Revenue

Collabora ation revenue increased by $1.0 million, or 154.1%, to $1.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 from
$0.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in collabora ation revenue was primarily attributable to an
increase in clinical activity associated with our clinical trial collabora ation agreement with ImmunoGen. In the second quarter of
2022, we executed a collaboration agreement with another third party and completed the work in the fourff th quarter of 2022 and
have recognized all of the revenue associated with that agreement.

Research and Development ExpEE ense

Research and development expenses decreased by $8.6 million, or 10.4%, to $74.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 from $82.9 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in research and development
expense was primarily a result of a decrease in the cGMP manufacff ture of clinical trial material of $13.8 million and a decrease
in materials consumed in our lab oa f $1.2 million, offsff et primarily by increases in costs associated with the conduct of clinical
trials for SL-172154 of $4.2 million, depreciation of fixff ed assets of $1.0 million and facility costs of $0.8 million related to the
expansion of our in-house manufactff urt ing and development capabilities.

General and Admidd nistii rat tive Expex nse

General and administrative expenses decreased by $1.8 million, or 8.4%, to $19.3 million forff the year ended
December 31, 2023 from $21.1 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in general and administrative
expenses was primarily a result of recognizing the litigation settlement of $1.4 million in 2022 and a $1.0 million decrease in
company insurance costs, primarily related to directors and offiff cers insurance, offset by an increase in stock-based
compensation of $0.6 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, our primary srr ources of liquidity have been generated by sales of our common stock, pre-funff ded
warrants, convertible preferff red stock, convertible notes, and collaboration agreements. As of December 31, 2023, we had an
accumulated deficff it of $306.3 million and $130.6 million of cash and cash equivalents and investments.

On December 26, 2023, we sold 4,651,163 shares of common stock through an underwritten public offeff ring, and
concurrently completed a private placement of 3,100,823 pre-funded warrants forff net proceeds of $47.6 million. The purchase
price per share of common stock was $6.45, and the purchase price per pre-funded warrant was $6.4499 which was the
purchase price per share of common stock, minus the $0.0001 per share exercise price of such pre-funded warrant. Each pre-
funded warrant may be exercised for one share of common stock, is immediately exercisable, does not expire, and is subju ect to
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a beneficff ial ownership limitation of 9.99% post-exercise. As of December 31, 2023, no pre-funded warrants have been
exercised, and 3,100,823 pre-funded warrants remain outstanding.

In July 2022, we entered into a sales agreement (the “Sales Agreement”), with SVB Securities LLC (the “Sales Agent”),
pursuant to which we may offer and sell up to $75.0 million of shares of our common stock from time to time (the “ATM
Facility”). The Sales Agent is generally entitled to compensation at a commission equal to 3.0% of the aggregate gross sales
price per share sold under the Sales Agreement. As of Februarr ry 29, 2024 there were no sales pursuant to the ATM Facility.

Capia taii l Resources and FundFF indd g Requireii mentstt

Our primary uses of cash and cash equivalents and investments are to fund our operations, which consist primarily of
research and development expenditures related to our programs, product development costs, research expenses, administrative
supporu t, capital expenditures related to bringing in-house certain process development and manufacff turing capabilities, and
working capital requirements. We anticipate continuing to incur additional net losses and negative cash floff ws from operations
in the near future until such time, if ever, that we can generate significant sales of our product candidates currently in
development. Our futff urt e fundiff ng requirements will depend on many factors, including:

• the scope, timing, progress and results of discovery, nonclinical development, labora atory trr esting, and clinical trials for
our product candidates;

• the costs of process development and scale up ou f a commercially ready manufactff urt ing process to support registrational
clinical trials;
• the costs of manufacff turing our product candidates forff clinical trials and in preparation forff marketing appra oval and
commercialization;
• the extent to which we enter into collabora ations or other arrangements with additional third parties in order to further
develop our product candidates;
• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforff cing our intellectuat l property
rights and defending other intellectuat l property-related claims;
• the costs and feeff s associated with the discovery, acquisition or in-license of additional product candidates or
technologies;
• the costs of future commercialization activities, if any, including establa ishing sales, marketing, manufactff urt ing,
distribution and storage capabilities, for any of our product candidates forff which we receive marketing appra oval; and
• revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates
receive marketing appra oval.

Until we obtain regulatory arr ppra oval to market our product candidates, if ever, we cannot generate revenues fromff sales of
our products. Even if we are able to sell our products, we may not generate a suffiff cient amount of product revenues to finff ance
our cash requirements. Accordingly, it will be necessary for us to seek to raise additional capital through equity offeff rings and/or
debt financings or from other potential sources of liquidity, which may include new collabora ations, licensing or other
commercial agreements for one or more of our development programs or patent portfolff ios. There can be no assurance that such
funding may be available to us on acceptabla e terms, or at all. The issuance of equity securities may result in dilution to
stockholders and the issuance of debt securities may have rights, preferff ences and privileges senior to those of our common
stock and the terms of any such debt securities could impose significant restrictions on our operations. The failure to raise fundsff
as and when needed could have a negative impact on our financial condition and ability to pursue our business strategies.
Additionally, if additional fundiff ng is not secured when required, we may need to delay or curtail our operations until such
funding is received, which would have a material and adverse impact on our business prospects and results of operations.

We believe that our cash and cash equivalents and investments as of December 31, 2023 are suffiff cient to fundff projected
operations into 2026.
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Cash Flowll sw

The folff lowing tabla e shows a summary of our cash flows forff the periods indicated:
Year ended December 31,

(in thousands)( ) 2023 2022

Net cash used in operating activities ................................................................................................ $ (81,228) $ (94,498)
Net cash provided by investing activities......................................................................................... 110,859 49,438
Net cash provided by finff ancing activities ........................................................................................ 48,616 171
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...................................................................... $ 78,247 $ (44,889)

Net CasCC h UseUU d in OpeO rating Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was $81.2 million and primarily reflected
our net loss of $87.3 million and $4.1 million net change in our operating assets and liabia lities, and was offsff et by noncash
charges of $6.9 million in stock-based compensation, $2.9 million in depreciation expense, amortization of investments and
non-cash operating lease expense and $0.3 million in losses on sale of assets. We expect to continue to use cash in our operating
activities as we conduct our clinical trials and nonclinical studit es, incur costs of manufactff urt ing clinical trial and nonclinical
studyt materials and continue process development activities to optimize our manufactff urt ing processes.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $94.5 million and primarily reflected
by our net loss of $101.9 million and a $4.5 million net change in our operating assets and liabia lities, and was offseff t by noncash
charges of $6.5 million in stock-based compensation, $4.7 million in depreciation expense, amortization of investments and
non-cash operating lease expense, and $0.7 million in losses on sale of assets.

Net CasCC h Provided by Ib nvII esting Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by investing activities was $110.9 million due to a $111.3

million increase in cash dued to maturities of investments net of purchases, offset by $0.4 million in fixff ed asset purchases.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by investing activities was $49.4 million, of which $60.9
million represents the net change in investments and $11.6 million was used to purchase property and equipment, primarily
attributable to our continued efforts to bring certain process development, manufactff urt ing and labora atory crr apabilities in-house.

Net CasCC h Provided by Fb inFF ancing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by finff ancing activities was $48.6 million and was froff m the
sale of common stock and pre-funded warrants forff net cash proceeds of $48.2 million and the exercise of stock options and
purchases pursuant to our employee stock purchase plan of $0.5 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by finff ancing activities was $0.2 million and was froff m the
exercise of stock options and purchases pursuant to our employee stock purchase plan.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

See Note 6 and Note 7 to our financial statements fouff nd elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff additional
disclosures.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affeff ct the
reported amounts of assets, liabia lities, and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities in our financial
statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, the
accruar l forff research and development expenses, and the valuation of stock-based awards. We base our estimates on historical
experience, known trends and events, and various other factff ors that are believed to be reasonabla e under the circumstances, the
results of which forff m the basis forff making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabia lities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may diffeff r froff m these estimates under diffeff rent assumptions or conditions.

Our critical accounting policies are those policies which require the most significant judgments and estimates in the
preparation of our financial statements. We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with our most critical
accounting policies are those relating to revenue, accruer d research and development costs and stock-based compensation.
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Revenue Recogno itiott n

We have and may continue to enter into collabora ation agreements with other companies. Arrangements with
collabora ators may include licenses to intellectuat l property, research and development services, manufactff urt ing services forff
clinical and commercial supply, and participation on joint steering and patent committees. We evaluate the promised goods or
services in the contract to determine which promises, or group of promises, represent performance obligations. In
contemplation of whether a promised good or service meets the criteria required of a performance obligation, we consider the
stage of development of the underlying intellectuat l property, the capabilities and expertise of the customer relative to the
underlying intellectuat l property, and whether the promised goods or services are integral to or dependent on other promises in
the contract. When accounting forff an arrangement that contains multiple performance obligations, we develop judgmental
assumptions, which may include market conditions, reimbursement rates forff personnel costs, development timelines, and
probabia lities of regulatory srr uccess to determine the stand-alone selling price for each performance obligation identifieff d in the
contract.

Upon the amendment of an existing agreement, we evaluate whether the amendment represents a modification to an
existing contract that would be recorded through a cumulative catch-up tu o revenue, or a separate contract. If it is determined
that it is a separate contract, we will evaluate the necessary revenue recognition through the fivff e-step process described below.

When we conclude that a contract should be accounted for as a combined performance obligation and recognized over
time, we then determine the period over which revenue should be recognized and the method by which to measure revenue. We
generally recognize revenue using a cost-based input method.

We recognize collabora ation revenue in an amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for
those goods or services when our customer or collaborator obtains control of promised goods or services. To determine revenue
recognition for such arrangements, we perform the folff lowing five steps:

i. identify the contract(s) with a customer;

ii. identify the performance obligations in the contract;

iii. determine the transaction price;

iv. allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract; and

v. recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

We only appa ly the fivff e-step model to contracts when we determine that it is probabla e we will collect the consideration
we are entitled to in exchange for the goods or services we transferff to the customer.

At contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised within the contract to determine whether each promised
good or service is a performance obligation. The promised goods or services in the arrangement may consist of a license of, off r
options to license, our intellectual property and research, development and manufactff urt ing services. We may provide options to
additional items in such arrangements, which are accounted for as separate contracts when the customer elects to exercise such
options, unless the option provides a material right to the customer. Performance obligations are promises in a contract to
transferff a distinct good or service to the customer that (i) the customer can benefit froff m on its own or together with other
readily availabla e resources, and (ii) are separately identifiaff bla e froff m other promises in the contract. Goods or services that are
not individually distinct performance obligations are combined with other promised goods or services until such combined
group of promises meet the requirements of a performance obligation.

We determine transaction price based on the amount of consideration we expect to receive for transferring the promised
goods or services in the contract. Consideration may be fixed, variable, or a combination of both. At contract inception forff
arrangements that include variable consideration, we estimate the probabia lity and extent of consideration we expect to receive
under the contract utilizing either the most-likely amount method or expected amount method, whichever best estimates the
amount expected to be received. We then consider any constraints on the variable consideration and includes variabla e
consideration in the transaction price to the extent it is deemed probabla e that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variabla e consideration is subsequently resolved.

We then allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation based on the relative standalone selling price and
recognize revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as)
control is transferred to the customer and the performance obligation is satisfied. For performance obligations that consist of
licenses and other promises, we utilize judgment to assess the naturt e of the combined performance obligation to determine
whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate
method of measuring progress. We evaluate the measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjust the measure
of performance and related revenue recognition.
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We record amounts as accounts receivabla e when the right to consideration is deemed unconditional. When consideration
is received, or such consideration is unconditionally dued , froff m a customer prior to transferring goods or services to the customer
under the terms of a contract, a contract liabia lity is recorded as deferred revenue.

Amounts received prior to satisfying the revenue recognition criteria are recognized as deferred revenue in our balance
sheet. Deferff red revenues expected to be recognized as revenue within the 12 months following the balance sheet date are
classified as a current liability. Deferff red revenues not expected to be recognized as revenue within the 12 months following the
balance sheet date are classified as non-current liabia lities.

Research and Developmll ent ExpEE ense

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the development of our
product candidates. We expense research and development costs as incurred.

We accruerr expenses for manufactff urt ing, process development, nonclinical studit es and clinical trial activities performed
by vendors based upon estimates of the proportion of work completed. We determine the estimates by reviewing contracts,
vendor agreements and purchase orders, and through discussions with our internal personnel and external service providers as
to the progress or stage of completion of trials or services and the agreed-uponu fee to be paid forff such services. However, actuat l
costs and timing of clinical trials are highly uncertain, subject to risks and may change depending upon a number of facff tors,
including our clinical development plan.

We make estimates of our prepaid and accruerr d expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements based
on facts and circumstances known at that time. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effortff varies
from the estimate, we will adjud st the accruar l accordingly. Nonrefundaff bla e advance payments forff goods and services, including
fees for process development or manufactff urt ing and distribution of clinical supplu ies that will be used in future research and
development activities, are deferff red and recognized as expense in the period that the related goods are consumed or services are
performed.

Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n

We measure compensation expense forff all share-based awards based on the estimated faiff r value of the share-based
awards on the grant date. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value our stock option awards. The faiff r values of
restricted stock units, “RSUs”, are based on the faiff r value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant. We
recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period
of the award. We also grant stock options that vest upon achievement of certain market-based conditions. We use the Monte
Carlo pricing model to estimate the fair value of options that have market-based conditions.

The Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo option-pricing models require the use of subju ective assumptions that include the
expected stock price volatility and, for options granted prior to our IPO, the faiff r value of the underlying common stock on the
date of grant. See Note 8 to our audited finff ancial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff
information concerning certain of the specific assumptions we used in applying the Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo option
pricing models to determine the estimated faiff r value of our stock options granted durd ing the year ended December 31, 2023.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our financial statements foundff elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff a description of recent
accounting pronouncements applicable to our financial statements.

Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company Status

We are an emerging growth company as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, an emerging growth company
can take advantage of the extended transition period forff complying with new or revised accounting standards and delay the
adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise appla y to private companies. We have elected to
avail ourselves of this exemption froff m complying with new or revised accounting standards and, thereforff e, will not be subju ect
to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. As a
result, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of public company effective dates.

We have evaluated the benefitff s of relying on other exemptions and reducd ed reporting requirements under the JOBS Act.
Subju ect to certain conditions, as an emerging growth company, we may rely on certain of these exemptions, including without
limitation exemptions to the requirements forff (1) providing an auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal controls
over finff ancial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act and (2) complying with any requirement that
may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firff m rotation or a supplu ement
to the auditor’s report providing additional inforff mation abouta the audit and the finff ancial statements, known as the auditor
discussion and analysis. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (a) the last day of the fisff cal year
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(i) folff lowing the fifff thff anniversary orr f the completion of our IPO, (ii) in which we have total annual gross revenues of at least
$1.235 billion or (iii) in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” under the rules of the SEC, which means the
market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiff liates exceeds $700.0 million as of the prior June 30th, or (b) the date
on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.

We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined under the Exchange Act. We will continue to be a smaller
reporting company so long as (i) the market value of our stock held by non-affiff liates is less than $250.0 million or (ii) our
annual revenue is less than $100.0 million durd ing the most recently completed fisff cal year and the market value of our stock held
by non-affiff liates is less than $700.0 million. If we are a smaller reporting company at the time we cease to be an emerging
growth company, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are availabla e to smaller
reporting companies. Specifically, as a smaller reporting company we may choose to present only the two most recent fisff cal
years of audited finff ancial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and, similar to emerging growth companies, smaller
reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by RulRR e 12b-2 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and in
Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, and are not required to provide the inforff mation under this item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders' and Board of Directors
Shattuck Labsa , Inc.:

Opinion on thett Financial StaS tementstt

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Shattuck Labsa , Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, the related statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows forff the years then ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively, the finff ancial statements). In our opinion,
the finff ancial statements present faiff rly, in all material respects, the finff ancial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023
and December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows forff the years then ended December 31, 2023, in
conforff mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis fii orff Opinion

These finff ancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these finff ancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the appla icable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dued to
error or fraff ud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over finff ancial reporting
but not for the purposrr e of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether dued
to error or fraff ud, and performing procedurd es that respond to those risks. Such procedurd es included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.

Austin, Texas
Februar ry 29, 2024
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SHATTUCK LABS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31,

2023 2022

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ....................................................................................................... $ 125,626 $ 47,379
Investments .............................................................................................................................. 4,999 113,901
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ............................................................................... 12,595 23,304

Total current assets ........................................................................................................... 143,220 184,584
Property and equipment, net ........................................................................................................... 13,804 17,671
Other assets ..................................................................................................................................... 2,540 3,069

Total assets ....................................................................................................................... $ 159,564 $ 205,324

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable..................................................................................................................... $ 1,587 $ 7,170
Accruer d expenses and other current liabilities ........................................................................ 9,866 17,795

Total current liabilities ..................................................................................................... 11,453 24,965
Non-current operating lease liabia lities ............................................................................................ 3,406 4,202

Total liabia lities.................................................................................................................. 14,859 29,167
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.0001 par value: 300,000,000 shares authorized, 47,260,108 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 42,390,586 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2022 .......................................................................................... 5 5
Additional paid-in capital ........................................................................................................ 451,006 396,041
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ................................................................... 4 (877)
Accumulated deficff it................................................................................................................. (306,310) (219,012)

Total stockholders’ equity ................................................................................................ 144,705 176,157
Total liabia lities and stockholders’ equity.......................................................................... $ 159,564 $ 205,324

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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SHATTUCK LABS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATRR IONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Collabora ation revenue...................................................................................................................... $ 1,657 $ 652
Operating expenses:

Research and development ....................................................................................................... 74,310 82,899
General and administrative....................................................................................................... 19,304 21,082

Expense froff m operations ................................................................................................... 93,614 103,981
Loss from operations ....................................................................................................................... (91,957) (103,329)

Other income (expense):
Interest income ......................................................................................................................... 4,669 1,592
Other ......................................................................................................................................... (10) (208)

Total other income............................................................................................................. 4,659 1,384
Net loss ............................................................................................................................................ $ (87,298) $ (101,945)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 881 (317)
Comprehensive loss ......................................................................................................................... $ (86,417) $ (102,262)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted .............................................................................................. $ (2.05) $ (2.41)
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic and diluted ............................................................... 42,600,190 42,378,895

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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SHATTUCK LABS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
EquityShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2021 42,338,898 $ 5 $ 389,408 $ (560) $ (117,067) $ 271,786
Exercise of stock options and purchases
pursuant to employee stock purchase plan 51,688 — 171 — — 171

Stock-based compensation expense — — 6,462 — — 6,462
Unrealized loss on investments — — — (317) — (317)
Net loss — — — — (101,945) (101,945)
Balance at December 31, 2022 42,390,586 $ 5 $ 396,041 $ (877) $ (219,012) $ 176,157
Proceeds froff m sale of common stock and pre-
funded warrants, net of issuance cost 4,651,163 — — 47,580 — — — — — 47,580

Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 6,939 — — — — — 6,939
Proceeds froff m exercise of stock options and
purchase of common stock pursuant to
employee stock purchase plan 158,274 — — — 499 — — — — — 499

Issuance of common stock upon settlement of
restricted stock units 77,312 — — — — — — ——

Taxes paid related to net share settlement of
it d

(17,227) — (53) — — (53)
Unrealized gain on investments — — — — — — 881 — — — 881
Net loss — — — — — — — — (87,298) — (87,298)
Balance at December 31, 2023 47,260,108 $ 5 $ 451,006 $ 4 $ (306,310) $ 144,705

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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SHATTUCK LABS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cash flows froff m operating activities:
Net loss ......................................................................................................................................... $ (87,298) $ (101,945)
Adjud stments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operations:
Stock-based compensation....................................................................................................... 6,939 6,462
Depreciation............................................................................................................................. 4,042 3,073
Amortization of (discount) premium on debt securities .......................................................... (1,483) 1,370
Non-cash operating lease expense ........................................................................................... 364 302
Loss on sale of assets............................................................................................................... 303 704
Changes in operating assets and liabia lities: .............................................................................

Prepaid expenses and other current assets........................................................................ 10,458 (3,842)
Other assets....................................................................................................................... 165 (53)
Accounts payabla e.............................................................................................................. (5,629) (2,842)
Accruer d expenses and other current liabilities ................................................................. (8,636) 2,975
Non-current operating lease liabia lities.............................................................................. (796) (702)
Deferred revenue .............................................................................................................. 343 —

Net cash used in operating activities ......................................................................... (81,228) (94,498)

Cash flows froff m investing activities:
Sale and maturt ities of investments .......................................................................................... 190,999 193,325
Purchases of investments......................................................................................................... (79,733) (132,377)
Purchases of property and equipment...................................................................................... (407) (11,614)
Sale of property and equipment............................................................................................... — 104

Net cash provided by investing activities.................................................................. 110,859 49,438

Cash flows froff m finff ancing activities:

Proceeds froff m sale of common stock and pre-funded warrants, net of issuance cost 48,170 —
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and purchases of common stock pursuant to the
employee stock purchase plan 499 171

Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (53) —
Net cash provided by finff ancing activities ................................................................. 48,616 171

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..................................................................... 78,247 (44,889)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period............................................................................. 47,379 92,268
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ....................................................................................... $ 125,626 $ 47,379

Supplu emental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Unpaid amounts for direct offering costs $ 339 $ —
Deferred offeff ring cost paid in prior period $ 251 $ —
Unpaid amounts related to purchase of property and equipment $ 71 $ —
Operating lease liabia lities recognized forff operating right-of-use assets $ — $ 5,447
Operating right-of-use assets exchanged forff operating lease liabia lities $ — $ 2,945

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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SHATTUCK LABS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Description of Business

Shattuck Labsa , Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in 2016 in the State of Delaware and is a clinical-stage
biotechnology company pioneering the development of duad l-sided fusff ion proteins, including its Agonist Redirected Checkpoint
(“ARC®”) platform, as an entirely new class of biologic medicine capable of multifuncff tional activity with potential
applications in oncology and autoimmune and inflaff mmatory drr iseases, and other therapeutic areas. Using its proprietary
technology, the Company is building a pipeline of therapea utics, initially focused on the treatment of solid tumors and
hematologic malignancies. The Company has one clinical-stage product candidate, SL-172154, and has several compounds in
preclinical development

Liquii iditdd ytt

The Company has incurred losses and negative cash floff ws from operations since inception and has an accumulated
deficit of $306.3 million as of December 31, 2023. The Company anticipates incurring additional losses and negative cash
flows froff m operations until such time, if ever, that it can generate significant sales of its product candidates currently in
development, and is highly dependent on its ability to find additional sources of funding in the forff m of licensing of its
technology, collabora ation agreements, and/or public and private debt and equity financings. Adequate additional funff ding may
not be availabla e to the Company on acceptabla e terms, or at all. The faiff lure to raise fundsff as and when needed could have a
negative impact on the Company’s finff ancial condition and ability to pursue its clinical operations, research and development
and commercialization of its product candidates. Management believes that the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and
investments of $130.6 million as of December 31, 2023 are suffiff cient to fundff projected operations of the Company for at least
the next twelve months.

Globalll Economic Considerdd atiott ns

The global macroeconomic environment is uncertain, and could be negatively affected by, among other things, increased
U.S. trade tariffsff and trade disputes with other countries, instabia lity in the global capital and credit markets, supplu y chain
weaknesses, financial institution instability, instabia lity in the geopolitical environment, and lingering effeff cts of the COVID-19
pandemic. Such challenges have caused, and may continue to cause, recession fears, rising interest rates, foreign exchange
volatility and inflationary pressures. At this time, we are unabla e to quantify tff he potential effects of this economic instability on
the Company’s futff urt e operations.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies

Basis oii f Po rePP sentattt iott n

The accompanying audited finff ancial statements have been prepared in conforff mity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

Use of Eo stEE imatt tes

The preparation of finff ancial statements in conforff mity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affeff ct the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates and
assumptions reflected in these finff ancial statements include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, the accruar l of research
and development expenses, and the valuation of stock-based awards. Estimates are periodically reviewed in light of changes in
circumstances, facff ts and experience. Changes in estimates, if any, are recorded in the period in which they become known and
actuat l results could diffeff r froff m management’s estimates.

Fair Value of Fo inFF ancial Instrutt mentstt

Fair value is definff ed as the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid uponu the transfer of a liabia lity in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date and in the principal or most advantageous market
for that asset or liabia lity. Fair value measurements are classified and disclosed in one of the folff lowing categories:

• Level 1: Observabla e inputs such as quoted prices in active markets forff identical assets the reporting entity has the ability
to access as of the measurement date;

• Level 2: Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observabla e either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3: Unobservabla e inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its
own assumptions.
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Fair value measurements are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the measurement. The
Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the faiff r value measurement requires judgment, which may
affeff ct the valuation of the assets and liabia lities and their placement within the faiff r value hierarchy levels. The determination of
the faiff r values stated below takes into account the market forff its finff ancial assets and liabia lities, the associated credit risk and
other factff ors as required. The Company considers active markets as those in which transactions for the assets or liabia lities occur
with sufficient freff quency and volume to provide pricing inforff mation on an ongoing basis.

Management believes that the carrying amounts of the Company’s finff ancial instruments, including investments and
accounts payable, appra oximate fair value dued to the short-term nature of those instrumr ents.

Concentratiott n of Ro isk

Financial instrumr ents that potentially subju ect the Company to concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of cash, cash
equivalents and investments. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at two accredited finff ancial institutions in
amounts that exceed federally-insured limits. The Company does not believe that it is subju ect to unusual credit risk beyond the
normal credit risk associated with commercial banking relationships. The Company invests in only highly-rated debt securities
that management believes protects the Company froff m risk of defauff lt and impairment of value.

All of the Company’s revenue in 2023 and 2022 was derived from a collabora ation agreement with ImmunoGen, Inc.
(“ImmunoGen”) and a collaboration agreement with another third-party pharmaceutical company. In Februarr ry 2024,
ImmunoGen was acquired by AbbVie, Inc.

The Company is highly dependent on a limited number of contract development and manufactff urt ing organizations
(“CDMOs”) to supply drug products for its research and development activities of its programs, including clinical trials and
non-clinical studit es. These programs could be adversely affected by a significant interruptu ion in the supplu y of such drug
products.

The Company is highly dependent on a limited number of contract research organizations (“CROs”) and third-party
service providers to manage and support its clinical trials. These programs could be adversely affected by a significant
disruptr ion in services provided by these CROs and third parties.

Cash and CasCC h Equivalenll ts

The Company considers all demand deposits with finff ancial institutions and all highly liquid investments with original
maturities of 90 days or less at the date of purchase to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consisted of
$4.8 million held in operating accounts, $81.1 million held in money market funff ds and $39.7 million in U.S. Government
Securities as of December 31, 2023 and $3.5 million held in operating accounts and $43.9 million held in money market fundsff
as of December 31, 2022.

Investments

The Company's investments consist of highly-rated U.S. Treasury srr ecurities and have been classified as availabla e-for-sale
and are carried at estimated faiff r value as determined based uponu quoted market prices. Management determines the appra opriate
classification of its investment securities at the time of purchase. The Company may hold securities with stated maturities
greater than one year. All availabla e-for-sale securities are considered availabla e to support current operations and are classified
as current assets. Credit impairments for availabla e-for-sale securities are recorded through an allowance rather than a direct
write-down of the security and are recorded through a charge to the statements of operations. Unrealized gains or losses not
related to credit impairments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’
equity, until realized. The Company reviews availabla e-for-sale debt securities forff impairments related to credit losses and other
factors each quarter. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no impairments related to credit losses of investments.

Prepaid ExpeEE nses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include prepaid expenses for general business purposrr es and services used in
research projects, which are stated at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over the related period of benefit.ff Supplu ies and
materials that have multiple appa lications for alternative futff urt e use are expensed as they are consumed.

Property att nd Equipmii ent

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is recognized using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life off f the asset. Expenditures forff repairs and maintenance that do not extend the
estimated useful life off r improve an asset are expensed as incurred. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation and amortization of assets disposed of are removed froff m the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is included in
the statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Depreciation periods are as folff lows:

Office equipment 3 years
Furniturt e and fixturt es 5 to 10 years
Lab ea quipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or 15 years

Impaim rmii ent of Lo ong-Li- ved Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed forff indications of possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabla e. Recoverabia lity is measured by comparison of the carrying
amounts to the future undiscounted cash floff ws attributable to these assets. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent an
asset group is not recoverabla e and the carrying amount exceeds the projeo cted discounted future cash floff ws arising fromff these
assets. In the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $0.3 million and $0.7 million, respectively, of
impairment losses related to lab ea quipment that was determined to no longer be needed, which is included in the Company's
research and development costs.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent the Company's
right to use an underlying asset forff the lease term and lease liabia lities represent the Company's obligation to make lease
payments arising froff m the lease. The classification of the Company's leases as operating or finff ance leases, along with the initial
measurement and recognition of the associated ROU assets and lease liabia lities, are performed at the lease commencement date.
The measurement of lease liabia lities is based on the present value of futff urt e lease payments over the lease term. As the
Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information
availabla e at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of futff urt e lease payments. The ROU asset is based on
the measurement of the lease liabia lity and also includes any lease payments made prior to or on lease commencement and
excludes lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred, as applicable. The lease terms may include options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonabla y certain the Company will exercise any such options. Rent expense forff the Company's
operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected to not apply the recognition
requirement of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 842, Leases of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) to leases with a term of 12 months or less for all classes of assets.

Commitmeii nts att nd Contintt gencies

The Company follows ASC 450-20, Contingencies of the FASB to report accounting forff contingencies. Certain
conditions may exist as of the date the condensed financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to the Company but
which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or faiff l to occur. The Company assesses such contingent
liabia lities, and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment. In assessing loss contingencies related to legal
proceedings that are pending against the Company or unasserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the Company
evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount of
relief sought or expected to be sought therein.

If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probabla e that a material loss has been incurred and the amount of the
liabia lity can be estimated, then the estimated liabia lity would be accruer d in the Company’s condensed financial statements. If the
assessment indicates that a potential material loss contingency is not probabla e but is reasonabla y possible, or is probabla e but
cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liabia lity, and an estimate of the range of possible losses, if determinable
and material, would be disclosed.

Loss contingencies considered remote are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which case the
guarantees would be disclosed.

Revenue Recogno itiott n

Collaboration revenue is recognized in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contrat cts wtt ith Customersrr (“ASC
606”). Arrangements with collabora ators may include licenses to intellectuat l property, research and development services,
manufactff urt ing services for clinical and commercial supply and participation on joint steering committees. The Company
evaluates the promised goods or services in the contract to determine which promises, or group of promises, represent
performance obligations. In contemplation of whether a promised good or service meets the criteria required of a performance
obligation, the Company considers the stage of development of the underlying intellectuat l property, the capabilities and
expertise of the customer relative to the underlying intellectuat l property and whether the promised goods or services are integral
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to or dependent on other promises in the contract. When accounting forff an arrangement that contains multiple performance
obligations, the Company must develop judgmental assumptions, which may include market conditions, reimbursement rates
for personnel costs, development timelines and probabia lities of regulatory srr uccess to determine the stand-alone selling price for
each performance obligation identifieff d in the contract.

Upon the amendment of an existing agreement, the Company evaluates whether the amendment represents a
modification to an existing contract that would be recorded through a cumulative catch-up tu o revenue, or a separate contract. If
it is determined that it is a separate contract, the Company will evaluate the necessary revenue recognition through the fivff e-step
process described below.

When the Company concludes that a contract should be accounted for as a combined performance obligation and
recognized over time, the Company must then determine the period over which revenue should be recognized and the method
by which to measure revenue. The Company generally recognizes revenue using a cost-based input method.

The Company recognizes collaboration revenue in an amount that reflects the consideration that the Company expects to
receive in exchange for those goods or services when its customer or collabora ator obtains control of promised goods or services.
To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that the Company determines are within the scope of ASC 606, the
following five steps are performed:

i. identify tff he contract(s) with a customer;

ii. identify tff he performance obligations in the contract;

iii. determine the transaction price;

iv. allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract; and

v. recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company only appla ies the five-step model to contracts when it determines that it is probabla e it will collect the
consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transferff s to the customer.

At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, the Company assesses the
goods or services promised within the contract to determine whether each promised good or service is a performance
obligation. The promised goods or services in the Company’s arrangements may consist of a license of, off r options to license,
the Company’s intellectuat l property and research, development and manufactff urt ing services. The Company may provide options
to additional items in such arrangements, which are accounted for as separate contracts when the customer elects to exercise
such options, unless the option provides a material right to the customer. Performance obligations are promises in a contract to
transferff a distinct good or service to the customer that (i) the customer can benefit froff m on its own or together with other
readily availabla e resources and (ii) are separately identifiaff bla e froff m other promises in the contract. Goods or services that are not
individually distinct performance obligations are combined with other promised goods or services until such combined group of
promises meet the requirements of a performance obligation.

The Company determines transaction price based on the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive for
transferff ring the promised goods or services in the contract. Consideration may be fixed, variable or a combination of both. At
contract inception forff arrangements that include variable consideration, the Company estimates the probabia lity and extent of
consideration it expects to receive under the contract utilizing either the most-likely amount method or expected amount
method, whichever best estimates the amount expected to be received. The Company then considers any constraints on the
variable consideration and includes variabla e consideration in the transaction price to the extent it is deemed probabla e that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

The Company then allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on the relative standalone selling
price and recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation
when (or as) control is transferred to the customer and the performance obligation is satisfied. For performance obligations that
consist of licenses and other promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the naturt e of the combined performance
obligation to determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over
time, the appropriate method of measuring progress. The Company evaluates the measure of progress each reporting period
and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of performance and related revenue recognition.

The Company records amounts as accounts receivable when the right to consideration is deemed unconditional. When
consideration is received, or such consideration is unconditionally due, froff m a customer prior to transferring goods or services
to the customer under the terms of a contract, a contract liabia lity is recorded as deferred revenue.
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Amounts received prior to satisfying the revenue recognition criteria are recognized as deferred revenue in the
Company’s accompanying balance sheet. Deferff red revenues expected to be recognized as revenue within the 12 months
following the balance sheet date are classified as a current liabia lity. Deferff red revenues not expected to be recognized as revenue
within the 12 months folff lowing the balance sheet date are classified as non-current liabia lities.

The ComCC panym ’s collaboration revenue arrangements mtt ay include the folff lowing:

Up-front License Fees: If a license is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identifieff d in the
arrangement, the Company recognizes revenues froff m nonrefundaff bla e, up-front fees allocated to the license when the license is
transferff red to the licensee and the licensee is abla e to use and benefitff from the license. For licenses that are bundled with other
promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the naturt e of the combined performance obligation to determine whether the
combined perforff mance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of
measuring progress forff purposrr es of recognizing revenue from non-refundabla e, up-front fees. The Company evaluates the
measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of performance and related revenue
recognition.

Milestone Payments: At the inception of an agreement that includes research and development milestone payments, the
Company evaluates each milestone to determine when and how much of the milestone to include in the transaction price. The
Company firff st estimates the amount of the milestone payment that the Company could receive using either the expected value
or the most-likely amount approach. The Company primarily uses the most-likely amount approach as that approach is
generally most predictive for milestone payments with a binary orr utcome. The Company then considers whether any portion of
that estimated amount is subju ect to the variable consideration constraint (that is, whether it is probabla e that a significant reversal
of cumulative revenue would not occur uponu resolution of the uncertainty). The Company updates the estimate of variable
consideration included in the transaction price at each reporting date which includes updau ting the assessment of the likely
amount of consideration and the appla ication of the constraint to reflect current facts and circumstances.

Royalties: For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based on a level of sales,
and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, the Company will recognize revenue at the
later of (i) when the related sales occur, or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been
allocated has been satisfieff d (or partially satisfied).

To date, the Company has not granted a development and commercialization license nor recognized any revenue related
to sales-based royalties or milestone payments based on the level of sales.

Research and Development Services: The Company will record costs associated with development and process
optimization activities as research and development expenses in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss consistent
with ASC 730, Research and Development. The Company considered the guidance in ASC 808, Collaborative Arrangementstt
and will recognize the payments received froff m these agreements as revenue when the related costs are incurred.

Research and Developmll ent CosCC ts

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, and include salaries, stock-based compensation and other
personnel-related costs, equipment and supplu ies, depreciation, nonclinical studit es, clinical trials and manufactff urt ing
development activities.

A substantial portion of the Company’s ongoing research and development activities are conducted by third-party service
providers, including CROs and CDMOs. The Company accruer s forff expenses resulting froff m obligations under agreements with
CROs, CDMOs and other outside service providers for which payment floff ws do not match the periods over which materials or
services are provided to the Company. Accruarr ls are recorded based on estimates of services received and effoff rts expended
pursuant to agreements established with CROs, CDMOs and other outside service providers. These estimates are typically
based on contracted amounts appla ied to the proportion of work performed and determined through an evaluation of the progress
or stage of completion of the services. In the event advance payments are made to a CRO, CDMO or outside service provider,
the payments will be recorded as a prepaid asset which will be amortized as the contracted services are performed. As actuat l
costs become known, the Company adjud sts its accruals and prepaid assets accordingly. Inputs, such as the services performed,
the number of patients enrolled or the studyt duration, may vary frr roff m the Company’s estimates, resulting in adjustments to
research and development expense in futff urt e periods. The Company makes significant judgments and estimates in determining
the accrual and/or prepaid balance in each reporting period and changes in these estimates may result in material changes to the
Company’s accruarr ls that could materially affeff ct the Company’s results of operations.

Pre-Fundeddd Warrantstt

The Company’s pre-funded warrants are classified as a component of permanent stockholders’ equity within additional
paid-in capital and were recorded at the issuance date using a relative faiff r value allocation method. The pre-funded warrants are

74



equity classified because they (i) are freestanding financial instrumr ents, (ii) are immediately exercisable, (iii) do not embody an
obligation forff the Company to repurchase its shares, (iv) permit the holders to receive a fixff ed number of shares of common
stock uponu exercise, (v) are indexed to the Company’s common stock and (vi) meet the equity classification criteria. In
addition, such pre-funded warrants do not provide any guarantee of value or returt n. The Company valued the pre-funded
warrants at issuance, concluding that their sales price appra oximated their fair value.

Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n

The Company recognizes the cost of stock-based awards issued to employees and nonemployees as compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award, net of estimated forff feitures. Forfeiture estimates are based
on historical cancellation data. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant-date fair
value of stock options. The fair values of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are based on the faiff r value of the Company’s common
stock on the date of the grant. The Company also grants stock options that vest upon achievement of certain market-based
conditions. The Company uses the Monte Carlo pricing model to estimate the faiff r value of options that have market-based
conditions. The Company adjusts expense forff forfeitures in the periods they occur.

Income Taxeaa s

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting forff income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabia lities are recognized forff the expected future tax consequences of temporary drr iffeff rences between the finff ancial
statements and the tax bases of assets and liabia lities. Deferred tax assets and liabia lities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary drr iffeff rences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabia lities will be recognized in the period that includes the
enactment date. Additionally, any changes in income tax laws are immediately recognized in the year of enactment.

A valuation allowance is established against the deferff red tax assets to reduce their carrying value to an amount that is
more likely than not to be realized. The deferred tax assets and liabia lities are classified as noncurrent along with the related
valuation allowance. Due to a lack of earnings history,rr the net deferred tax assets have been fully offsff et by a valuation
allowance.

The Company recognizes benefits of uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that such positions will be
sustained uponu examination based solely on the technical merits, as the largest amount of benefits that is more likely than not to
be realized upon the ultimate settlement. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the
unrecognized tax benefitff s as a component of income tax expense.

Net Loss PerPP Share

Basic loss per share of common stock is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period. Basic shares outstanding includes the
weighted average effect of the Company’s outstanding pre-funded warrants, the exercise of which requires nominal
consideration forff the delivery orr f shares of common stock. Diluted loss per share of common stock includes the effeff ct, if any,
from the potential exercise or conversion of securities, such as redeemable convertible preferff red stock, or convertible notes (if
any), stock options and unvested shares of restricted stock, which would result in the issuance of incremental shares of common
stock. For diluted net loss per share, the weighted-average number of shares of common stock is the same forff basic net loss per
share dued to the factff that when a net loss exists, dilutive securities are not included in the calculation as the impact is anti-
dilutive.

The folff lowing potentially dilutive securities have been excluded froff m the computation of diluted weighted-average
shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, as they would be anti-dilutive:

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Stock options 4,942,164 4,209,255
Unvested restricted stock units 590,403 309,477

5,532,567 4,518,732

Othett r ComCC prm ehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprr ise durd ing a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Other comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of
the net loss and unrealized gains and losses on investments.
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Recently Adoptdd edtt Accountintt g ProPP nouncements

There were no recently issued accounting statements expected to have a material impact on the Company.

3. Investments

The folff lowing tabla e represents the Company’s availabla e-for-sale investments by major security type (amounts in
thousands):

December 31, 2023

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gain

Total
Fair Value

Investments:
U.S. government securities $ 4,998 $ 1 $ 4,999

Cash Equivalents:
U.S. government securities 39,657 3 39,660

Total level 1 debt securities $ 44,655 $ 4 $ 44,659

December 31, 2022

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

Total
Fair Value

Investments:
U.S. government securities $ 114,778 $ (877) $ 113,901

Cash Equivalents:
U.S. government securities — — —

Total level 1 debt securities $ 114,778 $ (877) $ 113,901

The Company’s investment instruments and cash and cash equivalents are classified using Level 1 inputs within the fair
value hierarchy and are valued using quoted market prices, broker or dealer quotations, or alternative pricing sources with
reasonabla e levels of price transparency. Debt securities have an average maturity of 0.15 years as of December 31, 2023.

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022

Lab ea quipmen $t 15,469 $ 15,547
Leasehold improvement 7s ,097 7,086
Furniture and fixff turt es 452 452
Offiff ce equipmen 1t 92 191
Construcr tion in progres 1s 00 104

Property and equipment, gross 23,310 23,380
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortizatio (n 9,506) (5,709)

Property and equipment, ne $t 13,804 $ 17,671

Depreciation and amortization expense forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $4.0 million and $3.1
million, respectively.

76



5. Accrued Expenses

Accruer d expenses consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022

Research and development contract costs $ 4,235 $ 11,256
Compensation and related benefits 3,794 3,967
Lease liabia litie 7s 96 701
Litigation settlement — 1,400
Other current liabilities 1,041 471
Total accruerr d expenses and other current liabilities $ 9,866 $ 17,795

6. Leases

Operatintt g Leases

The Company leases certain office space, labora atory frr acff ilities, and equipment. These leases require monthly lease
payments that may be subject to annual increases throughout the lease term. Certain of these leases also include renewal options
at the election of the Company to renew or extend the lease. These optional periods have not been considered in the
determination of the ROU assets or lease liabia lities associated with these leases as the Company did not consider it reasonabla y
certain it would exercise the options. The Company performed evaluations of its contracts and determined it has operating
leases.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the Company’s recognition of its operating leases (in thousands):

December 31,

Balance Sheet Classification 2023 2022

Other assets $ 2,271 $ 2,635

Accruer d expenses and other current liabia lities $ 796 $ 701
Non-current operating lease liabia lities 3,406 4,202
Total liabia lities $ 4,202 $ 4,903

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rates forff the Company’s
operating leases:

December 31,
2023 2022

Lease term (years) 4.5 5.5
Discount rate 8.6 % 8.6 %

The Company incurred rent expense forff its operating leases of $0.8 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively, which is included within operating expenses in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Cash
paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabia lities forff the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was
$1.0 million and was included in net cash used in operating activities in the statement of cash floff ws.
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The maturt ities of the Company’s operating lease liabia lities as of December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

2024 $ 1,120
2025 1,152
2026 1,093
2027 848
2028 873
Thereafteff r —
Total lease payments $ 5,086
Less:
Imputed interest (884)
Total $ 4,202

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Kopfo kiff noii License Agreement

The Company is party to an Exclusive License Agreement (“the Kopfkiff no License Agreement”), with Kopfkiff no IP,
LLC (“Kopfkiff no”). Under terms of the Kopfkiff no License Agreement the Company is required to make payments of up tu o
$20.5 million in aggregate forff the achievement of specified development, regulatory arr nd commercial sales milestones forff
certain licensed products. The Company is required to pay Kopfkiff no a percentage of upfroff nt fees or other non-royalty payments
not tied to milestone events that it receives in connection with certain sublu icenses of the licensed patents. The Company is also
required to pay Kopfkiff no a royalty on all of its worldwide net sales, those of its affiff liates, and sublicenses of certain licensed
patents in the low single digits. The Company has not recorded a liabia lity for the aforff ementioned payments given the
achievement of specifieff d development, regulatory arr nd commercial sales milestones forff certain licensed products is not probabla e
as of the balance sheet date. The Company originally entered into the Kopfkiff no License Agreement in June 2016 with Scorpir us
Holdings, Inc., (“Scorpir us”) (f/k/a Nighthawk Biosciences, Inc., f/kff /akk Heat Biologics Inc.). In January 2024, Scorpir us assigned
the rights, title, and interest in and under the agreement, along with the underlying patents and patent applications, to Kopfkiff no.

Litigii atiott n

From time to time, the Company may become involved in various legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business.
On January 31, 2022 and February 1rr 1, 2022, putative class action lawsuits were filed in the U.S. District Court forff the Eastern
District of New York against the Company and certain of the Company’s officers and directors. The cases were consolidated on
June 2, 2022, and the plaintiffsff filed an amended complaint on July 1, 2022. The amended complaint cited the volatility in the
Company’s common stock and alleged that the defendants made or were responsible for misleading omissions regarding the
Company’s clinical trial results and the collabora ation agreement with Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a wholly-owned
subsu idiary of Takeda Pharmaceutical Company, Ltd. The court appra oved the parties’ settlement of the plaintiffsff ’ claims in the
amount of $1.4 million and entered a final judgment dismissing the class action claims with prejudice on November 6, 2023.
The Company paid the amount to the escrow agent for the settlement on June 19, 2023.

Contratt ctual Obligll atiott ns

Contractuat l obligations represent futff urt e cash commitments and liabilities under agreements with third parties, and
exclude contingent liabilities for which the Company cannot reasonabla y predict future payment. The Company’s contractuat l
obligations result primarily froff m obligations for various CDMOs and CROs, which include potential payments that may be
required under its agreements. The contracts also contain variabla e costs and milestones that are hard to predict, as they are
based on such things as patients enrolled and clinical trial sites. The timing of payments and actuat l amounts paid under CDMO
and CRO agreements may be diffeff rent depending on the timing of receipt of goods or services or changes to agreed-upon terms
or amounts forff some obligations. Such agreements are cancellabla e uponu written notice by the Company and, thereforeff , are not
long-term liabilities.
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8. Collaboration Agreements

The Company recognizes revenue forff collabora ation agreements using a cost-based input measure. In applying the cost-
based input method of revenue recognition, the Company uses actual costs incurred relative to budgeted costs expected to be
incurred, and any upfroff nt payments are deferff red accordingly.

In 2022 the Company entered into a collabora ation agreement with ImmunoGen. Pursuant to the collabora ation
agreement, ImmunoGen will reimburse the Company for $2.0 million of the costs we incur in the Phase 1B combination cohort
evaluating SL-172154 in combination with mirvetuximab sa oravtansine in patients with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer. The
Company dosed its first patient with mirvetuximab sa oravtansine in 2023 and recognized $1.7 million of revenue under the
collaboration agreement in 2023. In Februar ry 2024, ImmunoGen was acquired by AbbVie, Inc. In 2022, the Company also
executed and completed a collabora ation agreement with a third party and recognized $0.7 million in revenue.

On Februarr ry 13, 2024, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement (the “Ono Agreement”) with Ono
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (“Ono”) pursuant to which the parties will collabora ate in the research and preclinical development of
certain prespecified compounds directed toward a pair of targets selected by Ono froff m our pipeline of bifuncff tional fusff ion
proteins. Pursuant to the Ono Agreement, the Company granted to Ono an exclusive option (the “Option”) to enter into an
exclusive license to further develop, manufactff urt e and sell products containing these bifuncff tional fusff ion proteins.

Pursuant to the Ono Agreement, the Company and Ono developed a nonclinical research plan (the “Research Plan”).
The Company is primarily responsible for carrying out the research activities in accordance with the Research Plan, subject to
the oversight of a joint research committee consisting of representatives from each party. Ono is responsible for all research
costs incurred under the Research Plan.

Pursuant to the Ono Agreement, Ono will pay the Company $5.4 million to secure the Option and to cover the first six
months of expected research costs under the Research Plan.

In addition to furff ther Research Plan funding, the Company is entitled to receive from Ono up to $224.5 million in
aggregate consisting of license feeff s and milestone payments based on the achievement of specified development, regulatory,rr
and sales milestones. The company may receive tiered royalties on product sales, ranging from mid-single digit to low-double
digit percentages.

Ono may terminate the Collabora ation Agreement at any time uponu 90 days’ written notice to us. If Ono exercises such
termination right, Ono will pay all of our costs up tu hrough the date of termination.

9. Equity

The Company is authorized to issue up tu o 300,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferff red
stock, all with a par value of $0.0001 per share. The holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one vote per share
on all matters submu itted to a vote of stockholders. The Company’s common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not
subju ect to conversion, redemption or sinking fund provisions. Subject to preferff ences that may appla y to any shares of preferff red
stock outstanding at the time, the holders of the Company’s common stock will receive ratabla y any dividends declared by the
Company’s board of directors (“Board”) out of funds legally availabla e. In the event of the Company’s liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up, the holders of the Company’s common stock will be entitled to share ratabla y in all assets remaining after payment
of or provision for any liabia lities. As of the periods presented, no common stock dividends had been declared by the Board. At
December 31, 2023, none of the 10,000,000 shares of preferff red stock were outstanding, and the Company has no present plans
to issue any shares of preferff red stock.

On December 26, 2023, the Company sold 4,651,163 shares of common stock through an underwritten public offeff ring,
and concurrently completed a private placement of 3,100,823 pre-funded warrants forff net proceeds of $47.6 million. The
purchase price per share of common stock was $6.45, and the purchase price per pre-funded warrant was $6.4499 which was
the purchase price per share of common stock, minus the $0.0001 per share exercise price of such pre-funff ded warrant. Each
pre-funded warrant may be exercised for one share of common stock, is immediately exercisable, does not expire, and is subju ect
to a beneficff ial ownership limitation of 9.99% post-exercise. As of December 31, 2023, no pre-funded warrants have been
exercised, and 3,100,823 pre-funded warrants remain outstanding.

In July 2022, the Company entered into a sales agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with SVB Securities LLC (the “Sales
Agent”), pursuant to which it may offer and sell up to $75.0 million of shares of its common stock froff m time to time (the “ATM
Facility”). The Sales Agent is generally entitled to compensation at a commission equal to 3.0% of the aggregate gross sales
price per share sold under the Sales Agreement. As of December 31, 2023, there were no sales pursuant to the ATM Facility.
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10. Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefitff Plans

2020 Equityii Incentivtt e PlaPP n

In September 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) which, as of the adoption
date, replaced the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan. Under the 2020 Plan, the share reserve automatically increases on January 1st of
each year beginning in 2021 and ending with a finff al increase on January 1, 2030 in an amount equal to 4% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock on December 31st of the preceding calendar year. The Board may provide that there will be no
increase in the share reserve forff any such year or that the increase in the share reserve may be smaller than would otherwise
occur. As of December 31, 2023, there were 3,983,756 shares of common stock available for futff urt e grants. On January 1, 2024,
the share reserve automatically increased by 1,890,404 shares. The 2020 Plan permits the granting of options, stock
appreciation rights, RSUs, performance stock, and performance cash awards. The terms of the agreements under the 2020 Plan
are determined by the Board. The Company’s awards generally vest over fourff years and have a term of 10 years. In 2023, the
Company granted 165,050 options that vest in equal tranches based on the Company achieving a closing share price of equal to
or greater than $4.00, $5.00, and $6.00 for 30 consecutive trading days on or beforff e the fourth anniversary orr f the grant date. In
2022, the Company granted 178,150 options that vest based on the Company achieving a closing share price of equal to or
greater than $18.00 for 30 consecutive trading days on or beforff e the fourth anniversary orr f the grant date.

2020 Emplm oyll ee Stoctt k Purchase PlaPP n

The 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the“2020 ESPP”) became effective in connection with the Company’s initial
public offeff ring (“IPO”) and as of December 31, 2023, a total of 1,204,874 shares of common stock are reserved forff issuance
under the 2020 ESPP. Eligible employees may purchase shares of common stock under the 2020 ESPP at 85% of the lower of
the faiff r market value of the Company’s common stock as of the firff st or the last day of each offeff ring period. Employees are
limited to contributing 15% of the employee’s eligible compensation and may not purchase more than $25,000 of stock durd ing
any calendar year or more than 600 shares during any one purchase period. The 2020 ESPP share reserve automatically
increases on January 1st of each calendar year, forff ten years, commencing on January 1, 2021, in an amount equal to 1% of the
total number of shares of common stock outstanding on December 31st of the preceding calendar year. The Board may act prior
to January 1st of a given year to provide that there will be no January 1st increase of the share reserve for such year or that the
increase in the share reserve forff such year will be a smaller number of shares of common stock than would otherwise occur
pursuant to the preceding sentence. On January 1, 2024, the share reserve increased by 472,601 shares of common stock.
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company issued 23,020 and 13,088 shares of common stock for
aggregate cash proceeds of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense in the following expense categories of its accompanying
audited statements of operations and comprehensive loss (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Research and development $ 3,462 $ 3,574
General and administrative 3,477 2,888
Total stock-based compensation $ 6,939 $ 6,462

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes option activity under the 2020 Plan:

Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average

Remaining Lifeff
(Years)

Balance at December 31, 2022 4,209,255 $ 8.29 8.07
Granted 1,462,535 3.41
Exercised (135,254) 3.26
Forfeited (594,372) 6.41

Balance at December 31, 2023 4,942,164 $ 7.21 7.62
Vested and expected to vest 4,787,518 $ 7.27 7.47
Exercisabla e at the end of the period 2,696,018 $ 8.34 6.47

Options granted durd ing the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 had weighted-average grant-date fair values of
$2.50 and $4.03 per share, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the unrecognized compensation cost forff options issued was
$8.0 million and will be recognized over an estimated weighted-average amortization period of 1.94 years. The total intrinsic
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value of options exercised durd ing the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $0.40 million and $0.1 million,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2023 was $6.6 million.

Restritt ctedtt Stoctt k UniUU tsii

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes employee RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Awards

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested RSUs at December 31, 2022............................................. 309,477 $ 7.22
Granted ...................................................................................... 460,925 3.54
Vested ........................................................................................ (77,312) 7.22
Forfeited .................................................................................... (102,687) 4.62

Balance at December 31, 2023 ......................................................... 590,403 $ 4.80

The Company recognized $0.8 million and $0.6 million of stock-based compensation related to RSUs as of
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023, the unrecognized compensation cost forff RSUs issued
was $2.0 million and will be recognized over an estimated weighted-average amortization period of 2.70 years. The faiff r values
of RSUs is based on the fair value of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant.

Fair Value of So toSS ck Options and ShaSS res IssuII ed

The Company accounts forff stock-based compensation by measuring and recognizing as compensation expense the fair
value of all share-based payment awards made to employees, including employee stock options and restricted stock awards.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the faiff r value of employee stock options that only have
service or performance conditions. The Company uses the Monte Carlo pricing model to estimate the faiff r value of options that
have market-based conditions. The inputs to both pricing models require a number of management estimates such as the
expected term, volatility, risk-free interest rate and dividend yield. The faiff r value of stock options was determined using the
methods and assumptions discussed below.

• The expected term of employee stock options with service-based vesting is determined using the “simplified” method,
whereby the expected life eff quals the arithmetic average of the vesting term and the original contractuat l term of the
option dued to the Company’s lack of suffiff cient historical data.

• The expected stock price volatility assumption is based on the historical volatilities of the common stock of a peer
group of publicly traded companies as well as the historical volatility of the Company's common stock since the
Company began trading subsequent to the IPO in October 2020 over the period corresponding to the expected life aff s
of the grant date. The historical volatility data was computed using the daily closing prices during the equivalent
period of the calculated expected term of the stock-based awards. The Company will continue to apply this process
until a suffiff cient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of the Company's stock price becomes
availabla e, or until circumstances change, such that the identified entities are no longer comparabla e companies. In the
latter case, other suitabla e, similar entities whose share prices are publicly availabla e would be utilized in the calculation.

• The risk-freff e interest rate is based on the interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury srr ecurities in effect at the time of grant
for a period that is commensurate with the expected term.

• The expected dividend yield is 0% because the Company has not historically paid, and does not expect, forff the
foreseeable future, to pay dividends on its common stock.

• Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Board periodically estimated the fair value of the Company’s common stock
considering, among other things, contemporaneous valuations of its common stock prepared by an unrelated third-
party valuation firm. Subsequent to the Company’s IPO, options are issued with a strike price no less than the market
price on date of grant.
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The grant-date faiff r value of options calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model granted under the
Company’s 2020 Plan were estimated using the folff lowing weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
2020 Plan
Expected term - years .............................................................................. 6.08 6.08
Expected volatility................................................................................... 84.8 % 82.4 %
Risk-free interest rate .............................................................................. 3.6 % 2.4 %
Expected dividends ................................................................................. — —

The grant-date faiff r value of options calculated using the Monte Carlo option pricing model granted under the Company’s
2020 Plan were estimated using the folff lowing assumptions:

.

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
2020 Plan
Expected term - years .............................................................................. 4.00 4.00
Expected volatility................................................................................... 80.0 % 80.0 %
Risk-free interest rate .............................................................................. 3.6 1% .4 %
Expected dividends ................................................................................. — —

The grant-date faiff r value of shares issued calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model under the Company’s
2020 ESPP were estimated using the folff lowing weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
2020 ESPP
Expected term - years .............................................................................. 0.5 0.5
Expected volatility................................................................................... 85.5 8% 2.9 %
Risk-free interest rate .............................................................................. 4.0 2% .5 %
Expected dividends ................................................................................. ——

Emplm oyll ee Benefie t Pii laPP ns

The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan in which subsu tantially all of its full-time employees are eligible to
participate. Participants may contribute a percentage of their annual compensation to this plan, subju ect to statutt ory lrr imitations.
The Company made matching contributions of $0.7 million and $0.5 million to the plan forff the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively.
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11. Income Taxes

The Company recorded no federal provision for income taxes as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 due to reported net
losses since inception. A reconciliation of the expected income tax expense (benefit) computed using the federal statutory
income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
(amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Income tax benefitff computed at federal statutory tax rate $ (18,332) $ (21,409)
Change in valuation allowance 21,347 24,713
General business credits (4,392) (4,883)
Stock compensation 486 602
Change in uncertain tax position 878 977
Other 13 —
Income tax benefitff $ — $ —

Significant components of the Company’s deferff red tax assets and liabia lities are as follows (amounts in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022
Deferred tax asset:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 31,393 $ 24,867
Accruer d expenses and other 1,827 3,578
Stock compensation 2,431 1,533
Credit carryforff wards 13,614 10,101
Capia tal loss carryforwards 583 583
Capia talized R&D expense 27,210 15,017
Lease liabia lities 882 1,030
Gross deferff red tax asset 77,940 56,709

Less valuation allowance (76,386) (55,044)
Net deferff red tax asset 1,554 1,665

Deferred tax liabia lity:
Depreciation and amortization (744) (676)
Prepaid expenses (334) (436)
Lease assets (476) (553)
Total deferff red tax liabia lity (1,554) (1,665)

Total net deferred tax asset $ — $ —

The Company has established a valuation allowance equal to the net deferff red tax asset dued to uncertainties regarding the
realization of the deferred tax asset based on the Company’s lack of earnings history.rr The valuation allowance increased by
$21.3 million and $24.7 million durd ing the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, primarily due to continuing
loss from operations, general business credit carryforwards, and accruerr d expenses.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had gross U.S. net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $149.5
million and $118.4 million, respectively. Additionally, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had capital loss
carryforwards of $2.8 million. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had gross state NOL carryforwards of $0.2
million. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had gross U.S. tax credit carryforwards of $16.9 million and $12.5
million, respectively. The NOL, capital loss, and tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2024, if not utilized. The NOL,
capital loss, and credit carryforwards are subject to Internal Revenue Service adjustments until the statute closes on the year the
NOL or credit carryforwards are utilized.

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code limits the utilization of U.S. NOLs folff lowing a change of control. Afteff r the
2019 financial statements were filed, the Company completed a Section 382 studyt from forff mation through October 14, 2020.
Although an ownership change occurred durd ing 2020, no deferred tax assets were impacted by the limitation.

83



A reconciliation of the Company’s liabia lity for unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Balance, beginning of the year $ 2,380 $ 1,404
Increase forff tax positions related to the current year 642 733
Increase forff tax positions related to prior years 236 243

Balance, end of year $ 3,258 $ 2,380

All of the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefitff s, if recognized, would affect its effeff ctive tax rate. The Company
does not expect unrecognized tax benefits to decrease within the next twelve months due to the lapse of statutt e limitations. The
Company recognizes accruer d interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitsff as a component of income tax expense.
As of December 31, 2023, the Company has not accrued any interest or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitff s.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. and state jurisdictions. The Company is subject to examination by
taxing authorities in its significant jurisdictions for the 2020, 2021, and 2022 tax years. There are currently no federal or state
income tax audits in progress.

12. Subsequent Events

See Note 8 regarding the Ono Agreement entered into on Februar ry 13, 2024.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal finff ancial offiff cer, evaluated,
as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedurd es. Based on this evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedurd es as of December 31, 2023, our principal
executive officff er and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedurd es as of such date are
effeff ctive at the reasonabla e assurance level. The term “disclosure controls and procedurd es,” as defined in RulRR es 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedurd es of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act are recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specifieff d in the SEC’s rulr es and forff ms. Disclosure controls and
procedurd es include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that inforff mation required to be disclosed by
us in the reports we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officff er, as appra opriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonabla e assurance of achieving their objectives and our management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedurd es.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over finff ancial reporting (as
defined in RulRR es 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed under the
supeu rvision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal finff ancial
offiff cer, to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial
statements for external purposr es in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

As of December 31, 2023, our management assessed the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting
using the criteria set forff th by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework (2013 Framework). Based on this assessment, our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firff m. For as
long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities
Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startupst Act of 2012, we intend to take advantage of the exemption permitting
us not to comply with the requirement that our independent registered public accounting firff m provide an attestation on the
effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over finff ancial reporting durd ing fourff th quarter ended December 31, 2023
that have materially affeff cted, or are reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct, our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Trading Plans

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, no director or offiff cer adopted or terminated any RulRR e 10b5-1 or non-Rule
10b5-1 trading arrangements (as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
Part III.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Offiff cers and Corporate Governance

The inforff mation required by this item is incorpor rated herein by referff ence to our Proxy Statement with respect to our
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“2024 Proxy Statement”) to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including under the headings “Inforff mation Regarding Director
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Nominees and Continuing Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Executive Officers,” and, as applicable, “Delinquent Section
16(a) Reports.”

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, offiff cers and employees,
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officff er, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar funcff tions. A copy of the code is availabla e on our website located at ir.shattucklabsa .com, under
“Governance.”We intend to disclose on our website any amendments to, or waivers from, the code of business conduct and
ethics that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the disclosure requirements of Item 5.05 of Form 8-K within four business
days following the date of the amendment or waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The inforff mation required by this item is incorpor rated herein by referff ence to our 2024 Proxy Statement, including under
the headings “Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficff ial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders

The infoff rmation required by this item is incorpor rated herein by referff ence to our 2024 Proxy Statement, including
under the headings “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficff ial Owners and Management” and “Securities Authorized for
Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The infoff rmation required by this item is incorpor rated herein by referff ence to our 2024 Proxy Statement, including
under the headings “Corporr ate Governance” and “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The infoff rmation required by this item is incorpor rated herein by referff ence to our 2024 Proxy Statement, including
under the heading “Proposal 2: Ratificff ation of Selection of Independent Auditor Selection.”
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Part IV.

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The folff lowing documents are fileff d as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(a) Financial Statements.

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements at Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements – Audited Financial
Statements.”

(b) Financial Statement Scheduld es.

No financial statement schedules are provided because the inforff mation called forff is not required or is shown in the
financial statements or the notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits.

The folff lowing exhibits are filff ed (or incorporr ated by reference herein) as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Shattuck Labs, Inc. (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 14, 2020 (Commission File No.
001-39593)).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Shattuck Labs, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 14, 2020 (Commission File No. 001-39593)).

Form of common stock certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 05, 2020 (Commission File No.
333-248918)).

4.2 Second Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2020, by and among Shattuck
Labs, Inc. and certain of its stockholders (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).
Description of Securities (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed on March 16, 2021 (Commission File No.: 001-39593).

4.4 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2023 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.1+ Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and executive officers (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10.1 of the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 5, 2020
(Commission File No. 333-248918)).

10.2+ Employment Agreement, dated December 5, 2019, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and Taylor Schreiber
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).

10.3+ Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated March 27, 2020, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and
Taylor Schreiber (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed on September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).

10.4+ Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and
Taylor Schreiber (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 16, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.5+ Employment Agreement, dated December 5, 2019, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and Arundathy Nirmalini
Pandite (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
on September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).

10.6+ Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and
Arundathy Nirmalini Pandite (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.07+ Employment Agreement, dated December 5, 2019, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and Andrew R. Neill
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).
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10.08+ Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and
Andrew R. Neill (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 of The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 16, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.09+ Employment Agreement, dated December 9, 2019, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and Casi DeYoung
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March
16, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.10+ Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and
Casi DeYoung (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 16, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.11+ Employment Agreement, dated June 1, 2021, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and Abhinav Shukla
2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 5, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).

2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 5, 2020 (Commission File No.
333-248918)).

10.14+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement for Executives under the 2020 Employment
Incentive Plan

10.15+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement for Board of Directors under the 2020
Employment Incentive Plan

10.16+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under the 2020 Employment Incentive
Plan

10.17+ Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, as Amended
10.18 Exclusive License Agreement, dated June 3, 2016, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and Heat Biologics, Inc.,

as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed on September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).

10.19 Lease Agreement, dated April 17, 2018, between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and Parmer RTP, LLC, as amended
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).

10.20† Lease Agreement, dated January 8, 2021, between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and International Bank of Commerce,
Laredo, Texas. incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 16, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.21† Master Services Agreement, dated March 31, 2017, between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and KBI Biopharma, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
September 18, 2020 (Commission File No. 333-248918)).

10.22 Takeda Termination Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of Shattuck’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.23 Sales Agreement, dated July 29, 2022, between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and SVB Securities LLC (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.1 of Shattuck’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 29, 2022 (Commission File
No. 001-39593))

10.24 Clinical Trial and Collaboration and Supply Agreement dated February 4, 2022 by and between Shattuck Labs,
Inc, and Immunogen (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25 of Shattuck’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on February, 2023 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.25 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 21, 2023, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and each
purchaser identified on Annex A thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of Shattuck’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2023 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

10.25 Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 21, 2023, by and between Shattuck Labs, Inc. and the several
purchasers signatory thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of Shattuck’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on December 22, 2023 (Commission File No. 001-39593))

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1* Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934.
31.2* Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934.
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32.1# Certification of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
and Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

97.1* Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy
NS* XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 The cover page froff m the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fisff cal year ended December 31, 2022,

formatted in Inline XBRL (included in Exhibit 101).

__________
* Filed herewith.
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
† Certain confidff ential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of marking such portions with asterisks because the

identifieff d confidff ential portions (i) are not material and (ii) would be competitively harmfulff if publicly disclosed.
# The certifications on Exhibit 32 hereto are deemed not “fileff d” for purposr es of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or

otherwise subject to the liability of that Section. Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into
any filff ing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duld y authorized, on this 23rd day of
Februar ry 2023.

Shattuck Labs, Inc.

Date: February 2rr 9, 2024 By: /s/ Dr. Taylor Schreiber
Dr. Taylor Schreiber
Chief Ee xecuEE tive Officff er
(principal executive offiff cer)

Date: February 2rr 9, 2024 By: /s/ Andrew R. Neill
Andrew R. Neill
Chief Fe inFF ancial OffiO cer
(principal financial and accounting offico er)r

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following
persons in the capacities and on the dates set forth opposite their names.

Signatureg Title Date

/s/ Dr. Taylor Schreiber Chief Executive Offiff cer and Director Februar ry 29, 2024
Dr. Taylor Schreiber (pr(( incipali executive offiff cer)

/s/ Andrew R. Neill Chief Financial Officff er Februar ry 29, 2024
Andrew R. Neill (pr(( incipali financial and accounting offio cer)

/s/ Dr. George Golumbeski Chairman of the Board Februar ry 29, 2024
Dr. George Golumbeski

/s/ Helen M. Boudreau Director Februar ry 29, 2024
Helen M. Boudreau

/s/ Dr. Neil Gibson Director Februar ry 29, 2024
Dr. Neil Gibson

/s/ Dr. Carrie Brownstein Director February 2rr 9, 2024
Dr. Carrie Brownstein

/s/ Michael Lee Director February 2rr 9, 2024
Michael Lee

/s/ Tyler Brous Director Februar ry 29, 2024
Tyler Brous
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500 W. 5th Street, Suite 1200, Austin, Texas 78701 

NOTICE OF THE 2024 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS 
TO BE HELD ON JUNE 7, 2024 

To the Stockholders of Shattuck Labs: 

Shattuck Labs, Inc. (the “Company”) will hold its 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual 
Meeting”) on Friday, June 7, 2024 at 11:30 a.m. Eastern Time. The Annual Meeting will be a virtual meeting 
conducted exclusively online via live audio webcast at the unique link that will be emailed to you approximately 
one hour prior to the meeting after you register in advance. The Annual Meeting will be held for the following 
purposes, as more fully described in the accompanying proxy statement (the “Proxy Statement”): 

(1) To elect the three Class I director nominees named in the Proxy Statement to serve until the 2027 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualified; 

(2) To ratify the selection of KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm 
for the year ending December 31, 2024; and 

(3) To transact any other matters that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments 
or postponements thereof. 

The Board of Directors has fixed April 11, 2024 as the record date. Only stockholders of record at the close 
of business on that date will be entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or 
postponement thereof. 

Instructions for registering for and accessing the virtual Annual Meeting are provided in the Proxy 
Statement. In the event of a technical malfunction or other situation that the meeting chair determines may affect 
the ability of the Annual Meeting to satisfy the requirements for a meeting of stockholders to be held by means of 
remote communication under the Delaware General Corporation Law, or that otherwise makes it advisable to 
adjourn the Annual Meeting, the meeting chair or secretary will convene the meeting at 12:30 p.m. Eastern Time 
on the date specified above and at the Company’s address specified above solely for the purpose of adjourning 
the meeting to reconvene at a date, time and physical or virtual location announced by the meeting chair or 
secretary. Under either of the foregoing circumstances, we will post information regarding the announcement on 
the Investors page of the Company’s website at ir.shattucklabs.com. 

 By Order of the Board of Directors, 

 /s/ Dr. Taylor Schreiber  
 Dr. Taylor Schreiber 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Austin, Texas 
April 23, 2024 

Whether or not you expect to participate in the virtual Annual Meeting, please vote as promptly as 
possible in order to ensure your representation at the Annual Meeting. You may vote online or, if you 

requested printed copies of the proxy materials, by telephone or by using the proxy card or voting 
instruction form provided with the printed proxy materials. 
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LEGAL MATTERS 

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the 2024 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to Be Held on June 7, 2024. The Proxy Statement and Annual Report for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 are available at www.proxydocs.com/STTK. 

Forward-Looking Statements. The Proxy Statement may contain “forward-looking statements” within the 
meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which 
statements are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties and are based on estimates and assumptions. All 
statements other than statements of historical fact included in the Proxy Statement, including statements about 
the Company’s Board of Directors, corporate governance practices, executive compensation program and equity 
compensation utilization, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking 
statements by terms such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “objective,” “intend,” “should,” “could,” “can,” “would,” 
“expect,” “believe,” “design,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “plan” or the negative of these terms, and 
similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the 
forward-looking statements expressed or implied in the Proxy Statement. Such risks, uncertainties and other 
factors include those risks described in “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and other subsequent documents we file with the SEC. The 
Company expressly disclaims any obligation to update or alter any statements whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. 

Website References. Website references throughout this document are inactive textual references and 
provided for convenience only, and the content on the referenced websites is not incorporated herein by reference 
and does not constitute a part of the Proxy Statement. 

Use of Trademarks. Shattuck Labs is the trademark of Shattuck Labs, Inc. Other names and brands may be 
claimed as the property of others. 



 

500 W. 5th Street, Suite 1200, Austin, Texas 78701 

PROXY STATEMENT 
FOR THE 2024 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS 

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND VOTING 

What Is the Purpose of These Proxy Materials? 

We are making these proxy materials available to you in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the 
Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Shattuck Labs, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company”) for use at the 2024 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) to be held virtually on Friday, June 7, 2024 at 
11:30 a.m. Eastern Time, or at any other time following adjournment or postponement thereof. You are invited to 
participate in the Annual Meeting and to vote on the proposals described in this Proxy Statement. The proxy 
materials are first being made available to our stockholders on or about April 23, 2024. 

Why Did I Receive a Notice of Internet Availability? 

Pursuant to U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules, we are furnishing the proxy materials 
to our stockholders primarily via the Internet instead of mailing printed copies. This process allows us to expedite 
our stockholders’ receipt of proxy materials, lower the costs of printing and mailing the proxy materials and 
reduce the environmental impact of our Annual Meeting. If you received a Notice of Internet Availability of 
Proxy Materials (the “Notice”), you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials unless you request one. 
The Notice provides instructions on how to access the proxy materials for the Annual Meeting via the Internet, 
how to request a printed set of proxy materials and how to vote your shares. 

Why Are We Holding a Virtual Annual Meeting? 

We have adopted a virtual meeting format for the Annual Meeting to provide a consistent experience to all 
stockholders regardless of geographic location. We believe this expands stockholder access, improves 
communications and lowers our costs while reducing the environmental impact of the meeting. In structuring our 
virtual Annual Meeting, our goal is to enhance rather than constrain stockholder participation in the meeting, and 
we have designed the meeting to provide stockholders with the same rights and opportunities to participate as 
they would have at an in-person meeting. 

Who Can Vote? 

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on April 11, 2024 (the “Record Date”) are entitled to 
notice of the Annual Meeting and to vote on the proposals described in this Proxy Statement. At the close of 
business on the Record Date, 47,550,872 shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding. 

What Is the Difference between Holding Shares as a Registered Stockholder and as a Beneficial Owner? 

Registered Stockholder: Shares Registered in Your Name 

If your shares of common stock are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Equiniti Trust 
Company, LLC, you are considered to be, with respect to those shares of common stock, the registered 
stockholder, and these proxy materials are being sent directly to you by us. 
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Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Fiduciary or Custodian 

If your shares of common stock are held by a broker, fiduciary or custodian, you are considered the 
beneficial owner of shares of common stock held in “street name,” and these proxy materials are being forwarded 
to you from that broker, fiduciary or custodian. 

How Can I Participate in the Virtual Annual Meeting? 

Stockholders of record as of the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to participate in and vote 
at the Annual Meeting. To participate in the Annual Meeting, including to vote, ask questions and view the list of 
registered stockholders as of the Record Date during the meeting, stockholders will need to register in advance 
following the instructions below. 

We will endeavor to answer as many stockholder-submitted questions as time permits that comply with the 
Annual Meeting rules of conduct. We reserve the right to edit profanity or other inappropriate language and to 
exclude questions regarding topics that are not pertinent to meeting matters or Company business. If we receive 
substantially similar questions, we may group such questions together and provide a single response to avoid 
repetition. 

The meeting webcast will begin promptly at 11:30 a.m. Eastern Time. Online check-in will begin 
approximately 15 minutes before then, and we encourage you to allow ample time for check-in procedures. If 
you experience technical difficulties during the check-in process or during the meeting, please call the technical 
support number that will be included in the email containing your access link to the meeting. Additional 
information regarding the rules and procedures for participating in the Annual Meeting will be set forth in our 
meeting rules of conduct, which stockholders can view during the meeting at the meeting website. 

Meeting Registration Process for Registered Stockholders 

If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, you can register for the Annual 
Meeting at either www.proxydocs.com/STTK or www.proxypush.com/STTK by following the instructions on the 
website. As part of the registration process, you will be asked to enter the control number located on your proxy 
card or Notice. Upon completing your registration, you will receive further instructions via email, including a 
unique link that will allow you to access the Annual Meeting and vote and submit questions during the Annual 
Meeting. 

Meeting Registration Process for Beneficial Owners 

If your shares are held in street name, you can register for the Annual Meeting at www.proxydocs.com/STTK 
by following the instructions on the website. In addition, it is important that you also follow the instructions you 
receive from your broker, fiduciary or custodian about participating in the Annual Meeting, which may include a 
requirement to obtain a legal proxy from them and submit a copy during the advance registration process for the 
meeting. 

What Am I Voting on? 

The proposals to be voted on at the Annual Meeting are as follows: 

(1) Election of three Class I director nominees to serve until the 2027 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
(“Proposal 1”); and 

(2) Ratification of the selection of KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent auditor for 2024 
(“Proposal 2”). 
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How Does the Board Recommend That I Vote? 

The Board recommends that you vote your shares “FOR” each director nominee in Proposal 1 and “FOR” 
Proposal 2. 

What If Another Matter Is Properly Brought before the Annual Meeting? 

As of the date of filing this Proxy Statement, the Board knows of no other matters that will be presented for 
consideration at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters are properly brought before the Annual Meeting, it is 
the intention of the persons named as proxies in the proxy card to vote on such matters in accordance with their 
best judgment. 

How Many Votes Do I Have? 

Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each proposal to be voted on at the Annual Meeting. 

What Does It Mean If I Receive More Than One Set of Proxy Materials? 

If you receive more than one set of proxy materials, your shares may be registered in more than one name or 
held in different accounts. Please cast your vote with respect to each set of proxy materials that you receive to 
ensure that all of your shares are voted. 

How Do I Vote? 

Even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we recommend that you also submit your vote as early as 
possible in advance so that your vote will be counted if you later decide not to, or are unable to, virtually attend 
the Annual Meeting. 

Registered Stockholder: Shares Registered in Your Name 

If you are the registered stockholder, you may vote your shares online during the virtual Annual Meeting 
(see “How Can I Participate in the Virtual Annual Meeting?” above) or by proxy in advance of the Annual 
Meeting by Internet (at www.proxypush.com/STTK) or, if you requested paper copies of the proxy materials, by 
completing and mailing a proxy card or by telephone (at 866-870-7493). 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Fiduciary or Custodian 

If you are the beneficial owner, you may vote your shares online during the virtual Annual Meeting (see 
“How Can I Participate in the Virtual Annual Meeting?” above) or you may direct your broker, fiduciary or 
custodian how to vote in advance of the Annual Meeting by following the instructions they provide. 

What Happens If I Do Not Vote? 

Registered Stockholder: Shares Registered in Your Name 

If you are the registered stockholder and do not vote in one of the ways described above, your shares will 
not be voted at the Annual Meeting and will not be counted toward the quorum requirement. 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Fiduciary or Custodian 

If you are the beneficial owner and do not direct your broker, fiduciary or custodian how to vote your 
shares, your broker, fiduciary or custodian will only be able to vote your shares with respect to proposals 
considered to be “routine.” Your broker, fiduciary or custodian is not entitled to vote your shares with respect to 
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“non-routine” proposals, which we refer to as a “broker non-vote.” Whether a proposal is considered routine or 
non-routine is subject to stock exchange rules and final determination by the stock exchange. Even with respect 
to routine matters, some brokers are choosing not to exercise discretionary voting authority. As a result, we urge 
you to direct your broker, fiduciary or custodian how to vote your shares on all proposals to ensure that your vote 
is counted. 

What If I Sign and Return a Proxy Card or Otherwise Vote but Do Not Indicate Specific Choices? 

Registered Stockholder: Shares Registered in Your Name 

The shares represented by each signed and returned proxy will be voted at the Annual Meeting by the 
persons named as proxies in the proxy card in accordance with the instructions indicated on the proxy card. 
However, if you are the registered stockholder and sign and return your proxy card without giving specific 
instructions, the persons named as proxies in the proxy card will vote your shares in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Board. Your shares will be counted toward the quorum requirement. 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Fiduciary or Custodian 

If you are the beneficial owner and do not direct your broker, fiduciary or custodian how to vote your 
shares, your broker, fiduciary or custodian will only be able to vote your shares with respect to proposals 
considered to be “routine.” Your broker, fiduciary or custodian is not entitled to vote your shares with respect to 
“non-routine” proposals, resulting in a broker non-vote with respect to such proposals. 

Can I Change My Vote after I Submit My Proxy? 

Registered Stockholder: Shares Registered in Your Name 

If you are the registered stockholder, you may revoke your proxy at any time before the final vote at the 
Annual Meeting in any one of the following ways: 

(1) You may complete and submit a new proxy card, but it must bear a later date than the original proxy 
card; 

(2) You may submit new proxy instructions via telephone or the Internet; 

(3) You may send a timely written notice that you are revoking your proxy to our Corporate Secretary at 
the address set forth on the first page of this Proxy Statement; or 

(4) You may vote by attending the Annual Meeting virtually. However, your virtual attendance at the 
Annual Meeting will not, by itself, revoke your proxy. 

Your last submitted vote is the one that will be counted. 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Fiduciary or Custodian 

If you are the beneficial owner, you must follow the instructions you receive from your broker, fiduciary or 
custodian with respect to changing your vote. 

What Is the Quorum Requirement? 

The holders of a majority of the shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual 
Meeting must be present at the Annual Meeting, either virtually or represented by proxy, to constitute a quorum. 
A quorum is required to transact business at the Annual Meeting. 

Your shares will be counted toward the quorum only if you submit a valid proxy (or a valid proxy is 
submitted on your behalf by your broker, fiduciary or custodian) or if you attend the Annual Meeting virtually 
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and vote. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted toward the quorum requirement. If there is no 
quorum, the chairman of the Annual Meeting or the holders of a majority of shares of common stock virtually 
present at the Annual Meeting, either personally or by proxy, may adjourn the Annual Meeting to another time or 
date. 

How Many Votes Are Required to Approve Each Proposal and How Are Votes Counted? 

Votes will be counted by Mediant Communications Inc., the Inspector of Elections appointed for the Annual 
Meeting. 

Proposal 1: Election of Directors 

A nominee will be elected as a director at the Annual Meeting if the nominee receives a plurality of the 
votes cast “FOR” his or her election. “Plurality” means that the individuals who receive the highest number of 
votes cast “FOR” are elected as directors. Broker non-votes, if any, and votes that are withheld will not be 
counted as votes cast on the matter and will have no effect on the outcome of the election. Stockholders do not 
have cumulative voting rights for the election of directors. 

Proposal 2: Ratification of Independent Auditor Selection 

The affirmative vote of a majority of shares of common stock present or represented at the Annual Meeting 
and entitled to vote on the matter is required for the ratification of the selection of KPMG LLP as our 
independent auditor. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote “AGAINST” the matter. Broker non-votes, 
if any, will have no effect on the outcome of the matter. 

Who Is Paying for This Proxy Solicitation? 

We will pay the costs associated with the solicitation of proxies, including the preparation, assembly, 
printing and mailing of the proxy materials. We may also reimburse brokers, fiduciaries or custodians for the cost 
of forwarding proxy materials to beneficial owners of shares of common stock held in “street name.” 

Our employees, officers and directors may solicit proxies in person or via telephone or the Internet. We will 
not pay additional compensation for any of these services. 

How Can I Find out the Voting Results? 

We expect to announce preliminary voting results at the Annual Meeting. Final voting results will be 
published in a Current Report on Form 8-K to be filed with the SEC within four business days after the Annual 
Meeting. 
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PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

In accordance with our bylaws, the Board has fixed the number of directors constituting the Board at nine. 
At the Annual Meeting, the stockholders will vote to elect the three Class I director nominees named in this 
Proxy Statement to serve until the 2027 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until their successors are duly 
elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal. Our Board has nominated Tyler Brous, 
Dr. Carrie Brownstein and Michael Lee for election to our Board. Messrs. Brous and Lee were most recently 
elected by stockholders at the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Dr. Brownstein was appointed to the Board 
in October 2021, and was recommended to the Board by a third-party search firm specializing in the placement 
of directors in the life sciences industry. 

Our director nominees have indicated that they are willing and able to serve as directors. However, if any of 
them becomes unable or, for good cause, unwilling to serve, proxies may be voted for the election of such other 
person as shall be designated by our Board, or the Board may decrease the size of the class and Board. 

Information Regarding Director Nominees and Continuing Directors 

Our Board is divided into three classes, with members of each class holding office for staggered three-year 
terms. There are currently three Class I directors, who are up for election at this meeting for a term expiring at 
the 2027 Annual Meeting of Stockholders; three Class II directors, whose terms expire at the 2025 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders; and three Class III directors, whose terms expire at the 2026 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders. 

Biographical and other information regarding our director nominees and directors continuing in office, 
including the primary skills and experiences considered by our Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee in determining to recommend them as nominees, is set forth below. 

Name Class 

Age 
(as of April 23, 

2024) Position 

Taylor Schreiber, M.D., Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . Class III 44 Chief Executive Officer and Director 
Helen M. Boudreau(1)(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Class III 58 Independent Director 
Tyler Brous(1)(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Class I 41 Independent Director 
Carrie Brownstein, M.D.(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . Class I 54 Independent Director 
Neil Gibson, Ph.D.(1)(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Class II 68 Independent Director 
George Golumbeski, Ph.D.(2) . . . . . . . . . . . Class II 67 Independent Chairman of the Board 
Michael Lee(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Class I 45 Independent Director 
Kate Sasser, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Class II 47 Independent Director 
Clay Siegall, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Class III 63 Independent Director 

(1) Member of the Audit Committee 
(2) Member of the Compensation Committee 
(3) Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 

Class I Director Nominees 

Tyler Brous. Mr. Brous has served on our Board since September 2016. He has worked at Lennox Capital 
Partners, a private equity firm, since 2011, and currently serves as its Managing Director and Portfolio Manager. 
He has served on the board of directors of ColdQuanta, Inc., a quantum technology company, since 2020 and 
previously served on the board of CerSci Therapeutics, Inc., a biotechnology company, from 2018 until its sale in 
2020. Mr. Brous earned his B.S. in Finance and Business from the University of Texas, where he graduated 
summa cum laude. 

We believe Mr. Brous is qualified to serve on our Board because of his extensive experience investing in 
and operating biotechnology companies and his financial expertise. 
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Carrie Brownstein, M.D. Dr. Brownstein has served on our Board since October 2021. Dr. Brownstein has 
served as Principal at CMB BioPharma Solutions, a clinical development consultancy, since March 2024. She 
previously served as the Chief Medical Officer of Zentalis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nasdaq: ZNTL), a 
biopharmaceutical company, from October 2022 to March 2024. She served as Chief Medical Officer of Cellectis 
S.A. (Nasdaq: CLLS), a biopharmaceutical company, from April 2020 to September 2022; Vice President of 
Global Clinical Research and Development, Therapeutic Area Head for Myeloid Diseases at Celgene Corp., a 
pharmaceutical company, from July 2017 to April 2020, Executive Director of Clinical Sciences Oncology at 
Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nasdaq: REGN), a biotechnology company, from August 2012 to March 2017, 
and Senior Medical Director of Hematology and Oncology at F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG (OTCMKTS: 
RHHBY), a pharmaceutical company, from September 2006 to August 2012. Prior to her industry career, 
Dr. Brownstein practiced pediatric hematology and oncology at New York Presbyterian Columbia University and 
Mount Sinai Medical Center, completed her internship and residency at Columbia Presbyterian Medical Center 
in New York and her subspecialty training at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center. Dr. Brownstein earned 
her A.B. in Psychology from the University of Michigan and her M.D. from Tufts University School of 
Medicine. 

We believe Dr. Brownstein is qualified to serve on our Board because of her medical expertise and 
extensive experience in the pharmaceuticals industry. 

Michael Lee. Mr. Lee has served as a member of our Board since June 2020. Mr. Lee has served as 
Co-Founder and Managing Director at Redmile Group, LLC, a healthcare-focused investment firm based in 
San Francisco and New York, since 2007. Prior to Redmile, he worked as a biotechnology investor at Steeple 
Capital, Welch Capital Partners and Prudential Equity Group. Mr. Lee currently serves on the board of directors 
of Fate Therapeutics, Inc. (Nasdaq: FATE), a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, and IGM Biosciences, 
Inc. (Nasdaq: IGMS), a biotechnology company. Mr. Lee earned his B.S. in Molecular and Cellular Biology 
from the University of Arizona. 

We believe Mr. Lee is qualified to serve on our Board because of his industry experience and experience as 
an investor in biotechnology companies. 

Class II Directors Continuing in Office 

Neil Gibson, Ph.D. Dr. Gibson has served as a member of our Board since November 2016. Dr. Gibson 
most recently served as Senior Vice President of COI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., an accelerator company focused on 
the creation and development of unique drug discovery companies based on innovative and disruptive 
technologies, from October 2016 to December 2021. Previously, he served as President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Adanate from 2017 to November 2021 and President and Chief Executive Officer of PDI Therapeutics 
from 2017 to June 2020, both COI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. companies. Dr. Gibson has also served in leadership 
roles at various biotechnology companies, including Senior Vice President of BioAtla, Inc. (Nasdaq: BCAB) 
from 2015 to 2016; Chief Scientific Officer of Regulus Therapeutics Inc. (Nasdaq: RGLS) from 2011 to 2015; 
Chief Scientific Officer and Oncology Therapeutic Area Head of Pfizer Oncology from 2007 to 2011; and Chief 
Scientific Officer of OSI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 2000 to 2007. While at Pfizer, Dr. Gibson was also a 
member of the Pfizer Oncology Business Unit Executive team. Dr. Gibson has served on the boards of TCR2 
Therapeutics Inc. (Nasdaq: TCRR), a clinical-stage cell therapy company, and Causeway Therapeutics, a 
clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, since 2017, the board of Adanate, Inc., a biotechnology company, 
since 2022, and Instil Bio, Inc. (Nasdaq: TIL), a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, since June 2020. He 
previously served on the boards of Cullinan MICA, a biotechnology company, from 2020 to 2022, and CytoSen 
Therapeutics, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company, from 2016 to 2019. Dr. Gibson earned his B.Sc. in Pharmacy 
from the University of Strathclyde in Glasgow, Scotland and his Ph.D. from the University of Aston in 
Birmingham, England. 

We believe Dr. Gibson is qualified to serve on our Board because of his extensive experience as an 
executive officer in the biopharmaceutical industry, including his technical expertise related to drug discovery 
and development. 
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George Golumbeski, Ph.D. Dr. Golumbeski has served as a member of our Board since January 2018 and 
as our Chairman since October 2021. He has more than 30 years of experience in the biotechnology industry. He 
has served as a partner at Droia Genetic Disease Fund, a life sciences investment firm, since October 2020. From 
August 2018 to August 2019, he served as President of GRAIL, Inc., an oncology-focused healthcare company. 
From March 2009 to April 2018, Dr. Golumbeski served as the Executive Vice President of Business 
Development of Celgene Corp., an oncology and immunology-focused pharmaceutical company, where he was 
responsible for forging collaborations with biotechnology companies seeking to bring breakthrough medications 
to people suffering from cancer and chronic inflammation. He currently serves on the board of directors of 
several biotechnology companies, including MorphoSys AG (Nasdaq: MOR), Sage Therapeutics, Inc. (Nasdaq: 
SAGE) and Carrick Therapeutics. He previously served on the boards of Enanta Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Nasdaq: 
ENTA) and Aura Biosciences, Inc. (Nasdaq: AURA). Dr. Golumbeski earned his B.S. in Biology from the 
University of Virginia and his Ph.D. in Genetics from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, and he conducted 
his post-doctoral research in molecular biology at the University of Colorado-Boulder. 

We believe Dr. Golumbeski is qualified to serve on our Board because of his extensive management 
experience and service on the boards of directors of numerous biotechnology companies as well as his experience 
with mergers and acquisitions and in developing biopharmaceutical collaborations and partnerships. 

A. Kate Sasser, Ph.D. Dr. Sasser has served as a member of our Board since March 2024. She has served as 
the Chief Scientific Officer of Tempus AI, a healthcare technology company, since October 2022. From July 
2016 to October 2022, Dr. Sasser served as Corporate Vice President at Genmab A/S (Nasdaq: GMAB), a 
biotechnology company. From 2009 to 2016, she served in various roles at Johnson and Johnson Innovative 
Medicine (formerly Janssen Pharmaceuticals Companies), a pharmaceutical company, including most recently as 
Vice President overseeing translational research for oncology. Dr. Sasser earned her B.S. from Oregon State 
University and her Ph.D. in Integrated Biomedical Sciences from the Ohio State University. 

We believe Dr. Sasser is qualified to serve on our Board because of her extensive experience leading 
biotechnology companies. 

Class III Directors Continuing in Office 

Helen M. Boudreau. Ms. Boudreau has served as a member of our Board since July 2020. Ms. Boudreau 
has over 30 years of experience across the biotechnology, pharmaceutical, consulting and banking industries. She 
currently serves as managing director at Estuary Ventures LLC, a board and advisory services company. From 
June 2018 to June 2019, she was Chief Operating Officer of the Bill & Melinda Gates Medical Research 
Institute, a nonprofit biotechnology company. Previously, she served as Chief Financial Officer from July 2017 
to June 2018 and board member from February 2016 to July 2017 for Proteostasis Therapeutics, Inc., a clinical-
stage biopharmaceutical company. From October 2014 to June 2017, she served as Chief Financial Officer for 
FORMA Therapeutics, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company acquired by Novo Nordisk A/S. Ms. Boudreau spent 
16 years at Novartis AG (NYSE: NVS) and Pfizer Inc. (NYSE: PFE) in progressively senior finance and strategy 
roles, and worked earlier in her career at McKinsey & Company and Bank of America (NYSE: BAC). She is 
currently a member of the board of directors of Premier, Inc. (Nasdaq: PINC), a healthcare improvement 
company, Rallybio Corp. (Nasdaq: RLYB), a biopharmaceutical company, and Cara Therapeutics, Inc. (Nasdaq: 
CARA), a biopharmaceutical company. She was previously a member of the board of Reunion Neuroscience 
(Nasdaq: REUN), a biopharmaceutical company, from 2020 to 2023 and Evaxion Biotech A/S (Nasdaq: EVAX), 
a clinical-stage AI-immunology platform company, from 2020 to 2021. Ms. Boudreau earned her B.A. in 
Economics from the University of Maryland, where she graduated summa cum laude, and her M.B.A. from the 
Darden Graduate School of Business at the University of Virginia. Ms. Boudreau is Directorship CertifiedTM by 
the NACD and earned the CERT Certificate in Cyber-Risk Oversight from Carnegie Mellon University Software 
Engineering Institute. 

We believe Ms. Boudreau is qualified to serve on our Board because of her financial expertise and extensive 
experience with biotechnology companies. 
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Taylor Schreiber, M.D., Ph.D. Dr. Schreiber is a co-founder of Shattuck Labs. He served as our Chief 
Scientific Officer from January 2017 until January 2020, when he became our Chief Executive Officer, and has 
been a member of our Board since 2017. Dr. Schreiber is the lead inventor of Shattuck Labs’ ARC and GADLEN 
technology platforms. From March 2014 to July 2015, Dr. Schreiber served as Vice President of Research & 
Development of Heat Biologics, Inc. (now NightHawk Biosciences (NYSE: NHWK)), an immunotherapy-
focused biotechnology company, and subsequently served as Chief Scientific Officer of Heat Biologics until 
December 2016. From January 2011 to March 2017, he also served as Chairman of the Scientific Advisory Board 
of Pelican Therapeutics, Inc., an immunotherapy company. Dr. Schreiber earned his B.A. in Biology from 
Bucknell University and his M.D. and Ph.D. from the Sheila and David Fuente Program in Cancer Biology at the 
University of Miami Miller School of Medicine. 

We believe Dr. Schreiber is qualified to serve on our Board because of his extensive experience in the 
biopharmaceutical industry. 

Clay Siegall, Ph.D. Dr. Siegall has served as a member our Board since March 2024. He has served as 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the board of directors of Immunome, Inc. (Nasdaq: IMNM), 
a biotechnology company, since October 2023. Prior to joining Immunome, from January 2023 to October 2023, 
he served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of MorphImmune, Inc., a biotechnology company that 
merged with Immunome. Dr. Siegall co-founded Seagen Inc. (formerly Seattle Genetics), a biotechnology 
company acquired by Pfizer Inc., in January 1998 and served in various leadership roles, including as Chief 
Executive Officer, from November 2002 to May 2022, President, from June 2000 to May 2022, and Chairman of 
the board of directors, from March 2004 to May 2022. In addition to Immunome, he currently serves on the 
board of directors of Tourmaline Bio, Inc. (Nasdaq: TRML), a biotechnology company. He previously served on 
the board of directors of Nurix Therapeutics, Inc. (Nasdaq: NRIX), from June 2021 to May 2022, Ultragenyx 
Pharmaceutical Inc. (Nasdaq: RARE), from February 2014 to June 2021, and Alder BioPharmaceuticals, Inc., 
from 2006 to October 2019. Dr. Siegall earned his B.S. in Zoology from the University of Maryland and his 
Ph.D. in Genetics from George Washington University. 

We believe Dr. Siegall is qualified to serve on our Board because of his extensive experience leading 
biotechnology companies and his experience serving on the boards of directors of public companies. 

Board Recommendation 

The Board recommends a vote “FOR” all Class I director nominees set forth above. 
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PROPOSAL 2: RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR SELECTION 

Our Audit Committee has selected KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) as the Company’s independent registered public 
accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2024. In this Proposal 2, we are asking stockholders to vote to 
ratify this selection. Representatives of KPMG are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting. They will have 
the opportunity to make a statement, if they desire to do so, and are expected to be available to respond to 
appropriate questions from stockholders. 

Stockholder ratification of the selection of KPMG as the Company’s independent auditor is not required by 
law or our bylaws. However, we are seeking stockholder ratification as a matter of good corporate practice. If our 
stockholders fail to ratify the selection, the committee will reconsider its selection. Even if the selection is 
ratified, the committee, in its discretion, may direct the selection of a different independent auditor at any time 
during the year if it determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and our 
stockholders. 

KPMG has served as our independent auditor since 2018. The following table summarizes the audit fees 
billed and expected to be billed by KPMG for the indicated fiscal years and the fees billed by KPMG for all other 
services rendered during the indicated fiscal years. All services associated with such fees were pre-approved by 
our Audit Committee in accordance with the “Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures” described below. 

 
Year Ended 

December 31, 

Fee Category 2023 2022 

Audit Fees(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $640,902 $581,586 
Audit-Related Fees(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  
Tax Fees(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  
All Other Fees(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  

Total Fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $640,902 $581,586 

(1) Consists of fees for the audit of our annual financial statements, reviews of quarterly financial statements 
and services provided in connection with SEC filings, including consents and comment and comfort letters. 

(2) Consists of fees for assurance and related services reasonably related to the performance of the audit or 
review of our financial statements. 

(3) Consists of fees for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. 
(4) Consists of fees for all other services. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

Our Audit Committee has adopted procedures requiring the pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services 
performed by our independent auditor in order to assure that these services do not impair the auditor’s 
independence. These procedures generally approve the performance of specific services subject to a cost limit for 
all such services. This general approval is reviewed, and if necessary modified, at least annually. Management 
must obtain the specific prior approval of the committee for each engagement of our auditor to perform other 
audit-related or other non-audit services. The committee does not delegate its responsibility to approve services 
performed by our auditor to any member of management. The committee has delegated authority to the 
committee chair to pre-approve any audit or non-audit service to be provided to us by our auditor provided that 
the fees for such services do not exceed $100,000. Any approval of services by the committee chair pursuant to 
this delegated authority must be reported to the committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. 

Report of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 with the Company’s management and with KPMG, the Company’s independent registered 
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public accounting firm. The Audit Committee has discussed with KPMG the matters required to be discussed by 
the applicable standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) and the SEC. The 
Audit Committee has also received the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG pursuant to applicable 
PCAOB requirements regarding its communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, and the 
Audit Committee has discussed with KPMG its independence. Based on the foregoing, the Audit Committee 
recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 for filing with the SEC. 

This report is provided by the following directors, who serve on the Audit Committee: 

Helen M. Boudreau (Chair) 
Tyler Brous 
Neil Gibson, Ph.D. 

Board Recommendation 

The Board recommends a vote “FOR” the ratification of the selection of KPMG to serve as our independent 
auditor. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Our business affairs are managed under the direction of our Board. Our Board has adopted a set of 
Principles of Corporate Governance as a framework for the governance of the Company, which is posted on our 
website located at ir.shattucklabs.com, under “Governance.” 

Board Composition 

Director Nomination Process 

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, among other things, overseeing 
succession planning for directors and building a qualified board to oversee management’s execution of the 
Company’s strategy and safeguard the long-term interests of stockholders. In this regard, the committee is 
charged with developing and recommending Board membership criteria to the Board for approval, evaluating the 
composition of the Board annually to assess the skills and experience that are currently represented on the Board 
and the skills and experience that the Board may find valuable in the future, and identifying, evaluating and 
recommending potential director candidates. 

In identifying potential candidates for Board membership, the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee considers recommendations from directors, stockholders, management and others, including, from 
time to time, third-party search firms, which it engaged in 2023, to assist it in locating qualified candidates. Once 
potential director candidates are identified, the committee, with the assistance of management, undertakes a 
vetting process that considers each candidate’s background, independence and fit with the Board’s priorities. As 
part of this vetting process, the committee, as well as other members of the Board and the CEO, may conduct 
interviews with the candidates. If the committee determines that a potential candidate meets the needs of the 
Board and has the desired qualifications, it recommends the candidate to the full Board for appointment or 
nomination and to the stockholders for election at the annual meeting. 

Criteria for Board Membership 

In assessing potential candidates for Board membership and in assessing Board composition, the 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers a wide range of factors, including directors’ 
experience, knowledge, integrity, understanding of our business environment and specific skills they may possess 
that are helpful to the Company (including leadership experience, financial expertise and industry knowledge). 
The committee seeks to balance the experience, skills and characteristics represented on the Board and does not 
assign specific weight to any of these factors. In addition, the committee generally believes it is important for all 
Board members to possess the highest personal and professional ethics, integrity and values, an inquisitive and 
objective perspective, a sense for priorities and balance, the ability and willingness to devote sufficient time and 
attention to Board matters, and a willingness to represent the long-term interests of all our stockholders. 

Board Diversity 

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee actively seeks to achieve a diversity of occupational 
and personal backgrounds on the Board, including with respect to gender, race, ethnicity, national background, 
geography, sexual orientation and age. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee assesses its 
effectiveness in balancing these considerations in connection with its annual evaluation of the composition of the 
Board. In this regard, our current Board of nine directors has three directors who self-identify as female (33%) 
and one director who self-identifies as racially/ethnically diverse (11%). 

In accordance with Nasdaq’s board diversity listing standards, we are disclosing aggregated statistical 
information about our Board’s self-identified gender and racial characteristics and LGBTQ+ status as voluntarily 
confirmed to us by each of our directors. 
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Board Diversity Matrix 
(as of the date of this Proxy Statement) 

 Female Male Non-Binary 

Did Not 
Disclose 
Gender 

Total number of directors: 9 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 5 —  1 
Number of directors who identify in any of the categories below: 
African American or Black . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  —  —  
Alaskan Native or Native American . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  —  —  
Asian . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  —  —  
Hispanic or Latinx . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  —  —  
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  —  —  —  
White . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 4 —  —  
Two or More Races or Ethnicities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —  1 —  —  
LGBTQ+ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   —   
Did Not Disclose Demographic Background . . . . . . . . . . . . .   2  

Stockholder Recommendations for Directors 

It is the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s policy to consider written recommendations 
from stockholders for director candidates. The committee considers candidates recommended by our 
stockholders in the same manner as a candidate recommended by other sources. Any such recommendations 
should be submitted to the committee as described under “Stockholder Communications” and should include the 
same information required under our bylaws for nominating a director, as described under “Stockholder 
Proposals and Director Nominations for Next Year’s Annual Meeting.” 

Board Leadership Structure 

Dr. Golumbeski serves as our independent Chairman while Dr. Schreiber serves as our Chief Executive 
Officer. Our Principles of Corporate Governance provide our Board with the flexibility to combine or separate 
the positions of Chairman and CEO. Currently, the Board believes that the roles of Chairman and CEO should be 
separate and that the Chairman should be an independent director as this structure enables our independent 
Chairman to oversee corporate governance matters and our CEO to focus on leading the Company’s business. At 
any time when there is not an independent Chairman, the Board will designate one or more independent directors 
to serve as lead director. 

The independent directors have the opportunity to meet in executive sessions without management present 
at every regular Board meeting and at such other times as may be determined by the Chairman. The purpose of 
these executive sessions is to encourage and enhance communication among independent directors. 

The Board believes that its programs for overseeing risk, as described under “Board Risk Oversight,” would 
be effective under a variety of leadership frameworks. Accordingly, the Board’s risk oversight function did not 
significantly impact its selection of the current leadership structure. 

Director Independence 

Nasdaq listing rules require a majority of a listed company’s board of directors to be comprised of 
independent directors who, in the opinion of the board of directors, do not have a relationship that would 
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. Subject to 
specified exceptions, each member of a listed company’s audit, compensation and nominating committees must 
be independent, and audit and compensation committee members must satisfy additional independence criteria 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). 
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Our Board undertook a review of its composition and the independence of each director. Based upon 
information requested from and provided by each director concerning his or her background, employment and 
affiliations, our Board has determined that each of our current directors listed above under “Information 
Regarding Director Nominees and Continuing Directors,” with the exception of Dr. Schreiber, is an “independent 
director” as defined under the Nasdaq listing rules. Dr. Schreiber is not an independent director because he is our 
Chief Executive Officer. In making such determinations, our Board considered the relationships that each such 
non-employee director has with the Company and all other facts and circumstances our Board deemed relevant in 
determining independence, including the Company’s ordinary course business relationship with Tempus AI 
(pursuant to which Tempus AI and an affiliate provides certain contract research services to the Company) where 
Dr. Sasser serves as Chief Scientific Officer, but does not oversee, and has no material involvement with or 
material interest in, the services rendered to the Company, and the payments to Tempus AI, which represent an 
insignificant portion of its revenues. Our Board also determined that each of the directors currently serving on the 
Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee satisfy the additional independence criteria applicable to 
directors on such committee under Nasdaq listing rules and the rules and regulations established by the SEC. 

Board Committees 

Our Board has a separately designated Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee, each of which is comprised solely of independent directors with the 
membership and responsibilities described below. Members serve on these committees until their resignation or 
until otherwise determined by our Board. Each of these committees is empowered to retain outside advisors as it 
deems appropriate, regularly reports its activities to the full Board and has a written charter, which is posted on 
our website located at ir.shattucklabs.com, under “Governance.” 

Name 
Audit 

Committee 
Compensation 

Committee 

Nominating 
and 

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 

Taylor Schreiber, M.D., Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    
Helen M. Boudreau . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Chair X  
Tyler Brous . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . X Chair  
Carrie Brownstein, M.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   X 
Neil Gibson, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . X  Chair 
George Golumbeski, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  X  
Michael Lee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   X 
Kate Sasser, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    
Clay Siegall, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    
# of Meetings in 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 6 3 

Audit Committee. The primary responsibilities of our Audit Committee are to oversee the accounting and 
financial reporting processes of the Company, including the audits of the Company’s financial statements, the 
integrity of the financial statements and the annual review of the performance, effectiveness and independence of 
the outside auditor. This includes reviewing the financial information provided to stockholders and others and the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls. The committee also makes recommendations to 
the Board as to whether financial statements should be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Ms. Boudreau qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as that term is defined in the rules and 
regulations established by the SEC, and all members of the Audit Committee are “financially literate” under 
Nasdaq listing rules. 

Compensation Committee. The primary responsibilities of our Compensation Committee are to periodically 
review and approve the compensation and other benefits for our senior officers and directors. This includes 
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reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our senior officers, 
evaluating the performance of these officers in light of those goals and objectives, and setting the officers’ 
compensation based on those evaluations. The committee also administers and makes recommendations to the 
Board regarding equity incentive plans that are subject to the Board’s approval and approves the grant of equity 
awards under the plans. 

The Compensation Committee may delegate its authority to one or more subcommittees. The committee may 
also delegate authority to review and approve the compensation of our employees to certain of our executive 
officers. Even where the committee does not delegate authority, our executive officers will typically make 
recommendations to the committee regarding compensation to be paid to our employees and the size of equity 
awards under our equity incentive plans, but will not be present during voting or deliberations on their own 
compensation. The committee has the authority to engage outside advisors, such as compensation consultants, to 
assist it in carrying out its responsibilities. The Compensation Committee engaged Aon in 2023 to provide advice 
regarding the amount and form of executive and director compensation. The committee has determined that (1) Aon 
satisfies applicable independence criteria, and (2) Aon’s work with the Company does not raise any conflicts of 
interest, in each case under applicable Nasdaq listing rules and the rules and regulations established by the SEC. 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The primary responsibilities of our Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee are to engage in succession planning for the Board, develop and recommend 
to the Board criteria for identifying and evaluating qualified director candidates, and make recommendations to 
the Board regarding candidates for election or reelection to the Board at each annual stockholders’ meeting. In 
addition, the committee is responsible for overseeing our corporate governance practices and making 
recommendations to the Board concerning corporate governance matters. The committee is also responsible for 
making recommendations to the Board concerning the structure, composition and functioning of the Board and 
its committees. 

Board Risk Oversight 

We believe that risk management is an important part of establishing and executing on the Company’s 
business strategy. Our Board, as a whole and at the committee level, focuses its oversight on the most significant 
risks facing the Company and on the Company’s processes to identify, prioritize, assess, manage and mitigate 
those risks. The committees oversee specific risks within their purview, as follows: 

• The Audit Committee has overall responsibility for overseeing the Company’s practices with respect 
to risk assessment and management. Additionally, the committee is responsible for overseeing 
management of risks related to our accounting and financial reporting processes, and information 
technology and cybersecurity. 

• The Compensation Committee is responsible for overseeing management of risks related to our 
compensation policies and programs. 

• The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing management 
of risks related to director succession planning and our corporate governance practices. 

Our Board and its committees receive regular reports from members of the Company’s senior management 
on areas of material risk to the Company, including strategic, operational, financial, legal and regulatory risks. 
While our Board has an oversight role, management is principally tasked with direct responsibility for assessing 
and managing risks, including implementing processes and controls to mitigate their effects on the Company. 

Other Corporate Governance Practices and Policies 

Director Attendance 

The Board met six times during the year ended December 31, 2023. During 2023, each director then-serving 
on the Board attended at least 75% of the aggregate number of meetings of the Board and the committees on 
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which he or she served during the period in which he or she was on the Board or committee. Directors are 
encouraged to attend the annual meeting of stockholders. Six of our directors then-serving on the Board attended 
the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. 

Stockholder Communications 

Stockholders and other interested parties may communicate with our Board or a particular director by 
sending a letter addressed to the Board or a particular director to our Corporate Secretary at the address set forth 
on the first page of this Proxy Statement. These communications will be compiled and reviewed by our 
Corporate Secretary, who will determine whether the communication is appropriate for presentation to the Board 
or the particular director. The purpose of this screening is to allow the Board to avoid having to consider 
irrelevant or inappropriate communications (such as advertisements, solicitations and hostile communications). 

To enable the Company to speak with a single voice, as a general matter, senior management serves as the 
primary spokesperson for the Company and is responsible for communicating with various constituencies, 
including stockholders, on behalf of the Company. Directors may participate in discussions with stockholders 
and other constituencies on issues where Board-level involvement is appropriate. In addition, the Board is kept 
informed by senior management of the Company’s stockholder engagement efforts. 

Code of Conduct 

Our Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that establishes the standards of ethical 
conduct applicable to all our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, 
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. It 
addresses, among other matters, compliance with laws and policies, conflicts of interest, corporate opportunities, 
regulatory reporting, external communications, confidentiality requirements, insider trading, proper use of assets 
and how to report compliance concerns. 

A copy of the code is available on our website located at ir.shattucklabs.com, under “Governance.” We 
intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of the code, and waivers of the code granted to our 
executive officers and directors, on our website to the extent required by applicable rules. Our Board is 
responsible for applying and interpreting the code in situations where questions are presented to it. 

Anti-Hedging Policy 

We have a policy that prohibits our employees, officers, directors and consultants from engaging in, with 
respect to Company securities: (a) short-term trading; (b) short sales; (c) transactions involving publicly traded 
options or other derivatives, such as trading in puts or calls with respect to Company securities; and (d) hedging 
transactions. 

Compensation Committee Interlocks 

None of the members of our Compensation Committee has at any time during the prior three years been one 
of our officers or employees. None of our executive officers currently serves, or in the past fiscal year has served, 
as a member of the board or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers 
serving on our Board or Compensation Committee. 

Director Compensation 

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy 

We adopted a policy for compensating our non-employee directors with a combination of cash and equity. 
Our Compensation Committee, in consultation with Aon, its independent compensation consultant, periodically 
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reviews non-employee director compensation and recommends changes based on competitive market data. Most 
recently, changes to our non-employe director compensation policy, as described below, became effective on 
May 5, 2023 and were implemented in order to better align director compensation with that of our peer group. 
During 2023, each director who was not an employee was entitled to receive cash compensation as set forth 
below (all such amounts paid in quarterly installments): 

Annual Cash Retainers 
Amount 

($) 

Board membership (other than the Chairman or Lead 
Director) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,000 

Chairman of the Board . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,000* 
Lead Independent Director (if applicable) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000 
Additional annual retainers  

Chair of the Audit Committee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,000 
Chair of the Compensation Committee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000 
Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance 

Committee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,000 
Member of the Audit Committee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,500 
Member of the Compensation Committee . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000 
Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance 

Committee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,000 

* Such amount was $65,000 prior to May 2023. 

In addition to the annual retainers, during 2023, each of our non-employee directors was eligible for equity 
awards consisting of, as applicable: (i) an initial, one-time award of stock options, restricted stock or restricted 
stock units, as determined in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, to each new non-employee director 
upon his or her election to the Board, with a grant date fair value equal to $250,000 that vests over a three-year 
period, subject to such director’s continued service; and (ii) an annual award of 40,258 stock options that vests on 
the first anniversary of the date of grant (or if sooner, immediately prior to the Company’s next annual meeting 
of stockholders). Prior to May 2023, our non-employee director compensation policy provided that the annual 
award be granted in the form of stock options, restricted stock or restricted stock units, as determined in the 
discretion of the Compensation Committee, with a grant date fair value equal to $125,000. 

Under the non-employee director compensation policy, the total amount of cash retainers paid and equity 
awards (valued based on the grant date fair value) granted by the Company to any director for his or her service 
on the Board will not exceed $750,000 in any fiscal year. 

We reimburse all necessary and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by non-employee directors in 
connection with their service on our Board, subject to any applicable Company policies that may be in effect 
from time to time. 

Our Board periodically reviews our director compensation program and may revise the compensation 
arrangements for our directors from time to time. 
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Fiscal Year 2023 Non-Employee Director Compensation Table 

The following table shows the compensation earned in 2023 by the non-employee directors who served on 
the Board during such year. Dr. Schreiber did not receive any additional compensation for his 2023 Board 
service. For additional information on Dr. Schreiber’s 2023 compensation, see the “Executive Compensation” 
section below. 

Name 

Fees Earned 
or Paid in 

Cash 
($) 

Option 
Awards 

($)(1) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 
Total 

($) 

Helen M. Boudreau . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000 80,955 —  140,955 
Tyler Brous . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,500 80,955 —  138,455 
Carrie Brownstein, M.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,000 80,955 —  124,955 
Neil Gibson, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55,500 80,955 —  136,455 
George Golumbeski, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,242 80,955 —  154,197 
Michael Lee(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,000 80,955 —  124,955 

(1) Amounts shown in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted during 
the year ended December 31, 2023, as computed in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification Topic 718. On May 26, 2023, each non-employee director serving at such time was granted an 
annual equity award in the form of an option covering 40,258 shares with a per share exercise price of 
$2.72. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of the awards reported in the Option 
Awards column are described in Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans, to our 
financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. Note that 
the amounts reported in this column reflect the aggregate accounting cost for these awards, and do not 
necessarily correspond to the actual economic value that may be received by the director from the awards. 

(2) Mr. Lee serves as Managing Director of Redmile Group, LLC (“Redmile”). Pursuant to the policies of 
Redmile, the compensation Mr. Lee receives for his service on our Board is remitted to Redmile. 

As of December 31, 2023, each of the company’s non-employee directors held the following aggregate 
number of option awards: 

Name 
Option 
Awards 

Helen M. Boudreau . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168,806 
Tyler Brous . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112,636 
Carrie Brownstein, M.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90,983 
Neil Gibson, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 143,461 
George Golumbeski, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 213,331 
Michael Lee(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85,236 

(1) Pursuant to the policies of Redmile, Mr. Lee holds the stock options as a nominee on behalf, and for the sole 
benefit, of Redmile and has assigned all economic, pecuniary and voting rights in respect of the stock 
options to Redmile. Mr. Lee disclaims beneficial ownership of these options. 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

Biographical and other information regarding our executive officers is set forth below. There are no family 
relationships among any of our directors or executive officers. 

Name 
Age 

(as of April 23, 2024) Position 

Taylor Schreiber, M.D., Ph.D.(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 Chief Executive Officer and Director 
Abhinav Shukla, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 Chief Technical Officer 
Arunthathy Nirmalini (Lini) Pandite, M.B.Ch.B. . . . 65 Chief Medical Officer 
Casi DeYoung . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53 Chief Business Officer 
Andrew R. Neill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 Chief Financial Officer 
Stephen Stout, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49 General Counsel, Corporate 

Secretary and Chief Ethics and 
Compliance Officer 

(1) For Dr. Schreiber’s biographical information, see “Information Regarding Director Nominees and 
Continuing Directors” above. 

Abhinav Shukla, Ph.D. Dr. Shukla has served as our Chief Technical Officer since June 2021. Prior to 
joining the Company, from March 2020 to June 2021, Dr. Shukla served as the Chief Technical Operations 
Officer of Redpin Therapeutics, a gene therapy company, where he was responsible for all aspects of process, 
analytical and formulation development, and cGMP manufacturing. Previously, he held several senior leadership 
positions, including Vice President of Manufacturing at CRISPR Therapeutics AG (Nasdaq: CRSP), a 
biotechnology company, from April 2019 to November 2019, and Vice President and Head of Biologics Process 
Development at Shire plc, a biopharmaceutical company, from June 2018 to April 2019. Dr. Shukla served in 
several roles at KBI Biopharma Inc., a contract development and manufacturing company, from November 2011 
to June 2018, including as Senior Vice President of Process Development and Manufacturing, where he helped 
build the foundation for their contract process development and manufacturing business. He served in a senior 
role helping to commercialize multiple biologic therapies at Bristol-Myers Squibb (NYSE: BMY), a 
pharmaceutical company, from 2006 to 2011 and in a senior technical role at Amgen Inc. (Nasdaq: AMGN), a 
biopharmaceutical company, from 2000 to 2006. Dr. Shukla received his undergraduate degree from the Indian 
Institute of Technology, Delhi and his Ph.D. in Chemical and Biochemical Engineering from Rensselaer 
Polytechnic Institute. 

Arunthathy Nirmalini (Lini) Pandite, M.B.Ch.B. Dr. Pandite has served as our Chief Medical Officer since 
July 2017. From May 2015 to June 2017, Dr. Pandite served as Head of Global Clinical Development and Senior 
Vice President at Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc (Nasdaq: ADAP), a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, 
where she was responsible for clinical development of the company’s immuno-oncology pipeline. From May 
2001 to April 2015, Dr. Pandite served in a number of roles at GlaxoSmithKline plc (NYSE: GSK), including as 
Vice President, Medicines Development Leader, and Head Unit Physician for Oncology. Dr. Pandite was an 
attending physician at Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center/Jackson Memorial Hospital in Miami from 
January 1998 to November 2000 and at Dana Farber Cancer Institute in Boston from July 1993 to August 1996, 
and has held academic appointments at Harvard University and the University of Miami. She served on the board 
of Codiak BioSciences, Inc. (Nasdaq: CDAK) from August 2021 to July 2023. She earned her M.B.Ch.B. from 
the University of Liverpool, England and her M.B.A. from Duke University. 

Casi DeYoung. Ms. DeYoung has served as our Chief Business Officer since December 2019. From June 
2018 to December 2019, Ms. DeYoung served as Vice President and Chief Operating Officer for ImmuneSensor 
Therapeutics, an immunotherapy-focused biotechnology company, where she was responsible for corporate 
strategy, start-up operations, intellectual property, oversight of the company’s first IND filing and the initiation 
of a first-in-human Phase I clinical trial. She served as Chief Business Officer at Mirna Therapeutics, Inc., an 
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oncology-focused biopharmaceutical company, from March 2014 to June 2017, Vice President of Business 
Development at Reata Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nasdaq: RETA), a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, from 
May 2008 to December 2013, Vice President of Business Development at ODC Therapy, Inc., a cancer 
immunotherapy company, from November 2005 to March 2008, and in various roles at EMD Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc., a subsidiary of Merck KGaA, and Merck KGaA (OTCMKTS: MKKGY) from 2000 to 2005. Ms. DeYoung 
earned her B.S. in Chemistry from Southwestern University and her M.B.A. from the McCombs School of 
Business at the University of Texas at Austin. 

Andrew R. Neill. Mr. Neill has served as our Chief Financial Officer since March 2021. He previously 
served as our Vice President of Finance and Corporate Development from July 2020 to March 2021 and as our 
Vice President of Corporate Development and Strategy from May 2017 to July 2020. From August 2010 to 
August 2016, Mr. Neill was the co-founder of Lumos Pharma, Inc. (Nasdaq: LUMO), a biopharmaceutical 
company focused on developing therapeutics for genetic rare diseases. From March 2009 to February 2014, 
Mr. Neill served as an analyst at Innovations in Drug Development, LLC, a pharmaceutical and biotechnology 
research management consulting company. Mr. Neill earned his B.B.A. from Texas Christian University and his 
M.B.A. with majors in Health Care Management and Finance from The Wharton School at the University of 
Pennsylvania, where he was a Kaiser Fellow. 

Stephen Stout, Ph.D. Mr. Stout has served as our General Counsel, Corporate Secretary and Chief Ethics 
and Compliance Officer since May 2023. He previously served as our Vice President of Intellectual Property 
from January 2022 through April 2023, and as our Intellectual Property Counsel from April 2021 through 
December 2021. Prior to that, Mr. Stout served as Special Counsel at Baker Botts L.L.P., a law firm, from 
October 2019 to March 2021 and in various roles at Vinson & Elkins LLP, a law firm, from October 2007 to 
October 2019, including as Partner from January 2016 to October 2019. During his time in private practice, he 
focused on federal litigation, particularly in intellectual property and technology disputes involving life sciences 
and digital media. He served on the board of directors for Volunteer Legal Services of Central Texas, a 
non-profit organization that provides legal services to low-income clients, from 2018 to 2022. Mr. Stout earned 
his J.D., with honors, from the University of Texas School of Law, his Ph.D. from the University of Texas at 
Austin, his M.S. from Louisiana State University and his B.S. from Texas A&M University. He is admitted to 
practice law in Texas and before the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office. 
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Our named executive officers (“NEOs”) for 2023, which consist of our principal executive officer and the 
next two most highly-compensated executive officers who served during the year ended December 31, 2023, are: 

• Dr. Taylor Schreiber, our Chief Executive Officer; 

• Dr. Arunthathy Nirmalini (Lini) Pandite, our Chief Medical Officer; and 

• Mr. Andrew R. Neill, our Chief Financial Officer. 

2023 Summary Compensation Table 

The following table summarizes the compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to our NEOs for 2023 and 
2022. 

Name and Principal Position Year 
Salary 

($) 

Stock 
Awards(1) 

($) 

Option 
Awards(1) 

($) 

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Compensation(2) 
($) 

All Other 
Compensation(3) 

($) 
Total 

($) 

Taylor Schreiber, M.D., 
Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2023 525,000 —  241,523 262,500 5,385 1,034,408 
Chief Executive Officer 2022 525,000 —  680,591 249,375 10,245 1,465,211 

Arunthathy Nirmalini (Lini) 
Pandite, M.B.Ch.B. . . . . . . 2023 479,000 135,214 182,857 191,600 24,643 1,013,314 
Chief Medical Officer 2022 479,000 258,103 362,583 182,020 18,514 1,300,220 

Andrew R. Neill . . . . . . . . . . . 2023 430,000 124,682 183,119 172,000 1,956 911,757 
Chief Financial Officer        

(1) Amounts shown in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value (calculated in accordance with 
FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718) of equity awards granted during the year. A 
description of the methodologies and assumptions we use to value equity awards and the manner in which 
we recognize the related expense are described in Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation and Employee 
Benefit Plans, to our financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. These amounts may not correspond to the actual value eventually realized by each 
NEO because the value depends on the market value of our common stock at the time the award is exercised 
and retention of the award through the applicable vesting period. 

(2) Following the end of the fiscal year, we awarded each of our NEOs bonuses in respect of our performance 
in the prior fiscal year based on the achievement of individual and Company performance goals. 

(3) Represents the sum of the Company’s 401(k) plan matching contributions and life and AD&D insurance 
premiums paid on behalf of each of our NEOs. 
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2023 Fiscal-Year End Table 

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding equity awards as of December 31, 2023 for 
each of our NEOs. 

 Option Awards(1) Stock Awards(2) 

Name Grant Date 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
Exercisable 

(#) 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
Unexercisable 

(#) 

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards: 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 
Unearned 
Options 

(#) 

Option 
Exercise 

Price 
($) 

Option 
Expiration 

Date 

Number 
of Shares 
or Units 
of Stock 

That 
Have Not 

Vested 
(#) 

Market 
Value 

of Shares or 
Units of 
Stock 

That Have 
Not Vested 

($) 

Taylor Schreiber, 
M.D., Ph.D. . . . . . 8/6/2020 145,198 31,399 —  4.67 8/6/2030 —  —  

 12/22/2020 20,672 6,891 —  53.02 12/22/2030 —  —  
 1/10/2022 —  —  178,150 7.43 1/10/2032 —  —  
 1/25/2023 —  —  165,050 3.57 1/25/2033   
Arunthathy Nirmalini 

(Lini) Pandite,  
M.B.Ch.B. . . . . . . 9/19/2018 63,705 —  —  2.95 9/19/2028 —  —  

 8/6/2020 68,504 13,696 —  4.67 8/6/2030 —  —  
 12/22/2020 20,672 6,891 —  53.02 12/22/2030 —  —  
 1/10/2022 33,290 36,185 —  7.43 1/10/2032 —  —  
 1/10/2022 —  —  —  —  —  26,053 185,758 
 1/25/2023 —  69,750 —  3.57 1/25/2033 —  —  
 1/25/2023 —  —  —  —  —  37,875 270,049 
Andrew R. Neill . . . . 9/19/2018 43,705 —  —  2.95 9/19/2028 —  —  
 12/04/2019 68,500 —  —  3.17 12/04/2029 —  —  
 8/06/2020 17,130 3,420 —  4.67 8/06/2030 —  —  
 12/22/2020 10,956 3,652 —  53.02 12/22/2030 —  —  
 1/10/2022 31,936 34,714  7.43 1/10/2032 —  —  
 1/10/2022 —  —  —  —  —  24,993 178,200 
 1/25/2023 —  69,850 —  3.57 1/25/2033 —  —  
 1/25/2023 —  —  —  —  —  34,925 249,015 

(1) Each option award expires on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Except with respect to 
Dr. Schreiber’s January 10, 2022 and January 25, 2023 stock option awards, 25% of each stock option 
award vests on the one-year anniversary of the grant date (or the vesting commencement date specified in 
the award agreement for 2020 grants) and the remainder of the shares underlying the options vest in equal 
installments over the next 36 months, subject to the applicable NEO’s continued service through each such 
vesting date. Dr. Schreiber’s January 2022 stock option award will only vest upon the Company’s common 
stock achieving a price per share of at least $18.00 for 30 consecutive trading days. Dr. Schreiber’s January 
2023 stock option award was eligible to vest in three equal tranches upon the Company’s common stock 
achieving a price per share of $4.00, $5.00 and $6.00 for 30 consecutive trading days, which occurred in 
January 2024. 

(2) Each restricted stock unit award vests in four equal installments on each anniversary of the grant date, 
subject to the applicable NEO’s continued service through each such vesting date. All Company equity 
awards currently outstanding, including stock options held by our NEOs, that were granted prior to the 
completion of our initial public offering (“IPO”) in October 2020 were granted under the Shattuck Labs, 
Inc. 2016 Stock Incentive Plan. Such plan was discontinued in connection with the IPO and outstanding 
awards thereunder were cancelled and replaced with equivalent awards under the Shattuck Labs, Inc. 2020 
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Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”). All equity awards granted following October 2020 were granted 
under the 2020 Plan. 

Employment Agreements 

Dr. Schreiber. We are party to an employment agreement with Dr. Schreiber effective as of December 5, 
2019. On March 27, 2020, Dr. Schreiber’s employment agreement was amended to reflect his transition to serve 
as our Chief Executive Officer as of January 29, 2020, and this agreement was further amended on March 12, 
2021. The agreement provides for his base salary, eligibility to receive an annual performance bonus with a 
target bonus amount of 30% of his base salary and eligibility to participate in the Company’s employee benefit 
plans. The agreement provides for employment on an at-will basis and thus either party may terminate at any 
time for any or no reason, subject to 30 days’ notice for Dr. Schreiber and the severance provisions described 
below in the section titled “Post-Employment Compensation and Change in Control Payments and Benefits.” 
Dr. Schreiber’s base salary was increased to $560,000 effective as of January 1, 2024 with a target bonus amount 
of 50%. 

Dr. Pandite. We are party to an employment agreement with Dr. Pandite effective as of December 5, 2019, 
pursuant to which she serves as our Chief Medical Officer. This agreement was amended on March 12, 2021. 
The agreement provides for her base salary, eligibility to receive an annual performance bonus with a target 
bonus amount of 35% of base salary and eligibility to participate in the Company’s employee benefit plans. The 
agreement provides for employment on an at-will basis and thus either party may terminate at any time for any or 
no reason, subject to 30 days’ notice for Dr. Pandite and the severance provisions described below in the section 
titled “Post-Employment Compensation and Change in Control Payments and Benefits.” Dr. Pandite’s base 
salary was increased to $498,000 effective as of January 1, 2024 with a target bonus amount of 40%. 

Mr. Neill. We are party to an employment agreement with Mr. Neill effective as of December 5, 2019. This 
agreement was amended on March 12, 2021. The agreement provides for his base salary, eligibility to receive an 
annual performance bonus with a target bonus amount of 40% of his base salary and eligibility to participate in 
the Company’s employee benefit plans. The agreement provides for employment on an at-will basis and thus 
either party may terminate at any time for any or no reason, subject to 30 days’ notice for Mr. Neill and the 
severance provisions described below in the section titled “Post-Employment Compensation and Change in 
Control Payments and Benefits.” Mr. Neill’s base salary was increased to $458,000 effective as of January 1, 
2024, with a target bonus amount of 40%. 

2023 Annual Bonus Program 

At the beginning of 2023, the Compensation Committee established overall corporate performance goals 
and a methodology by which employees, including each of our NEOs, would be awarded an annual bonus based 
on achievement of the corporate performance goals. In addition, the Compensation Committee established that 
each of our NEOs would be eligible for bonus awards of up to the following target bonus amounts: 
Dr. Schreiber-$262,500, Dr. Pandite-$191,600 and Mr. Neill-$172,000. The corporate performance goals 
included key milestones with respect to the clinical development of SL-172154, continued research and 
development activities related to certain pre-clinical compounds, improvement of the Company’s manufacturing 
processes and other corporate and business development objectives. Personal responsibility for achievement of, 
and individual performance in support of, the enumerated corporate goals was also evaluated by the 
Compensation Committee in assessing final performance for the year. Following its assessment of the level of 
achievement of the corporate goals in December 2023, the Compensation Committee approved final bonus 
payments to the NEOs based on achievement of corporate performance goals at 100% of target and the 
evaluation of each NEO’s individual performance as follows: Dr. Schreiber-$262,500, Dr. Pandite-$191,600 and 
Mr. Neill-$172,000. Such bonus payments were made in February 2024. 

23 



2023 Annual Equity Awards 

In January 2023, we awarded each of our NEOs annual equity awards in the form of restricted stock units 
and stock options, except for Dr. Schreiber who received only stock options. See the 2023 Summary 
Compensation Table and Outstanding Equity Awards at 2023 Fiscal-Year End Table for further information with 
respect to these awards. 

Post-Employment Compensation and Change in Control Payments and Benefits 

Employment Agreements 

Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreements with each of the NEOs, upon a termination without 
cause or resignation with good reason not in connection with a change in control, the NEO will receive, subject 
to the NEO’s execution and non-revocation of a release of claims in favor of the company, or the Release 
Condition, and continued compliance with restrictive covenants: (i) severance payments equal to one times the 
NEO’s annual base salary, (ii) any earned but unpaid prior year annual bonus and a pro-rata annual bonus for the 
year of termination based on actual performance, (iii) accelerated vesting of all unvested equity awards granted 
on or prior to December 1, 2020 (with performance-based awards earned at the target level of performance) and 
(iv) payment of COBRA premiums for up to 12 months, or, if sooner, until eligible for similar coverage through 
another employer. If the NEO is terminated without cause or resigns for good reason within 30 days prior to, or 
12 months following, a change in control, then the NEO severance multiplier will be increased from one to 1.5 
and will apply to both the executive’s annual base salary and target annual bonus, all outstanding equity awards 
will fully accelerate regardless of grant date, and the maximum COBRA premium payment period will be 
extended from 12 to 18 months. Severance payments remain subject to the Release Condition and compliance 
with restricted covenants. 

“Good Reason” under each of the NEO employment agreements generally means the occurrence of any of 
the following events, without the executive’s consent, provided, in each case, that such event is not cured within 
30 days after the company receives notice from the executive specifying in reasonable detail the event 
constituting Good Reason: (i) failure to pay the annual base salary or annual bonus when due, (ii) a reduction in 
the annual base salary or annual bonus, (iii) any diminution in the executive’s title or any substantial and 
sustained diminution in the executive’s duties or (iv) a required relocation of the executive’s primary work 
location by more than 25 miles. 

“Cause” under each of the NEO employment agreements generally means: (i) indictment for, conviction of, 
or a plea of nolo contendere to, (x) a felony (other than traffic-related) under the laws of the United States or any 
state thereof or any similar criminal act in a jurisdiction outside the United States or (y) a crime involving moral 
turpitude that could be injurious to the company or its reputation, (ii) willful malfeasance or willful misconduct 
which is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company, (iii) any act of fraud in the performance of 
executive’s duties or (iv) a material breach of any agreement with the Company or any of the Company’s 
material policies. 

“Change in Control” under each of the NEO employment agreements generally means the occurrence of one 
or more of the following events: (i) any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the 
Exchange Act) or “group” (as such term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), other than the 
company or its subsidiaries or any benefit plan of the company or its subsidiaries is or becomes a “beneficial 
owner” (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of more than 50% of the 
voting stock of the Company; (ii) the Company transfers all or substantially all of its assets (unless the 
stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such transaction beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in 
substantially the same proportion as they owned the voting stock of the Company, all of the voting stock or other 
ownership interests of the entity or entities, if any, that succeed to the business of the Company or the 
Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a subsidiary of another corporation); or (iii) any merger, 
reorganization, consolidation or similar transaction unless, immediately after consummation of such transaction, 
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the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to the transaction hold, directly or indirectly, more than 50% 
of the voting stock of the Company or the Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a subsidiary of 
another corporation. 

Each employment agreement provides that, to the extent that any payments would be subject to the excise 
tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), each executive will be entitled to 
receive either: (a) the full amount of payments and benefits in connection with their employment with the 
Company or (b) a portion of the payments and benefits having a value equal to $1 less than three times the 
NEO’s “base amount” (as defined in Section 280G(b)(3)(A) of the Code), whichever results in the receipt of the 
greater amount on an after-tax basis. 

Other Benefits 

We offer our eligible full-time employees, including our NEOs, the opportunity to participate in our 
tax-qualified 401(k) plan. Employees can contribute 1% to 99% of their eligible earnings up to the Internal 
Revenue Service’s annual limits on a before-tax basis. We provide a 100% match of the first 3% and 50% match 
of the following 2% of eligible compensation. The matches we provided to our NEOs in 2023 are reflected in the 
“All Other Compensation” column of the 2023 Summary Compensation Table above. The matching funds that 
we provide are 100% vested. We maintain an employee stock purchase plan in order to enable eligible employees 
to purchase shares of our common stock at a discount. We do not maintain any defined benefit pension plans or 
any nonqualified deferred compensation plans. 

Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy 

We have adopted a Rule 10D-1 Clawback Policy, which is intended to comply with the requirements of 
Nasdaq Listing Standard 5608 implementing Rule 10D-1 under the Exchange Act. In the event the Company is 
required to prepare an accounting restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to material 
non-compliance with any financial reporting requirement under the federal securities laws, the Company will 
recover, on a reasonably prompt basis, the excess incentive-based compensation received by any covered 
executive during the prior three fiscal years that exceeds the amount that the executive otherwise would have 
received had the incentive-based compensation been determined based on the restated financial statements. 
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CERTAIN INFORMATION ABOUT OUR COMMON STOCK 

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

The following table presents information regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 1, 
2024 by: 

• each stockholder or group of stockholders known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of 
our outstanding common stock; 

• each of our directors and nominees; 

• each of our NEOs; and 

• all of our current directors and executive officers as a group. 

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and thus represents voting or 
investment power with respect to our securities. Under such rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares over 
which the individual has sole or shared voting power or investment power as well as any shares that the 
individual has the right to acquire within 60 days after the date of this table. To our knowledge and subject to 
applicable community property rules, and except as otherwise indicated below, the persons and entities named in 
the table have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned. 

The percentage ownership information shown in the column titled “Shares Beneficially Owned – 
Percentage” in the table below is based on 47,519,219 shares of our common stock outstanding as of the date of 
this table (plus any shares that such person has the right to acquire within 60 days after the date of this table). 
Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each individual listed in this table is the Company’s address set forth 
on the first page of this Proxy Statement. 

 Shares Beneficially Owned 

Name of Beneficial Owner Number Percentage 

Greater than 5% Holders   
Entities affiliated with FMR LLC (Fidelity)(1) . . . . . 7,071,174 14.9% 
Entities affiliated with Redmile Group, LLC(2) . . . . 5,705,150 12.0% 
Josiah Hornblower(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,977,627 6.3% 
Entities affiliated with Prosight Management, 

LP(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,782,797 5.9% 
Entities affiliated with Adage Capital Partners, 

L.P.(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,577,705 5.4% 
Named Executive Officers, Directors and Nominees   

Taylor Schreiber, M.D., Ph.D.(6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,981,218 6.2% 
Helen M. Boudreau(7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168,806 * 
Tyler Brous(8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 342,308 * 
Carrie Brownstein, M.D.(9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87,494 * 
Neil Gibson, Ph.D.(10) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 196,206 * 
George Golumbeski, Ph.D.(11) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 267,944 * 
Michael Lee(12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85,236 * 
Kate Sasser, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 
Clay Siegall, Ph.D. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 
Lini Pandite, M.B.Ch.B.(13) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 352,200 * 
Andrew R. Neill(14) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 280,199 * 

All Executive Officers and Directors as a group  
(14 persons)(15) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,219,537 10.5% 

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent. 
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(1) Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 9, 2024 filed by FMR LLC and Abigail P. Johnson, and 
consists of shares held by subsidiaries of FMR LLC. Ms. Johnson is a Director, the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer of FMR LLC. Members of the Johnson family, including Ms. Johnson, are the 
predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B voting common shares of FMR LLC, 
representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family group and all other Series B 
shareholders have entered into a shareholders’ voting agreement under which all Series B voting common 
shares will be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common shares. Accordingly, 
through their ownership of voting common shares and the execution of the shareholders’ voting agreement, 
members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940 to form a 
controlling group with respect to FMR LLC. Consists of (i) 7,071,174 shares over which FMR holds sole 
voting and dispositive power, (ii) no shares over which Ms. Johnson holds sole voting power and 
(iii) 7,071,174 shares over which Ms. Johnson holds sole dispositive power. The business address of each 
person and entity listed above is 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210. 

(2) Based on a Schedule 13D/A filed on December 26, 2023 and consists of the following: (i) 583,995 shares 
held by Redmile Capital Fund, L.P., (ii) 829,744 shares held by Redmile Capital Offshore Master Fund, 
Ltd., (iii) 46,923 shares held by Redmile Capital Offshore Fund (ERISA), Ltd., (iv) 374,149 shares held by 
Redmile Capital Offshore II Master Fund, Ltd., (v) 374,546 shares held by Redmile Strategic Long Only 
Trading Sub, Ltd., (vi) 485,259 shares held by Redmile Strategic Trading Sub, Ltd., (vii) 2,178,738 shares 
held by Redmile Biopharma Investments II, L.P., (viii) 670,795 shares held by RedCo I, L.P., (ix) 75,765 
shares held by Map 20 Segregated Portfolio, a segregated portfolio of LMA SPC (together, the “Redmile 
Funds”) and (x) 85,236 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date of this table or will 
become exercisable within 60 days after such date held by Mr. Lee. Mr. Lee is a member of our Board and a 
Co-Founder and Managing Director of Redmile. The stock options were granted to Mr. Lee in connection 
with his service as a member of our Board. Pursuant to the policies of Redmile, Mr. Lee holds the stock 
options as a nominee on behalf, and for the sole benefit, of Redmile and has assigned all economic, 
pecuniary and voting rights in respect of the stock options to Redmile. Redmile is the investment manager/
adviser to each of the Redmile Funds and, in such capacity, exercises sole voting and investment power over 
all of the shares held by the Redmile Funds and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these shares. 
Jeremy C. Green serves as the managing member of Redmile and also may be deemed to be the beneficial 
owner of these shares. Redmile and Mr. Green each disclaim beneficial ownership of these securities, except 
to the extent of its or his pecuniary interest in such shares, if any. Excludes: (i) 1,233,414 shares underlying 
a warrant held by Redmile Strategic Long Only Trading Sub, Ltd., (ii) 316,997 shares underlying a warrant 
held by Redmile Strategic Trading Sub, Ltd. and (iii) 1,550,412 shares underlying a warrant held by 
Redmile Biopharma Investments II, L.P., which exercise is subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 
9.99% of the shares of common stock issued and outstanding. The business address of each person and 
entity listed above is c/o Redmile Group, LLC, One Letterman Drive, Building D, Suite D3-300, San 
Francisco, California 94129. 

(3) Based on a Schedule 13D/A filed on December 9, 2022, and consists of 85,774 shares held directly by 
Mr. Hornblower and 2,891,853 shares held by Hornblower Capital Holdings, LLC. Hornblower Capital 
Holdings, LLC is controlled by Mr. Hornblower, and he may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of those 
shares. The business address of Mr. Hornblower is 3317 Bowman Avenue, Austin, Texas 78703. 

(4) Based on a Schedule 13G filed on January 2, 2024, and consists of (i) 244,554 shares held by Prosight Fund, 
LP (“Prosight Fund”), (ii) 726,079 shares held by Prosight Plus Fund, LP (“Prosight Plus Fund”) and 
(iii) 1,812,164 shares held in certain separate managed accounts (the “Managed Accounts”) and by W. 
Lawrence Hawkins. Prosight Management, LP (“Prosight Management”) is the general partner and 
investment manager of, and may be deemed to indirectly beneficially own securities owned by, Prosight 
Fund and Prosight Plus Fund. Prosight Management is a sub-advisor for the Managed Accounts and may be 
deemed to indirectly beneficially own securities owned by the Managed Accounts. Prosight Partners, LLC 
(“Prosight Partners”) is the general partner of, and may be deemed to beneficially own, securities 
beneficially owned by Prosight Management. Mr. Hawkins is the sole manager of, and may be deemed to 
beneficially own securities beneficially owned by, Prosight Partners. Prosight Fund disclaims beneficial 
ownership of the shares of common stock held by each of the Managed Accounts, Prosight Plus Fund and 
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Mr. Hawkins. Prosight Plus Fund disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by each of the Managed 
Accounts, Prosight Fund and Mr. Hawkins. Mr. Hawkins disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held 
by each of the Managed Accounts, Prosight Fund and Prosight Plus Fund. The business address of each 
person and entity listed above is c/o Prosight Management, LP, 5956 Sherry Lane, Suite 1365, Dallas, Texas 
75225. 

(5) Based on a Schedule 13G filed on January 29, 2024, and consists of 2,577,705 shares held by Adage Capital 
Partners, L.P. (“ACP”). Adage Capital Partners GP, L.L.C. (“ACPGP”) is the general partner of ACP and 
holds shared voting and investment power over the shares held by ACP. Adage Capital Management, L.P. 
(“ACM”) is the investment manager of ACP and holds shared voting and investment power over the shares 
held by ACP. Each of Robert Atchinson and Phillip Gross is a managing member of Adage Capital 
Advisors, L.L.C., which is the managing member of ACPGP, and a managing member of Adage Capital 
Partners LLC, which is the general partner of ACM, and holds shared voting and investment power over the 
shares held by ACP. The business address of each person and entity listed above is 200 Clarendon Street, 
52nd Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02116. 

(6) Consists of (a) 2,610,750 shares held by Houghton Capital Holdings, LLC, which is controlled by 
Dr. Schreiber, (b) 17,052 shares held in Dr. Schreiber’s name and (c) 353,416 shares underlying options that 
are exercisable as of the date of this table or will become exercisable within 60 days after such date. 
Excludes 178,150 shares underlying options that will vest upon the Company’s common stock achieving 
certain specified share prices. 

(7) Consists of 168,806 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date of this table or will become 
exercisable within 60 days after such date. 

(8) Consists of (a) 229,672 shares and (b) 112,636 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date 
of this table or will become exercisable within 60 days after such date. 

(9) Consists of 87,494 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date of this table or will become 
exercisable within 60 days after such date. 

(10) Consists of (a) 52,745 shares and (b) 143,461 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date of 
this table or will become exercisable within 60 days after such date. 

(11) Consists of (a) 54,613 shares and (b) 213,331 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date of 
this table or will become exercisable within 60 days after such date. 

(12) Mr. Lee holds 85,236 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date of this table or will 
become exercisable within 60 days after such date as a nominee on behalf, and for the sole benefit, of 
Redmile. The stock options were granted to Mr. Lee in connection with his service as a member of our 
Board. Pursuant to the policies of Redmile, Mr. Lee has assigned all economic, pecuniary and voting rights 
in respect of the stock options to Redmile. Mr. Lee disclaims beneficial ownership of these options, which 
are also reported as beneficially owned for Redmile. 

(13) Consists of (a) 124,111 shares and (b) 228,089 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date 
of this table or will become exercisable within 60 days after such date. 

(14) Consists of (a) 74,091 shares and (b) 206,108 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the date of 
this table or will become exercisable within 60 days after such date. 

(15) Consists of (a) 3,190,582 shares and (b) 2,028,955 shares underlying options that are exercisable as of the 
date of this table or will become exercisable within 60 days after such date. 
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans 

The following table contains information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2023. As 
of such date, we had outstanding awards under three equity compensation plans: our 2016 Stock Incentive Plan 
(the “2016 Plan”), our 2020 Plan and our 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2020 ESPP”). 

Plan Category 

Number of Securities to 
Be Issued Upon Exercise 
of Outstanding Options, 

Warrants and Rights 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights(1) 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for 
Future Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation 

Plans (Excluding 
Securities Reflected in 

Column (a))(2) 

 (a) (b) (c) 

Equity compensation 
plans approved by 
security holders . . . . . . 5,532,567 $7.21 5,188,630 

Equity compensation 
plans not approved by 
security holders . . . . . . —  —  —  

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,532,567 $7.21 5,188,630 

(1) The weighted-average exercise price does not take into account shares issuable upon vesting of outstanding 
restricted stock unit awards, which have no exercise price. 

(2) Includes 3,983,756 shares available for grant under the 2020 Plan and 1,204,874 shares available for grant 
under the 2020 ESPP, including 7,286 shares subject to purchase during the purchase periods in effect as of 
December 31, 2023. Excludes 1,890,404 and 472,601 shares that were added to the 2020 Plan and the 2020 
ESPP, respectively, on January 1, 2024 pursuant to the evergreen provisions thereunder that provide for 
automatic annual increases on January 1 of each year until January 1, 2030 equal to 4% and 1%, 
respectively, of our outstanding shares as of the preceding December 31 (or such lesser amounts as 
approved by the Board). As of December 31, 2023, there were no shares available for future grants under 
the 2016 Plan. 
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The following is a summary of each transaction or series of similar transactions since January 1, 2022 or 
any currently proposed transaction, to which we were or are a party in which: 

• the amount involved exceeds $120,000; and 

• any related person (including our directors, executive officers, beneficial owners of more than 5% of 
our common stock, and any members of their immediate family) had or will have a direct or indirect 
material interest, other than compensation and other arrangements that are described under the section 
titled “Executive Compensation” or that were approved by our Compensation Committee. 

Beneficial ownership of securities is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. 

Related Party Transactions 

Second Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement 

We are party to a second amended and restated investors’ rights agreement effective as of June 12, 2020 (the 
“IRA”) with our stockholders who previously held our redeemable convertible preferred stock and certain other 
stockholders. The IRA provides these holders with certain registration rights, including the right to demand that 
we file a registration statement or request that their shares be covered by a registration statement that we are 
otherwise filing. These registration rights will terminate no later than five years after the completion of our IPO 
or, with respect to any particular holder, at such time that such holder can sell its shares, under Rule 144 under 
the Securities Act or otherwise, during any 90-day period without registration. The IRA was entered into prior to 
our adoption of the formal, written policy described below, but was approved by our Board. 

2023 Private Placement 

On December 21, 2023, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Securities 
Purchase Agreement”) with certain entities affiliated with Redmile (the “Purchasers”), relating to the purchase of 
pre-funded warrants to purchase 3,100,823 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $6.4499 per 
pre-funded warrant, for aggregate gross proceeds of $19,999,998.30, before deducting offering expenses (the 
“Private Placement”). Mr. Lee, a director of the Company, serves as Managing Director of Redmile. In addition, 
Redmile is a holder of more than 5% of the Company’s common stock. 

Each pre-funded warrant may be exercised for one share of common stock, is immediately exercisable, does 
not expire and is subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 9.99% post-exercise. As of December 31, 2023, 
no pre-funded warrants have been exercised, and 3,100,823 pre-funded warrants remain outstanding. 

In connection with the foregoing, on December 21, 2023, the Company also entered into a Registration 
Rights Agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with the Purchasers, pursuant to which the Company 
granted the Purchasers certain registration rights with respect to the shares of common stock issuable upon the 
exercise of the pre-funded warrants. 

Related Person Transaction Policy 

We have adopted a written related person transaction policy that sets forth our procedures for the 
identification, review, consideration and approval or ratification of related person transactions. For purposes of 
our policy, a related person transaction is a transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar 
transactions, arrangements or relationships, in which (i) the amount involved exceeds or is expected to exceed 
$120,000, (ii) the Company or any of our subsidiaries is a participant and (iii) any related person (as defined 
above) has or will have a direct or indirect interest. Transactions involving compensation for services provided to 
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us as an employee or director, among other limited exceptions, are deemed to have standing pre-approval by the 
Audit Committee but may be specifically reviewed if appropriate in light of the facts and circumstances. 

Under the policy, if a transaction has been identified as a related person transaction, our Audit Committee 
must review the material facts and either approve or disapprove of the entry into the transaction. If advance 
approval of the transaction is not feasible, then the transaction will be considered and, if the Audit Committee 
determines it to be appropriate, ratified at the next regularly scheduled meeting. In addition, under our Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics, our employees and directors have an affirmative responsibility to avoid activities 
that create or give the appearance of a conflict of interest, and directors and executive officers must consult and 
seek prior approval of potential conflicts of interest from the Audit Committee. In considering related party 
transactions, our Audit Committee will take into account the relevant available facts and circumstances 
including, but not limited to: 

• whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated 
third party under the same or similar circumstances; and 

• the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction. 
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OTHER MATTERS 

Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations for Next Year’s Annual Meeting 

Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act, stockholders who wish to submit proposals for inclusion in the 
proxy statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must send such proposals to our Corporate 
Secretary at the address set forth on the first page of this Proxy Statement. Such proposals must be received by us 
as of the close of business (6:00 p.m. Eastern Time) on December 24, 2024 and must comply with Rule 14a-8 of 
the Exchange Act. The submission of a stockholder proposal does not guarantee that it will be included in the 
proxy statement. 

As set forth in our bylaws, if a stockholder intends to make a nomination for director election or present a 
proposal for other business (other than pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act) at the 2025 Annual Meeting 
of Stockholders, the stockholder’s notice must be received by our Corporate Secretary at the address set forth on 
the first page of this Proxy Statement no earlier than the 120th day and no later than the 90th day before the 
anniversary of the last annual meeting; provided, however, that if the date of the annual meeting is more than 
30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date, the stockholder’s notice must be delivered not 
earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of 
business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the date on which the 
first public announcement of the date of such annual meeting is made by the Company. Therefore, unless the 
2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after the anniversary of 
the Annual Meeting, notice of proposed nominations or proposals (other than pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the 
Exchange Act) must be received by our Corporate Secretary no earlier than February 7, 2025 and no later than 
the close of business (6:00 p.m. Eastern Time) on March 9, 2025. Any such director nomination or stockholder 
proposal must be a proper matter for stockholder action and must comply with the terms and conditions set forth 
in our bylaws. If a stockholder fails to meet these deadlines and fails to satisfy the requirements of Rule 14a-4 of 
the Exchange Act, we may exercise discretionary voting authority under proxies we solicit to vote on any such 
proposal as we determine appropriate. In addition to satisfying the deadlines in the advance notice provisions of 
our bylaws, a stockholder who intends to solicit proxies in support of nominees submitted under these advance 
notice provisions for the 2025 Annual Meeting must provide the notice required under Rule 14a-19 of the 
Exchange Act to our Corporate Secretary in writing not later than the close of business (6:00 p.m. Eastern Time) 
on April 8, 2025. We reserve the right to reject, rule out of order or take other appropriate action with respect to 
any nomination or proposal that does not comply with these and other applicable requirements. 

Delivery of Documents to Stockholders Sharing an Address 

A number of brokerage firms have adopted a procedure approved by the SEC called “householding.” Under 
this procedure, certain stockholders who have the same address and do not participate in electronic delivery of 
proxy materials will receive only one copy of the proxy materials, including this Proxy Statement, the Notice and 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, until such time as one or more of these 
stockholders notifies us that they wish to receive individual copies. This procedure helps to reduce duplicate 
mailings and save printing costs and postage fees, as well as natural resources. If you received a “householding” 
mailing this year and would like to have additional copies of the proxy materials mailed to you, please send a 
written request to our Corporate Secretary at the address set forth on the first page of this Proxy Statement, or 
call (512) 900-4690, and we will promptly deliver the proxy materials to you. Please contact your broker if you 
received multiple copies of the proxy materials and would prefer to receive a single copy in the future, or if you 
would like to opt out of “householding” for future mailings. 

Availability of Additional Information 

We will provide, free of charge, a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, including exhibits, on the written or oral request of any stockholder of the Company. Please 
send a written request to our Corporate Secretary at the address set forth on the first page of this Proxy Statement 
or call the number above. 
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